

THIRD SECTOR REVIEW

VOLUME 26 ISSUE 2 2020

THIRD SECTOR REVIEW

Joint Editors

Associate Professor Ian Murray

Law School

University of Western Australia

Dr Fiona McGaughey

Law School

University of Western Australia

Editorial Advisory Board

Dr Megan Alessandrini

School of Social Sciences, University of

Tasmania

Professor Oonagh Breen

Law School, University College Dublin

Professor Carolyn Cordery

Aston Business School, Aston University

Professor Matthew Harding Melbourne Law School, University of Melbourne

Emeritus Professor Myles McGregor-Lowndes Australian Centre for Philanthropy and Nonprofit

Studies, Queensland University of Technology

Professor Jenny Onyx

Centre for Cosmopolitan Civil Societies, University

of Technology Sydney

Professor David Gilchrist

Business School

University of Western Australia

Professor Melanie Oppenheimer

School of International Studies, Flinders

University

Associate Professor Ruth Phillips

Faculty of Arts and Social Sciences, University of

Sydney

Alceste Santuari

Department of Sociology and Business Law,

University of Bologna

Krystian Seibert

Centre for Social Impact, Swinburne University

Professor Mark Sidel

Law School, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Professor Karen Smith

School of Management, Victoria University of

Wellington

Australian and New Zealand Third Sector Research is a professional and academic organisation that aims to foster research and the dissemination of knowledge concerning the third sector in Australia and New Zealand. The third sector is constituted by all those organisations that are non-profit and non-government. together with the activities of volunteering and giving which significantly sustain them.

Third Sector Review provides a refereed publication outlet for scholars, researchers and practitioners who are working in the third sector.

Subscriptions for ANZTSR may be directed to:

Email: anztsr@anztsr.org.au.

Editorial correspondence and manuscript submissions should be directed to the Joint Editors, email: editor@anztsr.org.au.

Guidelines for contributors can be found on the following page of this issue.

Copyright remains with ANZTSR Inc. ISSN: 1323 9163 ISBN: 1 86365 805 X

THIRD SECTOR REVIEW iii



Australian New Zealand Third Sector Research Ltd (ANZTSR) is a network of people interested in pursuing and encouraging research into private, non-profit, community or voluntary organisations and the activities of volunteering and philanthropy.

What is the third sector?

The third sector is constituted by all those organisations that are non-profit and non-government, together with the activities of volunteering and giving which sustain them. These organisations are a major component of many industries, including community health services, rural, education, housing, sport and recreation, culture and finance. Although they differ amongst themselves, third-sector organisations differ as a group from for-profit businesses and from government departments and authorities. Third-sector organisations vary greatly in size and in their activities. They include neighbourhood associations, sporting clubs, recreation societies, community associations, chambers of commerce, churches, religious orders, credit unions, political parties, trade unions, trade and professional associations, private schools, charitable trusts and foundations, some hospitals, welfare organisations and even some large insurance companies.

What is ANZTSR?

ANZTSR was launched in 1993. It arose from the growing awareness of the importance of the third sector in Australia and New Zealand, the paucity of reliable information about it, and the difficulty of working as isolated researchers. ANZTSR is an incorporated association. ANZTSR joins similar organisations in the USA (ARNOVA), the UK (ARVAC) and the International Society for Third Sector Research (ISTR) as active networks that promote communication between researchers and help develop synergies in the research endeavour. Research networks have also formed in several European countries or regions, in Latin America and Japan. These all testify to the growing interest in the third sector. The third sector is an important but hitherto undervalued and under-researched sector of societies, political systems and economies.

Who can join ANZTSR?

Membership is open to all who share ANZTSR's objectives. Members include academics and research students, government officials with an interest in the third sector, and people working in third-sector organisations, together with those organisations themselves.

Benefits of ANZTSR membership include:

- Subscription to *Third Sector Review*
- Discounts on biennial conference registration
- Access to members' website

Please visit www.anztsr.org.au for more information.

ANZTSR supports the efforts of the International Society for Third Sector Research (ISTR) to build a global scholarly community with a focus on civil society, the non-profit sector and philanthropy. Please visit www.istr.org for more information.

GUIDELINES FOR CONTRIBUTORS

Third Sector Review is explicitly cross-disciplinary, with both theoretical and empirical papers invited from a range of disciplines and fi elds of practice. Critiques of existing theory or practice are invited. Contributions are encouraged from both practitioners and academics. There is a special 'From the Field' section. Contributions are invited relating to characteristics of the third sector or any aspect of its management, including governance, human-resources management, the labour market, financial management, strategic management and managing change, community development, fundraising, user rights, relations with government, legal issues, historical development, etc.

Papers should be written in a jargon-free, non-technical style accessible to managers, workers and board members of non-profit organisations, and to academic researchers, teachers and students from a variety of disciplines. Papers are subject to rigorous peer review, normally by two independent reviewers. A blind review process is adopted. For that reason, authors should indicate their names and affiliations on a separate page.

Authors should also include a brief abstract (100 words) and up to five keywords. Papers should be between 4000 and 6000 words in length, in 12-point Times New Roman, double-spaced and with 2.5-cm margins. Please use minimal formatting and styles; indicate headings through the use of CAPITALS, bold and *italics*. Authors should submit an electronic version of their paper in Microsoft Word format or Rich Text Format (RTF). If any images are used, please ensure that a high-resolution image fi le (jpeg or tiff) is supplied separately. If graphs are included, please ensure that the data used to create them is available to our designer. Where quotations are more than 40 words, they should be indented, justified and set in italics, with the source following directly. Single quotation marks are to be used throughout the text, with double quotation marks within single when needed.

Citations

The Harvard style of referencing is used, with endnotes kept to a minimum. Examples: (Lyons 1999); (Lyons 1999: 20); (Lyons 1998a, 1998b); (Onyx & Bullen 1998). If there are three or more authors, use the form: (McDonald et al. 1998). List multiple references in ascending chronological order: (McDonald et al. 1998; Onyx & Bullen 1998; Lyons 1999).

References

List in alphabetical order by the first author's surname. List multiple references by the same author chronologically, the earliest first, with the author's name repeated. Refer to the following examples, including the punctuation and capitalisation.

Book: Verba, S., Scholzman, K. & Brady, H. (1995) *Voice and Equality: Civic voluntarism in American politics*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Book chapter: James, E. (1987) The Nonprofit Sector in Comparative Perspective. In W. W. Powell (ed.), *The Nonprofit Sector: A Research Handbook*: 397–415. New Haven: Yale University Press.

Journal article: Lyons, M. (1997) Contracting for Care: What is it and what is at issue? *Third Sector Review*, 3 (Special Issue): 5–21.

Working paper: Onyx, J. & Bullen, P. (1998) Measuring Social Capital in Five Communities in NSW: An analysis. CACOM Working Paper No. 41. Sydney: CACOM, University of Technology, Sydney.

THIRD SECTOR REVIEW v

Contents

Editorial	1
Fiona McGaughey, Not-for-profits UWA, University of Western Australia Law School	
Articles	
Silver Bullets and TED Talks: Sketching Ideas on the Government/Not- for-profit Nexus in the Australian State	6
David Gilchrist, Not-for-profits UWA, Business School, University of Western Australia	
Charity Regulation in New Zealand: History and Where to Now	28
Sue Barker, Director, Charities Law	
How Do We Regulate Activities Within a Charity Law Framework: Focussed on Purposes?	65
Ian Murray, University of Western Australia Law School	
Attaining to Certainty: Does the Expert Panel's Proposal for Reform of the Charities Act Sufficiently Protect Religious Charities?	87
Mark Fowler, Notre Dame University Law School	
Contested Spaces: A Coinciding Rise of State Regulations and Technomoral Politics of Rights-Based NGOs in India	107
Alka Sabharwal, University of Western Australia	
From the Field	
China and its Regulation of Overseas NGOs, Foundations, and Think Tanks: Four Years of Implementation of a New Securitised Policy and Legal Framework	129
Mark Sidel, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Consultant, International Centre for Not-for-profit Law	

EDITORIAL

Fiona McGaughey, Not-for-profits UWA, University of Western Australia Law School

Introduction

The regulation of the third sector is the main theme of this Issue of Third Sector Review (TSR), a contentious and complex topic that is likely to remain relevant for the foreseeable future. TSR aims to be an explicitly cross-disciplinary journal for, and about, the third sector, with both theoretical and empirical papers of interest to those in Australia, New Zealand and our geographical region. This Issue of TSR meets these aims by: discussing research on Australia, New Zealand, India and China; involving practitioners and academics; offering both scholarly and 'from the field' papers; and covering a range of academic disciplines.

Despite the many challenges of the COVID-19 pandemic during 2020, as discussed by my colleague Professor David Gilchrist in Issue 1 2020 of TSR, academics and practitioners have continued their research on, and with, the sector related to longer term and ongoing research topics. The third sector has proven itself to be a critical and resilient staple in societies during COVID-19 and as such, merits our ongoing interest. More broadly across the academe and in industry, much recent research has focused exclusively on COVID-19, and the TSR editors and contributors will return to the topic and the challenges it has posed for some time to come. Indeed, Issue 1 of 2021 will focus on charity responses to crises such as COVID-19.

However, this collection focuses predominantly on ongoing policy questions and research topics of relevance to the sector, although there are inevitable references to COVID-19. In fact, preliminary discussions for this issue of TSR took place at the Institute of Advanced Studies, University of Western Australia, in early March 2020, just before COVID-19 restrictions were introduced here. In hindsight, little did we know what lay ahead. Organised by my colleague Professor Ian Murray, the seminar was entitled 'The Regulation and Self-regulation of Charities and Philanthropy' and involved colleagues from the NFPs UWA Research group and invited guests. Selected papers were progressed for publication here. These were joined by Mark Fowler's timely contribution on the expert panel's proposal for reform of the Charities Act in Australia.

The Articles

The first publication in this Issue challenges us to revisit recent history that shaped the government/not-for-profit nexus by examining the 'lost history' of the Welfare State. In 'Silver Bullets and TED Talks: Sketching Ideas on the Government/Not-for-profit Nexus in the Australian Welfare State', David Gilchrist cautions against simplifying public policy debates into the bite-sized chunks we find in popular forms of engagement, such as TED Talks. He argues that history has lessons for us, including the need for depth of analysis at a system-wide level in order to develop effective institutions. He concludes that the concept of the Welfare State remains a sound institutional base for building a systemic response to service needs.

We then cross the Tasman Sea but continue to look to history to better understand current and future policy and legislative developments relevant to the Third Sector. Sue Barker examines 'Charity Regulation in New Zealand – History and Where to Now', arguing that the current legal framework for charities in New Zealand actually inhibits charities' capacity to carry out their work. She suggests that improving the legal framework around charity regulation would significantly improve recovery from COVID-19 and that legislative reform in this area is badly needed in New Zealand.

Ian Murray takes up the theme of charity regulation in his article entitled: 'How do we Regulate Activities within a Charity Law Framework Focussed on Purposes?'. While focussing on Australia and New Zealand, the article includes a broad sweep of relevant regulatory approaches in other jurisdictions, particularly the United Kingdom, the United States and Canada and presents novel suggestions; most notably that existing laws such as anti-discrimination legislation that apply to all entities could more effectively be used to regulate charitable activities.

Mark Fowler's paper 'Attaining to Certainty: Does the Expert Panel's Proposal for Reform of the Charities Act Sufficiently Protect Religious Charities?' engages with similar questions but focuses more narrowly on the recommendation of the Australian 2018 Expert Panel on Religious Freedom to amend section 11 of the Charities Act 2013 (Cth). This amendment would mean that a charity which does not support marriage equality would not automatically be deregistered. He examines the separate elements of charitable status that are relevant to such entities, namely the 'political objects doctrine', the 'public policy doctrine' and the 'public benefit' requirement. He concludes that in the interests of clarity, more must be done.

Moving away from Australia and New Zealand, insights into India's regulation of NGOs are offered by Alka Sabharwal in her article 'Contested Spaces: A Coinciding Rise of State Regulations and Technomoral Politics of Rights-Based NGOs in India'. She positions both state and non-state actors as political entities which regulate and resist regulation respectively. Using India's Foreign Contribution (Regulation) Act 2010, she illustrates that regulation is a contentious process and that, in response, Indian Non-Governmental Organisations (NGOs) have developed strategies including drawing on human rights narratives and using technomoral and legal arguments to support and press their position.

The "From the Field" section of TSR is an important element in our pursuit of scholarly work with a more practical focus. We include here an article from Mark Sidel, 'China and its Regulation of Overseas NGOs, Foundations, and Think Tanks: Four Years of Implementation of a New Securitised Policy and Legal Framework'. This charts the development of China's restrictive regulatory framework for the control and monitoring of overseas NGOs, foundations, think tanks, trade associations and other non-profits. In this paper, Mark Sidel analyses China's goals for this regulatory regime and reviews the first four years of implementation, including both formal and informal enforcement actions taken by the state. He does not predict a loosening of the regulatory chains in the near future.

Discussion and Conclusion

This Issue of TSR has engaged with the perennial question of regulation of the third sector. A common theme in many of the papers is the inherently political nature of regulatory frameworks, actions and resistances and the sometimes-contentious nature of positions taken by both state and non-state actors. Read together, the papers present a rich tapestry of regulatory approaches in Australia, India, China and New Zealand; each deeply dependent – and reflective of - the local political and socio-legal context. Also, as a number of the papers explore, each jurisdiction has been shaped by historical state and non-state developments that continue to be felt in contemporary law and policy.

Nonetheless, the jurisdictions are not unrelated. Globalisation; the use of common law across common law jurisdictions (Fowler); the colonial roots of some of our current policies (Gilchrist); concerns about foreign NGOs (Sidel); fear of criticism by NGOs on the international stage (Sabharwal); and the possibility to learn from other regulatory regimes (Murray); all reinforce the global nature of questions of regulation. They also underline the

merit of comparative research and the importance of compilations of complementary studies,

such as we have presented here.

Further, many of our contributions here provide solid policy recommendations and a wealth of

expertise that could be taken up by regulators, policy-makers and others. In this way, this TSR

Issue presents an opportunity to improve responsive regulation (Ayres & Braithwaite 1992)

whereby regulators can better understand the context and motivations of those whose conduct

they are regulating so that effective solutions can be developed accordingly.

Finally, this year in particular, I would like to extend a very special thank you to our authors,

reviewers, editorial assistants and to my co-editors Professors Ian Murray and David Gilchrist,

all of whom have persevered to continue with their research and service roles in challenging

circumstances.

REFERENCES

Ayres, I. & Braithwaite, J. (1992) Responsive Regulation: Transcending the deregulation

debate. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

FIONA MCGAUGHEY is a senior lecturer in international human rights law in the UWA Law

School and co-convenor of the UWA Modern Slavery Research Cluster. She has previously

held research and policy roles in the not-for-profit sector in both Ireland and Australia and her

book 'Non-governmental organisations in the United Nations Human Rights System' is

forthcoming with Routledge in 2021. Email: fiona.mcgaughey@uwa.edu.au

Silver Bullets and TED Talks: Sketching Ideas on the Government/Not-for-profit Nexus in the Australian Welfare State

David Gilchrist, Co-convenor, Not-for-profits UWA Research Group, University of Western Australia.

Abstract

The government/not-for-profit nexus is critical in the context of ensuring effective and efficient delivery of human services. In modern history, developed countries such as Australia, have placed emphasis very much on the efficiency of service delivery while service effectiveness often attracts rhetorical attention but little real positive institution building or support. The trouble is, this is not the first time we have arrived at this point. The Welfare State, most commonly recognised as commencing immediately after World War II following the publication of the 1942 Beveridge report in the United Kingdom, was in fact developed in response to the socially destructive impact of institutionalised market economics identified well before the turn of the twentieth century. This paper positions modern debates shaping the government/not-for-profit nexus in the 'lost history' of the Welfare State, contextualising these lessons to highlight the continuing negative impact of market institutions on the delivery of effective and efficient human services in Australia, including in preventing effective collaboration in service funding and delivery. It highlights that history tells us we need deeper thinking at a system-wide level in order to develop the most effective institutions and that the Welfare State is a sound institutional base for building a systemic response to service needs. i

Keywords

Welfare State; welfare economics; Australian welfare

Introduction

The term 'Welfare State' has become derogatory in many (perhaps most?) policy settings globally. It has been condemned variously for being inefficient, ineffective, non-client centric, unrealistic, unsustainable, and supporting bad cultural values such as incentivising people to avoid work and live off 'the public teat' (Bartholomew 2013; Black et al. 2009). Partly in response to the acceptance of this thinking and partly in response to changing ideologies about how best to manage the economy, differing ways of funding the delivery of human services have been attempted over the decades since the formal establishment of the Welfare State in Australia (Mendes 2008).

Most recently, these changing funding arrangements are reactions to the negative press associated with the Welfare State (though not necessarily described as such) and the current popular acceptance of market institutions as being a better framework for service delivery. That negative press includes arguments about the 'deserving poor' and ideas related to personal responsibility in the context of an individualising ethic across almost all areas of public policy (Mounk 2017). Many readers would recognise these admonitions and may connect them to the popular thought of the Victorian era which emphasised individualism, personal responsibility and self-reliance. These ideas relating to self-reliance, mutuality and the deserving poor were circulating in the nineteenth century in the United Kingdom and the current twentieth-century versions are carry overs from that world (Gilchrist 2014). They were also very much apparent after the instigation of the formal Welfare State following World War II in the United Kingdom and in Australia (Woods & Gilchrist 2020).

What is forgotten though, in terms of the Victorian era, is the counter-argument circulating at the same time as those arguing for self-help and unadulterated free markets; arguments that recognised the hardship and lack of equality and opportunity inherent in an unmitigated and unchallenged market economy (Briggs 1984; Briggs 1961). Indeed, this thinking drove many of history's greatest economists, including Marshall and Pigou, to consider these issues during the latter half of the nineteenth and early twentieth century (Groenewegen 2010; Medema 2010; Daunton 2010) because unmitigated market institutions were observed to be, at best, unfair and, at worst, destructive (Menard 1995). The longevity of this argument seems to run counter to the discussion we have today regarding the Welfare State.

This is for two reasons: firstly, we have forgotten the history and, particularly, the purpose of the Welfare State as an almost inevitable response to unbridled capitalism and the experience of those who went before us; and secondly, as time progressed, these discussions became simplified and dichotomised in the popular mind into only two possible positions, 'for' and

'against'—'for' the modern popular thinking as it stands from time to time and 'against' the Welfare State, exacerbated by fast-paced simplified communications exemplified by TED Talks and social media platforms.

This dichotomy was particularly evident after the development of New Public Management ideas in the area of public administration from the mid-1970s and with the rising popularity of public choice theory in channelling public policy over the last half-century (McLean 1987, Buchanan & Musgrave 1999; Bakvis & Jarvis 2012; Barzelay 2001). Accounts of the Welfare State became less specific and more loaded with judgement—indeed, these definitions took on a more rhetorical quality. From the Esping-Andersen (1990) definition describing the Welfare State as a method of securing basic welfare for citizens by the state, to the Pierson (1991) definition which considered the Welfare State to be a particular type of state organisation, gradually definitions and descriptions became less specific and more idealised. Critically, they emphasised the state's role in paying for specific services and de-emphasised the role of other structural players, including not-for-profit entities and even individual government agencies themselves, in setting the Welfare State institutional arrangements and participating as important actors in it. In reality the Welfare State exists as part of the mix of institutions in most developed countries, even in the United States, while rhetorically, it is a polarised argument as to whether we should have a Welfare State, without regard for the reality of mixed economic institutions created in all developed countries, (Galbraith 1952; Gilchrist 2011).

The dichotomy also serves those whose mind was set against the Welfare State. In simplifying the discussion in the popular mind and relying on embedded views about the Welfare State that people held, the pendulum swung away from popular support notwithstanding the obvious continued existence of the Welfare State in Australia. This includes not using the nomenclature - simply not referring to the Welfare State in policy discourse. With advancements in behavioural economic theory from the early 1970s (Thaler 2015), over time the development of silver bullets intended to be one-size-fits-all remedies to wicked problems focused on eliciting behavioural responses from members of the community have been supported by short, sharp TED Talks ('Technology, Entertainment, Design') and other fast-paced but very shallow promotional material. The discourse has been lacking in this, as in many other areas of public policy.

In this paper, I review the development of the Welfare State in Australia from the end of World War II in very general terms (noting that the publication of the Beveridge Report was, in many respects, the codification of the substantial development of Welfare State ideas in the seven or

so decades leading up to that point), its important impacts on creating the Australian social safety net and the trajectory for our arrival at the modern preference for market-style solutions to wicked problems through the lens of the not-for-profit human services sector.

A supporting proposition is that this sector is a critical partner to government in delivering on the Australian safety net but that current thinking has: served to discount the value of this national asset (Gilchrist & Knight 2017; Knight & Gilchrist 2014); to reduce the opportunity for real collaboration; and to undermine the advances that were made over the twentieth century in building a community response to challenging wicked problems. Overall, public discussion has slowly shrunk to restrict itself to the delivery of programs rather than considering systemic reform in human services developed out of collaborative work between all players, to the detriment of the effectiveness of those very programs.

I examine these issues by using the human services system in Australia as a foil to link the fundamental impact on service effectiveness and efficiency engendered by, at best, a misunderstanding of the Welfare State and, at worst, a deliberate desire to invoke Victorian ideas of self-reliance. For the system to be successful, it needs to be built such that it translates national and sub-national resource allocation processes to local and individual allocative decision-making frameworks. That is, the system must be designed to conform to an appropriate governance framework while programs must be joined up at the local level by users and their service providers.

As such, my central proposition is that the Welfare State, in its simplest definitional sense, is the national institution that facilitates these needs while flexibility in policy frameworks, even within program much less across them, is critical to actually achieving the outcomes desired.

This paper is divided into four sections. In section two I briefly outline the essential problem that I am trying to deal with here. In section three, I describe the trajectory of the development and implementation of the Welfare State in Australia. In section four, I examine the impact of the diminution of the Welfare State on the not-for-profit human services sector; and in section five I provide concluding remarks.

What is the problem?

In public policy and discourse, what is acceptable rhetoric and acceptable action is a deepseated cultural reality specific to each nation. Indeed, the economic, social and political history of each nation, often over an extended period, serves to establish what is acceptable rhetoric (that is, what is it that we want to hear political and other leaders say) and what is acceptable action (that is, what is it that we expect to actually happen notwithstanding the rhetoric). Perhaps a good example of this effect is that of the establishment of an insurance scheme in the first quarter of the twentieth century in the United Kingdom, offering protection against unemployment; whereas in Australia the same desire to protect workers resulted ultimately in a direct government transfer system (Watts 1980). Notwithstanding significant cultural, political and economic similarities between the two countries in the day, each country devised a different solution to the unemployment safety net problem as a result of their rhetorical and practice expectations—solutions that demonstrate a differing expectation on all players involved; government, tax payers, employers, and the unemployed and which impacted the design of future safety net arrangements.

In the modern day, this dichotomy between rhetoric and reality weakens our national discourse because political leaders particularly are hyper-responsive to their assessment of current sentiment in the community (McAuley & Lyons 2015), leaving little room for real debate about solutions to some of the most wicked problems much less allowing for confidence in politicians to be able to experiment, identify their errors and try new things (Garnaut 2014).

As such, a central theme of this paper is the concept that there is, in Australia, a marked separation between rhetoric and action across economic, political and social endeavours—the Welfare State continues to exist notwithstanding the national discussion. This is not a new or peculiarly Australian conception. Indeed, it has been observed at differing times in differing countries including in the United States—that bastion of free market institutions (Galbraith 1952; Gilchrist 2017). For my purposes, suffice to say that the national discourses relating to such things as human services delivery is often different to the actions undertaken—the economic, social and political received wisdoms are not applied consistently across the economy and do not add up when we compare actions to words.

Human services and supports are a case in point because they are complex, expensive and impact almost everyone in the community at some point. The move toward choice and control in human services delivery in Australia over the last decade or so has been a very welcome one for most. Indeed, it is hard for anyone to deny the efficacy and desirability of such an outcome. However, for choice and control to be achieved, service delivery needs to be holistic, culturally appropriate and locally decided. While much focus is placed on program level activity, and while funding governments are keen to maintain control of the decision-making processes associated with program delivery, a systemic approach recognises that the programs are only

part of the solution and that decision making capacity can be disbursed in order to achieve choice and control while governance arrangements can ensure appropriate oversight in terms of financial resource allocation but, most importantly in terms of transparently reporting on outcomes actually achieved.

This may be an attractive conception to many, especially public sector agencies charged with delivering services—administrative convenience can over shadow structural effectiveness as priorities. However, the reality of solely considering programmatic activities in any area of public endeavour, regardless of its intent, is fraught as it reduces the development of an institutional perspective across systems. The development of an institutional systemic approach to planning and investing is critical in a country like Australia, where not only is community diversity substantial, the constitutional settlement—the federation and the financial arrangements established by it—means that the maintenance of a programmatic focus effectively shortens the sight of policy makers reducing the opportunity for achieving the outcome sought.

Additionally, the lack of systemic approaches means that inter-government and intragovernment co-operation is often poor and actors in agencies focus on the delivery of 'their' program over the development of a holistic resolution to service delivery need. They certainly do not perceive of a need to allow sovereignty to transfer to service users and providers, no matter how much choice and control features as a desired outcome in the rhetoric of TED Talks or on Twitter.

The place of actors in the system—for the system exists even if we ignore it—is not described adequately and this is a problem for planning, the allocation of resources and for prioritisation. Not-for-profit providers cannot be as efficient as they could be if they cannot make allocative decisions; for instance, even the provision of data about need is something that is not routinely shared much less the collection of demand data, demand often representing the number of people accessing programs rather than the number of people needing supports and services.

The lack of a systemic focus also reduces the opportunity for effective decision making at the local level. For choice and control to be realised, decision making about care needs, priorities and the allocation of resources needs to be taken at the individual and local levels, emphasising cultural and other priorities. These decisions also need to encompass all aspects of care and life, not just specific program aspects. Prioritising a programmatic focus ensures that comprehensive decision making is unable to be undertaken by individuals and communities.

A current and very relevant example here is that of the modern-day National Disability Insurance Scheme (NDIS). This scheme is a part of the Australian Disability Services System but is not the entire system (Gilchrist et al. 2019). Indeed, the whole system includes services funded by the Commonwealth and states that are not provided by the NDIS, including ancillary services, such as education and health. These services are central to the system achieving the outcomes sought but where only rudimentarily considered in the development of the scheme and the roll out process. Not-for-profit providers of services and, importantly, service users are not able to make local decisions because the system has not been developed to allow such notwithstanding the centrality of choice and control in the rhetoric of the NDIS.

Academics are contributing to calls for modified policy arrangements to help make them work (Reeders et al. 2019) and, now, *ad hoc* attempts are being made to rectify these issues in a piecemeal fashion when, really, we should be taking a mature systematic perspective with the intention of building an institutional framework that meets the purpose (Gilchrist et al. 2019). Without a systemic approach to planning and actualisation, the NDIS is likely to continue to tinker around the edges but fail to achieve the real opportunity inherent in a nationally funded, truly locally delivered program. Importantly, the Welfare State is the institutional mechanism by which such a system can be established.

One important aspect of all of this is the nexus between governments and not-for-profit service providers. This nexus is critical as it is really the point of realisation of the aspiration of what might be termed expansively the Australian safety net. However, the falling out of fashion of the Australian Welfare State combined with the over-emphasis on programs rather than systems and the increasing use of market-style resource allocation methods means that the nexus is increasingly de-emphasised to the detriment of the national interests generally and those of service users particularly. These problems are exacerbated because the Welfare State itself is not well understood nor is its importance to Australia's system of human services. Additionally, the predominance of the commercial perspective also places the not-for-profit human services sector in jeopardy without active consideration of the impact of a loss of capacity—a loss that will not be able to be replaced. This is not to say that we should save the not-for-profit human services sector but, if we are to lose it, we better know what we are doing and what it will mean for the community.

The Australian welfare state

There are many definitions of the Welfare State and these tended to vary over time and, in this section, I examine very broadly conceptions of the Welfare State and the Australian experience. However, it is in no way intended to be a comprehensive expostulation but, rather, a description designed to facilitate the reader's understanding of the subsequent discussion

The term itself was coined in 1941when it was used to compare the British state with the German 'Warfare State' (Gough 1987). Briggs (1961) described the Welfare State in terms that are probably most recognisable to modern readers: essentially it is a political arrangement in which organised power—the state—is used to modify market impacts by: guaranteeing a minimum income; enabling individuals and families to meet the contingencies of life (sickness, old age, unemployment); and ensuring all citizens are able to access the highest standards of a set of agreed social services.

Importantly, the many definitions of the Welfare State developed prior to, say, the 1990s describe two shared elements: that the state undertakes the action, and that this action is undertaken in two broad ways: the state provides social services and it mitigates the impact of market economics to reduce the negative impact of individual action (Briggs, 1961; Wilensky 1974; Goodin 1988). Additionally, differing responses were used to implement the above depending upon the nature of the problem being solved. Indeed, regulation, the courts, direct government transfers and charitable and philanthropic work were all described as being effectively part of the Welfare State (Barr 2004).

When describing the Welfare State it is common to consider the Beveridge Report (Beveridge 1942) as the effective commencement date in the context of the impact of the Great Depression—as a result of which the terms 'competition and market' became terms of abuse—and subsequently the burgeoning Cold War—as a result of which capitalism had to offer a plausible alternative to the rising tide of communism (Rajan 2020). However, the story begins in the nineteenth century.

The development of the Welfare State was neither sudden nor spasmodic, it was evolutionary not revolutionary—the result of at least 100 years of research, writing and discourse in Britain (Sowell 2016; White 2012) which resulted from dissatisfaction with respect to the impact of the market economy on the community. Indeed, the great economists including Marshall and Pigou prioritised the development of solutions to these problems via their examination of Welfare Economics and the Welfare State in the second half of the nineteenth century (Groenewegen 2010; Medema 2010; Daunton 2010).

Arguably, it was also the result of that belief in science that drove many human endeavours in the nineteenth century: scientific enquiry will make the solutions obvious and create the machinery for change (MacLeod 2000). For instance, Sidney and Beatrice Webb, exemplified the scientific approach by publishing their constitution for a socialist Britain (Webb & Webb 1920) and championed the establishment of the London School of Economics to house these endeavours (Eriguchi 2009). However, until well into the twentieth century, the common people were little involved in the development of theory and practice and the leaders of thought in these areas were less than representative of those they were looking to support (Barker 1984).

In the Australian context, the role of the state in economic development has a much longer history and one that has been told in many places (Butlin 1994, 1959; Butlin et al. 1982; Butlin & de Meel 1953; Gilchrist 2013). However, in a nutshell in Australia, local elites were able to socialise costs by laying off expenses to the Imperial government and then local governments, embedding the tradition of colonial and then state socialism in the Australian psyche. It became accepted that governments were important (sometimes the most important) actors within the economy in capital formation and as consumers, providers and suppliers; these developments were almost naturally occurring in that there was a general antithesis toward theoretical conceptions of the role of the state or in determining the expectations of the citizen (Gilchrist 2017; Métin 1977 [1901]; Pember Reeves 1969); and they acted as examples to the UK.

Watts (1987) and Beilharz et al. (1992) have documented the rise of the Australian Welfare State predominantly from the popularly accepted starting point of World War II. The war was critical in changing the expectations of the Australian community with regard to supports for vulnerable people. However, there were attempts at creating a Welfare State prior to the war which consisted largely of institutional development including the establishment of wage boards designed to protect workers' conditions (Neumark et al. 2008; Hammond 1913), of minimum wages via the courts system (Jamrozik 1994), and a non-contributory aged pension as a matter of right rather than charityⁱⁱ (Macintyre 1985). To use a phrase of Métin (1977 [1901]), Australia was considered to be a 'worker's paradise'. However, there were still significant parts of the community that remained unsupported including women, sole parents and Indigenous families while poorly constructed policy continued to see injustice inflicted (Deeming 2013; Castles 1985; Castles 1987; Jamrozik 1994). Importantly, the charitable sector continued to be a significant part of the Welfare State structure with government enacting legislation and providing funds to support it before any other country in the world (Hetherington 2009).

During World War II, the development of the Welfare State stepped up with the introduction of the family allowance or child endowment scheme. The 1941 Menzies minority government introduced the scheme soon after the Arbitration Court failed to raise the minimum wage. The Commonwealth was demonstrating the people's expectation that government manage these elements. It also marked a positive change in that the family allowance was the first benefit that included Indigenous Australians in any social security scheme though it was still not administered equitably (MacIntyre 2015).ⁱⁱⁱ

The Curtin government made improvements to such areas as: the widows' pension in 1942; the medical service in 1944; and unemployment and sickness benefits were introduced in 1945. These schemes were financed by the National Welfare Fund which was funded by income tax rather than via an insurance scheme. Between 1945 and 1949, important changes in the Commonwealth government's perspective regarding the Welfare State were realised. The attitudes of government surrounding welfare in the 1940s acknowledged that through no fault of their own, individuals could be pulled into poverty through the lack of jobs available to them.

Between 1949 and 1972 there were very few advances. The social policies that were developed were 'characterised by a cautious regulatory administration of incremental change that generally favoured the middle class' (Mendes 2008). These included the extension of the child endowment to include the first child, free pharmaceutical and medical benefits for pensioners and the passing of the *National Health Act* (1938) which subsidised private insurance benefits universally. During this period, the government also began making grants to voluntary bodies including the Australian Council of Social Service (ACOSS).

The philosophy that politicians of the time followed was one of individualism, incentivisation and self-reliance, provision for people by family or charity rather than by the state, and private insurance over taxation. The results of these attitudes can be shown in a study of Melbourne published in 1970 found that 7.7% of family units in Melbourne lived on or below the poverty line, with 5.2% further families living close to it (Henderson 1970).

Between 1972 and 1975 welfare provision by government moved into a more structured model that emphasised the need for a broad redistribution of income from rich to poor via macroeconomic reforms. The election of the Whitlam government in 1972, with a mandate to expand welfare provision as well as to make additional social investment, saw 'the first substantial exercise of social democracy in this country' (Macintyre in Mendes (2008)). The

new goal of government was to promote equality of opportunity for all Australians and these three years saw universalistic programs including Medibank, the abolition of tertiary education fees, the establishment of the Australian Assistance Plan (AAP), the introduction of superannuation, and of a national compensation scheme for victims of road accidents amongst other improvements.

The years 1975 and 1983 saw a return to the more austere attitudes where 'Government policy was based on cutting the public sector and reducing the alleged growing dependence on big government in favour of providing incentives for private expenditure' (Mendes 2008). However, the Commonwealth did introduce new support schemes such as the Community Youth Support Schemes (for addressing youth unemployment) and introduced the Social Welfare Research Centre (later the Social Policy Research Centre) to undertake and sponsor research in social welfare. Importantly though, the rhetoric had changed to favour a secure welfare safety net as 'no individual should fall through circumstances beyond his control' (Prime Minister Fraser quoted in Thompson et al. (1986)).

Notwithstanding positive changes during this era, it was also a time of economic distress and, in response, the real level of the unemployment benefit was eroded through the abolition or dilution of the indexation of the quantum of benefit over time.

Increased numbers of people became reliant on social security benefits as a result of the recessions of 1977-78 and 1982-83. In particular, the number of recipients of unemployment benefits increased from 160.7 thousand to 390.7 thousand (4.6% to 10%)' (Cass & Whiteford 1989). The Fraser Government has been criticised for reducing welfare benefits right when a larger proportion of the population needed it. Not for the first or last time, the budget was placed ahead of the needs of people right when a Keynesian response to an economic downturn may have helped rather than hindered.

The rhetoric and the reality were separating. Neoclassical free market objectives were gradually prioritised over social justice outcomes while speeches continued to carry Welfare State-style rhetoric about justice and inclusivity. The Hawke/Keating years of 1983 to 1996 continued the trend but famously increased financial reform—placing focus on market-style financial models and ideas of reduced regulation across the economy which overlapped into the human services sector as rhetorical devices emphasising the need for finance system reform colonised the total national discourse.

The objectives of the economic rationalists were to lower taxes and decrease social expenditure believing that a strong economy will resolve social need. While the Hawke/Keating government was famous for seeking to prioritise accord above division, the rhetorical devices lead to an emphasis on the financial reform project (which was critical of course) and a reshaping of the rhetorical devices used to describe the method of achieving social policy outcomes. This rhetorical arrangement remained in place beyond the removal of the Keating government in 1996.

Importantly, these years also marked the beginning of the anti-welfare fraud campaigns and the introduction of compulsory training schemes for the long-term unemployed in order to get them 'job-ready'. Unemployment payments were slowly becoming payments associated with mutual obligation rather than a right of the individual in a time of need. Incentives were focused on the low-income employed and 'the initiatives that benefited low-income earners were coupled with attacks on the rights and living standards of other disadvantaged groups' (Mendes 2008). The tensions between the two philosophical ideas about welfare meant that social objectives were often subordinated to the operation of a free market on the basis that the free market would deliver the wealth needed to remove need—the idea of trickle-down economics set the scene for the discourse for the subsequent period.

The period 1996 to 2007 was a period of coalition retrenchment and government restricted access to social security payments while continuing to articulate the promise to maintain the social welfare safety net. This period saw continued pressure placed on welfare recipients as the coalition employed several measures to discipline any welfare recipients who were 'perceived to be underserving of assistance' (Mendes 2008). These included the introduction of the work-for-the-dole scheme which focused on the elimination of individual capacity issues in jobseekers and a 'crackdown' on welfare fraud through the introduction of the 'dob in a dole bludger' hotline. This period also saw the reduction of the disability support pension and the parenting payment as the recipients of these benefits were transferred onto Newstart Allowance which was paid at a considerably lower rate and had different, harsher recipient-compliance requirements including those of mutual obligation.

In the decade and a half since the Howard administration left the stage, we have seen Commonwealth government policy continue to reinforce market solutions and economic prioritisation ahead of systemic human services reform. The rhetoric has always been focused on putting the public first (Rainnie et al. 2012) while the action has been towards rationalisation of the Welfare State on the basis of austerity and ideas of trickledown economics (Cahill &

Toner 2018). Indeed, this was the period in which the word 'reform' came to mean 'change' rather than 'improvement' and when the power of the market to make allocative decisions seems almost inviolable; where the systemic gave way to the particular and specific. I now turn to the government/not-for-profit nexus to examine the impact of changing policy frameworks and rhetoric.

The impact of the diminution of the Australian welfare state on the not-for-profit sector

Dr Philip Mendes (2008) has written an important and comprehensive treatise on the development of the government/not-for-profit nexus and its many manifestations and mutations, principally focused on the period between World War II and the first decade of the twenty first century. Importantly, it records the developments in thinking during this period, tracing the various silver bullets applied in order to resolve the continuing conflict between needs and costs associated with the broadest conception of supports provided in Australia.

This trajectory ultimately considers the market institutions applied in the context of New Public Management ideologies controlling action in government and increasing public discourse relating to ideas of personal responsibility and budget primacy; conceptions that have also rated more specific studies in their own right (Mounk 2017; Blais & Dion 1991; Garnaut 2014). Overall, the impact of the changing policy perspectives has been to disaggregate the parts of the Welfare State as if they can act independently.

Market-style funding arrangements emphasise competition and cost control, and transfer risk from government to the human services sector and then, ultimately, to service users (Butcher & Gilchrist 2016; Gilchrist 2020; Gilchrist 2016; Gilchrist & Pilcher 2019; Gilchrist & Wilkins, In Press). Most of these restrictions are in place to provide certainty and accountability for the government and not for the benefit of not-for-profits (Carmel & Harlock 2008) or, most importantly, the end-users of the services. Finally, the increased focus on commercial-style governance issues means corporate survivorship rather than mission becomes the dominating driver within many not-for-profits.

The trajectory of development arriving at this position has been observed by Professor Mark Lyons (2001:183-188) who codified the forms of contracting into a typology identifying five different approaches to procurement between government and not-for-profits. The first is described as 'government as philanthropist' where organisations approach the government

which then bestows funding on the not-for-profit as it sees fit. The 'submission model' is Lyons' second type, where the government would put forward an idea or identify a need and not-for-profits submit proposals to supply for a grant.

The third conception is the 'planning model' whereby the government decides what services they require with not-for-profits tendering in response. Lyons highlights several major shifts in the service funding approach of governments that went with the change to the planning model—the government treated not-for-profits as extensions of agencies, clarified the services required, procurement processes became more commercial and funding became more uniform for similar services as compared to the earlier style of models which had significant variations between funding often based on the not-for-profit's approach and 'ask'. This led to increased reporting by not-for-profits to government to allow for greater government control.

Lyons' fourth form is what he called the 'quasi-voucher model', the first market-style approach. Under this style of funding for-profits and not-for-profits came to be treated the same over time. With this system, providers received a fixed amount for each client they had which is suggestive of a proto-pricing model. This was a way for the government to create a demand side market where the clients had a choice of providers. The last of Lyons' categories is the 'competitive tender model' causing a complete separation between the government as purchaser and not-for-profits as suppliers of human services. Inevitably, this separation also saw government lose critical knowledge of the requirements of the end users, of advances in service delivery and of the real costs.

The above last two models might be conflated due to their impact which was, essentially, to create a strong delineation between the roles of government procurers and not-for-profit (and for-profit) providers (Alford & O'Flynn 2012). This weakened the inherent advantages in maintaining a collaborative approach to the organisation of the Welfare State—for instance, in one examination it was found that government procurers did not know what they wanted. While its affects were substantial, it was the next transition that has highlighted the impacts of the deemphasis on the Welfare State and intense emphasis on commercial models—Quasi-Markets.

Despite considerable evidence that quasi-market structures are not working in other countries including the UK and the USA, Australia is implementing this style of funding arrangement apparently without heading the warnings (Barron & West 2017; Brenna 2011; Considine et al. 2011; Coupet & McWilliams 2017; Defourny et al. 2010; Dumay & Dupriez 2014; Exley 2014). The cited rationale for utilising quasi-market structures is that it is expected to provide

greater choice and control. However, this does not necessarily play out for a number of reasons, including the following. First, pricing is generally not connected to the true cost of service delivery but, rather to the government's budget. Second, service providers are unable to invest to change their systems and train staff in new ways much less innovate which costs money. Third, data is not shared allowing for more effective and timely decision making; and fourth, because the use of commercial vernacular and the seeking of behavioural responses has a tendency to focus on the short-term and organisation-specific rather than on the long-term and systemic reform (Greener & Powell 2009; Glendinning et al. 2008; Glendinning 2008; Rodrigues & Glendinning 2015; Gilchrist 2020; Gilchrist et al. 2019).

Rhetorically, governments have sought to maintain a connection with the ethic of a strong not-for-profit human services sector. They have done this largely by providing limited funding to the various industry peak bodies and by establishing various structures in support of industry consultative processes (Butcher 2015). However, these compacts have largely not been successful primarily because there is a minimal link between the forum itself and the planning, structuring and commissioning process and because the links focus on short-term immediate problems and not on systemic change for the better.

In short, these structures have failed for a variety of reasons including: the political instability of changing governments and changing political priorities sees a change in personnel on the government side. These structures also typically have limited secretarial capacity, no authority and no funds ensuring they are unable to execute policy decisions and have autonomy and government investment in itself is often lacking in terms of government personnel capacity improvement needed to enact the policy framework changes. Further, limited data collection and poor data sharing structures mean that assessments are unable to be made within government and between government and providers as to what is working and what is not working (and whether initiatives are even being implemented) and collaboration is stifled by an unchanging governance framework within government ensuring sovereignty remains centrally located (Gilchrist et al. 2020; Butcher & Gilchrist 2020; Gilchrist 2020; Gilchrist & Pilcher 2019; Knight & Gilchrist 2015).

Perhaps most importantly, the issue is not so much whether quasi-market structures should be used or not, but rather what is the most appropriate relationship structure needed in order to achieve the outcome sought and what investment is required to achieve the outcomes themselves? Otherwise, the policy really becomes a rhetorical tool rather than an opportunity for real reform, with the advantage to governments being that the human services sector can be

identified as culpable for failure because it has failed to innovate and/or respond to client needs notwithstanding both hands are tied behind its back.

Concluding Remarks

Combining the increasingly simplistic media coverage of public policy debates and TED Talks that seek to posit game changing policy responses in ten minutes or less with the argument that we can move forward without a Welfare State in the context of individualism, personal responsibility and market prioritisation, is seductive. But it is a combination that is also destructive because it results in a breakdown of collaboration, focuses on the particular in the form of programs rather than the systemic, and allows governments to lay off their responsibility by leaving it to the market as if that is some naturally occurring phenomena outside of human control. Perhaps most importantly, it does not allow for the consideration of all possible responses so that fit-for-purpose is less often considered leaving a vacuum encouraging a one-size-fits-all response.

The reality is that, unless we take a systematic and institutional perspective, approaching the many wicked problems we seek to ameliorate in a structural, planned way, we are doomed to continue to seek silver bullets and rely on shallow thinking to repeat our mistakes. In order to avoid this outcome, policy makers in government and the human services sector (and probably in other sectors too) need to work effectively together. As such, we should redefine the Welfare State to incorporate the institutional framing necessary to support this revised way of thinking. In short, we need to start with local decision making (which supports true choice and control), adequate funding via an appropriate mechanism (of which there are many to choose from), and genuine collaboration including data sharing between government agencies, between governments and with the not-for-profit human services sector to build up a system model that works. We can chew gum and walk at the same time, so we can act locally and nationally at the same time too.

NOTES

ⁱ Please note: A version of this paper was delivered to the seminar titled 'The Regulation and Self-regulation of Charities and Philanthropy' held at the Institute of Advanced Studies, University of Western Australia on 4th March 2020.

ii But not in all states, for instance, Victoria sought to provide pensions only to deserving poor notwithstanding an Australia-wide movement after federation that removed this stipulation iiii Importantly, Indigenous Australians were still not treated equally with other Australians as they still had to undergo a test to demonstrate that they were assimilating into white culture.

REFERENCES

- Alford, J. L. & O'flynn, J. (2012) *Rethinking Public Service Delivery: Managing with external providers*. Basingstoke, UK: Palgrave Macmillan.
- Bakvis, H. & Jarvis, M. D. (2012) From New Public Management to New Political Governance. London, UK: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- Barker, P. (1984) Founders of the Welfare State. London, UK: Heinemann Educational Books.
- Barr, N. A. (2004) The Economics of the Welfare State, Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Barron, S. N. & West, E. (2017) The Quasi-Market for Adult Residential Care in the UK: Do for-profit, not-for-profit or public sector residential care and nursing homes provide better quality care? *Social Science & Medicine*, 9.
- Bartholomew, J. (2013) The Welfare State We're In. London, UK: Biteback Publishing.
- Barzelay, M. (2001) *The New Public Management: Improving research and policy dialogue*. Oxford, UK: University of California Press.
- Beilharz, P., Considine, M. & Watts, R. (1992) Arguing About the Welfare State: The Australian experience. North Sydney, NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Beveridge, S. W. (1942) Social Insurance and Allied Services. London, UK: H.M.S.O.
- Black, J., Hashimzade, N. & Myles, G. (2009) A Dictionary of Economics. *A Dictionary of Economics*, 5 edn. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Blais, A. & Dion, S. (1991) *The Budget Maximising Bureacrat: Appraisal and evidence*. Pittsburg: University of Pittsburg Press.
- Brenna, E. (2011) Quasi-Market and Cost-Containment in Beveridge Systems: The Lombardy Model of Italy. *Health Policy*, 9.
- Briggs, A. (1961) The Welfare State in Historical Perspective. *European Journal of Sociology*, 2: 221-258.
- Briggs, A. (1984) Towards the Welfare State. In P. Barker (ed.), *Founders of the Welfare State*. London, UK: Heinemann Educational Books.
- Buchanan, J. M. & Musgrave, R. A. (1999) *Public Finance and Public Choice: Two constrasting visions of the state.* Cambridge, UK: MIT Press.
- Butcher, J. (2015) Australian Sub-National Compacts with the Not-For-Profit Sector: Pathways to cross-sector cooperation. In J. Wanna, E. A. Lindquist and P. Marshall (eds.), *New Accountabilities, New Challenges*. Canberra, ACT: Australian National University Press.
- Butcher, J. & Gilchrist, D. (2016) *The Three Sector Solution: Delivering public policy in collaboration with not-for-profits and business*. Canberra, ACT: Australian National University Press.

- Butcher, J. & Gilchrist, D. (2020) *Collaboration for Impact: Lessons from the field.* Canberra, ACT: Australian University Press.
- Butlin, N. G. (1959) Colonial Socialism in Australia, 1860 -1900. In H. J. Aitken (ed.), *The State and Econimic Growth: Papers of a conference held on October 11-13, 1956 under the auspices of the Committee on Economic Growth.* New York City, NY: Social Science Research Council.
- Butlin, N. G. (1994) Forming a Colonial Economy: Australia 1810–1850. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Butlin, N. G., Barnard, A. & Pincus, J. J. (1982) Government and Capitalism: Public and private choice in Twenthieth Century Australia. London, UK: George Allen & Unwin.
- Butlin, N. G. & De Meel, H. (1953) *Public Capital Formation in Australia*. Canberra, ACT: Department of Economics, Australian National University.
- Cahill, D. & Toner, P. (2018) Wrong Way: How privatisation and economic reform backfired. Sydney, NSW: La Trobe University Press.
- Carmel, E. & Harlock, J. (2008) Instituting the 'Third Sector' as a Governable Terrain: Partnership, procurement and performance in the UK. *Policy & Politics*, 36: 16.
- Cass, B. & Whiteford, P. (1989) Social Security Policies' From Fraser to Hawke: Australian public policy in the 1980s. Melbourne, Vic: Longman Cheshire.
- Castles, F. G. (1985) The Working Class and Welfare. Sydney, NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Castles, F. G. (1987) Thirty Wasted Years: Australian social security development, 1950–80, in comparative perspective. *Politics*, 22: 67-74.
- Considine, M., Lewis, J. M. & O'Sullivan, S. (201) Quasi-Markets and Service Delivery Flexibility Following a Decade of Employment Assistance Reform in Australia. *Journal of Social Policy*, 40: 22.
- Coupet, J. & McWilliams, A. (2017) Integrating Organizational Economics and Resource Dependence Theory to Explain the Persistence of Quasi Markets. *Administrative Sciences*, 7: 13.
- Daunton, M. (2010) Welfare, Taxation and Social Justice: Reflections on Cambridge economists from Marshall to Keynes. In R. E. Backhouse and T. Nishizawa (eds.), *No Wealth But Life: Welfare Economics and the Welfare State in Britain, 1880-1945.* Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Deeming, C. (2013) The Working Class and Welfare: Francis G. Castles on the political development of the welfare state in Australia and New Zealand thirty years on. *Social Policy & Administration*, 47: 668-691.
- Defourny, J. A., Henry, S., Nassaut, S. & Nyssens, M. (2010) Does the Mission Matter of Providers Matter on a Quasi-Market? The case of the Belgian Service Voucher Scheme. *Annals of Public and Cooperative Economics*, 81: 27.
- Dumay, X. & Dupriez, V. (2014) Educational Quasi-Markets, School Effectiveness and Social Inequalities. *Journal of Education Policy*, 29: 21.
- Eriguchi, T. (2009) The Webbs, Public Administration and the LSE: The origin of public governance and institutional economics in Britain. *History of Economics Review*, 50: 13.

- Esping-Andersen, G. (1990) *The Three Worlds of Welfare Capitalism*. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Exley, S. (2014) Are Quasi-Markets in Education What the British Public Want? *Social Policy & Administration*, 43: 19.
- Galbraith, J. K. (1952) *American Capitalism: The concept of countervailing power* Cambridge, UK: The Riverside Press.
- Garnaut, R. (2014) Dog Days: Australia after the boom. Collingwood, VIC: Redback.
- Gilchrist, D. (2011) Charles Harper Through a Galbraithian Lens: Agricultural co-operation and countervailing power in colonial Western Australia. *History of Economics Review*, 54: 18.
- Gilchrist, D. (2013) Refinement and Refutation: N. G. Butlin's 1959 monograph "Colonial Socialism in Australia" and explanations of colonial socialism, 1850 to 1890. *History of Economic Thought Society of Australia 2013 Conference*. Hobart, TAS.
- Gilchrist, D. (2014) Different Visions of English Co-operation in the Victorian Age: A review. History of Economic Thought Society of Australia National Conference. Aukland, New Zealand.
- Gilchrist, D. (2016) Partnerships between Government and the Third Sector at a Subnational Level: The experience of an Australian subnational government. In J, Butcher and D. Gilchrist (eds.), *The Three Sector Solution: Delivering Public Policy in Collboration with Not-for-profits and Business.* Canberra, ACT: Australian National University Press.
- Gilchrist, D. (2017) Imperial Theory and Colonial Pragmatism: Charles Harper, economic development and agricultural co-operation in Australia. New York City, NY: Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Gilchrist, D. (2020) All the Best Intentions: A review of a sub-national attempt at reshaping the not-for-profit/public sector nexus. In A. Podger, J. Wanna, Hon. S. Chan and M. Niu (eds.), *Designing Governance Structures for Performance and Accountability: Developments in Australia and Greater China*. Canberra, ACT: Australian National University Press.
- Gilchrist, D. & Knight, P. (2017) Value of the Not-for-profit Sector 2017: An examination of the economic contribution of the not-for-profit human services sector in the Northern Territory. Darwin, NT: Northern Territory Council of Social Service.
- Gilchrist, D., Knight, P., Edmonds, C. A. & Emery, T. (2019) Six Years and Counting: The NDIS and the australian disability services system, a white paper. Perth, WA: University of Western Australia.
- Gilchrist, D., Knight, P. & Emery, T. (2020) Green Paper 1: Data assets, efficiency and the NDIS. In D. Gilchrist (ed.), *Australian Disability Services System Research Project*. Perth, WA: University of Western Australia.
- Gilchrist, D. & Pilcher, R. (2019) The Intention and the Reality: A commentary on the not-for-profit reform agenda in Australia. In R. Pilcher and D. Gilchrist (eds.), *Public Sector Accounting, Accountability and Governance: Globalising the Experiences of Australia and New Zealand*. Milton Park: Routledge.

- Gilchrist, D. & Wilkins, P. (In Press) Evaluation One Step Removed: The government/not-for-profit performance nexus. *Evaluation and the Pursuit of Impact*. London, UK: Routledge.
- Glendinning, C. (2008) The Other Le Grand? Evaluation the 'Other Invisible Hand' in welfare services in England. *Social Policy and Administration*, 43: 13.
- Glendinning, C., Challis, D., Fernández, J. L., Jacobs, S., Jones, K., Knapp, M., Manthorpe, J., Moran, N., Netten, A., Stevens, M. & Wilberforce, M. (2008) *Evaluation of the Individual Budgets Pilot Programme: Final report*. York, UK: Individual Budgets Evaluation Network.
- Goodin, R. E. (1988) *Reasons for Welfare: The political theory of the welfare state*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Gough, I. (1987) Welfare State. In J. Eatwell (ed.), *The New Palgrave: A Dictionary of Economics*. New York City, NY: Macmillan.
- Greener, I. & Powell, M. (2009) The Other Le Grand? Evaluating the 'Other Invisible Hand' in Wefare Services in England. *Social Policy & Administration*, 43: 13.
- Groenewegen, P. (2010) Marshall on Welfare Economics and the Welfare State. In R. E. Backhouse and T. Nishiza (eds.), *No Wealth But Life: Welfare Economics and the Welfare State in Britain, 1880-1945.* Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Hammond, M. (1913) The Minimum Wage In Great Britain And Australia. *Annals of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 48: 22.
- Henderson, R. F. (1970) *People in Poverty: A Melbourne survey*. Melbourne, VIC: University of Melbourne.
- Hetherington, P. (2009) *Paupers, Poor Relief & Poor Houses in Western Australia, 1829-1910.* Crawley, WA: University of Western Australia Press.
- Jamrozik, A. (1994) From Harvester to De-regulation: Wage earners in the Australian welfare state. *Australian Journal of Social Issues*, 29: 162-170.
- Knight, P. & Gilchrist, D. (2014) Australian Charities 2013: The first report on charities registered with the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission. Melbourne, VIC: Curtin University.
- Knight, P. & Gilchrist, D. (2015) 2014 Evaluation of the Sustainable Funding and Contracting with the Not for Profit Sector Initiatives and Associated Procurement Reforms. Perth, WA: Australia: Government of Western Australia.
- Macintyre, S. (1985) Winners and Losers: The pursuit of social justice in Australian history. Sydney, NSW: Allen & Unwin.
- Macintyre, S. (2015) *Australia's Boldest Experiment: War and reconstruction in the 1940s*. Sydney, NSW: NewSouth.
- Macleod, R. (2000) The 'Creed of Science' in Victorian England. Burlington: Ashgate.
- Mcauley, I. & Lyons, M. (2015) *Governomics: Can we afford small government?* Carlton, VIC: Melbourne University Press.
- Mclean, I. (1987) Public Choice: An introduction. Oxford, UK: Basil Blackwell.

- Medema, S. G. (2010) Pigou's "Prima Facie Case": Market failure in theory and practice. In R. E. Backhouse & T. Nishizawa (eds.), *No Wealth But Life: Welfare Economics and the Welfare State in Britain, 1800-1945.* Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Menard, C. (1995) Markets as Institutions Versus Organizations as Markets? Disentangling some fundamental concepts. *Journal of Economic Behaviour and Organisation*, 28: 21.
- Mendes, P. (2008) *Australia's Welfare Wars Revisited*. Sydney, NSW: University of New South Wales Press.
- Métin, A. (1977 [1901]). *Socialism Without Doctrine*. Chippendale, N.S.W: Alternative Publishing Co-operative.
- Mounk, Y. (2017) *The Age of Responsibility: Luck, choice and the welfare state*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press.
- National Health and Pensions Insurance Act 1938. Australia: Parliament of Australia.
- Neumark, D., Wascher, W. L. & Wascher, W. L. (2008) *Minimum Wages*. Massacusetts: The MIT Press.
- Pember Reeves, W. (1969) *State Experiments in Australia and New Zealand (Vol. II)*. South Melbourne, VIC: Macmillan.
- Pierson, C. (1991) *Beyond the Welfare State? The new political economy of welfare*. University Park, PA: Pennsylvania State University Press.
- Rainnie, A., Fitzgerald, S., Gilchrist, D. & Morris, C. L. (2012) Putting the Public First? Restructuring the Western Australian human services sector. *International Journal of Employment Studies*, 20: 21.
- Rajan, R. (2020) *The Third Pillar: How markets and the state leave the community behind*. London, UK: Penguin Random House.
- Reeders, D., Carey, G., Malbon, E., Dickinson, H., Gilchrist, D., Duff, G., Chand, S., Kavanagh, A. M. & Alexander, D. (2019) Market Capacity Framework: An approach for identifying thin markets in the NDIS. Sydney, NSW: Centre for Social Impact.
- Rodrigues, R. & Glendinning, C. (2015) Choice, Competition and Care: Developments in english social care and the impacts on older users of home care services. *Social Policy & Administration*, 9: 15.
- Sowell, T. (2016) Wealth, Poverty and Politics. New York City, NY: Basic Books.
- Thaler, R. H. (2015) *Misbehaving: The making of behaviorual economics*. London, UK: Penguin Random House.
- Thompson, Y., Brandis, G. & Harley, T. (1986) *Australian Liberalism: The continuing vision*. Melbourne, VIC: Liberal Forum.
- Watts, R. (1980) The Origins of the Australian welfare state. *Historical Studies*, 19: 175-198.
- Watts, R. (1987) The Foundations of The National Welfare State. Sydney, NSW: Allen & Unwin
- Webb, S. & Webb, B. (1920) A Constitution for the Socialist Commonwealth of Great Britain. London, UK: Trade Unionists of the United Kingdom.
- White, L. H. (2012) *The Clash of Economic Ideas: The great policy debates of the last hundred years*. New York City, NY: Cambridge University Press.

- Wilensky, H. L. (1974) *The Welfare State and Equality: Structural and ideological roots of public expenditures*. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press.
- Woods, M. & Gilchrist, D. (2020) Practical Action, Theoretical Impacts: Aged care and disability services reform in australia. In A. Podger, T. Su, J. Wanna, S. Chan & M. Niu (eds.), *Greater China*. Canberra, ACT: Australian University Press.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

DAVID J. GILCHRIST is Professor of accounting in the UWA Business School and coconvenor of the Not-for-profits UWA Research Group. He has held various senior positions in the not-for-profit sector, government and commerce and undertakes research in the area of Human Services with especial focus on sustainability, governance, finance and policy. Email: david.gilchrist@uwa.edu.au.

Charity Regulation in New Zealand: History And Where To Now

Sue Barker, Director, Charities Law

Abstract

The legal framework for charities in New Zealand acts, in many ways, as a barrier to the ability of charities to carry out their work: improving the legal framework would significantly improve the chances of being able to 'build back better' in response to COVID-19. This article examines the historical context of the current charities' legislation in New Zealand, and looks at some of the issues causing difficulty in practice, as well as some of the headwinds to reform. The article also examines the interplay between the review of the Charities Act and the Tax Working Group, which in turn provides important insights into charities regulation in New Zealand. Finally, the article asks whether there might be a window of opportunity for charities to achieve some of the reform that is so badly needed in New Zealand.

Keywords

Charity law; charities; Charities Act review; tax; Tax Working Group; business activities; advocacy; regulation

Introduction

There is a saying that in a democracy, you get the leaders you deserve, a principle which might apply similarly to legislation. With that sentiment in mind, this paper looks at the history of charity regulation in New Zealand in three parts. Part I covers the period prior to the passing of the *Charities Act 2005 (NZ) (Charities Act)*; Part II, the changes effected by the *Charities Act* and subsequent amendments; and Part III, the review of the *Charities Act*, which commenced in 2017 (Henare 2017), interspersed with a consideration of the interplay with the Tax Working Group, concluding by reflecting on where we might go from here.

Part I: Pre-Charities Act 2005

Prior to the introduction of the *Charities Act*, charities in New Zealand enjoyed high levels of public trust and confidence. However, there was a lack of information about the charitable sector, in particular, whether charities were continuing to act in furtherance of their stated purposes over time (Ashton 2002: 21-22; Russell 1989: iv-v, 10, 21, 63, 67; Cullen 2001a: 3.17, 8.7; McGregor-Lowndes & Wyatt 2017: Ch 10). Charitable trusts in particular were considered to be 'uniquely free from supervision' (Hutchinson 1979: 2; Cullen 2001a: 7.4, 7.5).

The lack of registration and reporting, and therefore monitoring, of charities meant the charitable sector as a whole was vulnerable to the inevitable presence of a few 'rogue' operators. By the time the *Charities Act* was passed in 2005, there was overwhelming support from within the charitable sector for the establishment of a charities register to address this concern: to provide information about charities, so they would have a means of demonstrating to the world that they were legitimate and worthy of support; as well as to provide a means for 'weeding out' 'bad' charities, such as those engaging in money laundering, tax avoidance, fraud, and the like.

The New Zealand tax agency, the Inland Revenue Department (IRD), appears to have seen the regime quite differently. However in the years leading up to the introduction of the Charities Bill in 2004, the Commissioner of Inland Revenue had been unsuccessful in a number of charities cases before the New Zealand Court of Appeal. For example, in 1996, a majority of the Court of Appeal held that the income of the Medical Council of New Zealand (Medical Council) was exempt from income tax. Although the principal statutory function of the Medical Council was to maintain a register of qualified medical practitioners, which provided private benefits to those individuals, the Court of Appeal interpreted the purpose of the relevant constituting legislation more widely, finding the 'true purpose' of the Medical Council to be safeguarding the health of the community. This purpose was found to be charitable (Commissioner of Inland Revenue v Medical Council of New Zealand [1997] 2 NZLR 297 (CA) at 309, 318). Some years earlier, the Court of Appeal had held the purposes of the New Zealand Council of Law Reporting [1981] 1 NZLR 682 (CA)).

These cases led IRD to surmise in 2001 that case law 'may have expanded the boundaries of what is charitable to such an extent that it is now too easy to become a charity' (Cullen 2001a:

4.2, 5.11). The subsequent decision of the Court of Appeal in *Latimer v Commissioner of Inland Revenue* [2002] 3 NZLR 195 (CA) (Latimer CA) may have reinforced this position: in Latimer CA, the purpose of the Crown Forestry Rental Trust to assist Māori to bring claims before the Waitangi Tribunal ('the assistance purpose') was found to be charitable (this point not in issue on appeal to the Privy Council).

In response to this trend of decisions of high authority, IRD put forward two proposals for changing the definition of charitable purpose, to limit the 'fiscal privileges accorded to charities' to those charitable purposes that accorded with 'current objectives'. Under both these proposals, the Government would have been permitted to override any registration and 'deem' a particular entity not to be charitable (Cullen 2001b: 4.3, 5.5, 5.15, 9). In this way, the scene was set for a fundamental tension that underlies the *Charities Act* regime to this day: IRD's view may have been reflected in the explanatory note to the original Charities Bill, which stated that the proposed new Charities Commission would 'register and monitor charitable entities...to ensure that those entities receiving tax relief continue to carry out charitable purposes and provide a clear public benefit' (Charities Bill 2004 (108-1) NZ, explanatory note, 1). However, a conceptualisation of the *Charities Act* as a *de facto* tax regime, directed to rationing the privileges of charity according to a government department's views of which charities were worthy of support, arguably did not survive the Charities Bill's passage through Parliament, as discussed further below.

Part II: The Charities Act and subsequent amendments

The *Charities Act* established a Charities Commission, as an autonomous Crown entity, separate and independent from IRD, responsible for running a registration, reporting and monitoring system for New Zealand's charities (Charities Bill 108-2: 1-2). Under the New Zealand Charities Act regime, registration is voluntary: an unregistered charity is still able to call itself a charity and collect funds from the public (Charities Bill 108-1, explanatory note: 1). The key change effected by the legislation was that, from 1 July 2008, charities had to be registered with the Charities Commission (as it was then) in order to be eligible for the charitable exemptions from income tax (*Income Tax Act* 2007, ssCW 41 and CW 42). The *quid pro quo* for income tax exemption was that registered charities had to make certain information publicly available on the charities register (*Charities Act*, ss40-42A). This information would

enable charities to be monitored, to ensure that they continued to act in furtherance of their stated charitable purposes over time, and to allow a means for identifying and removing charities and charity officers engaged in 'serious wrongdoing'.

However, although it had been many years in gestation (Hutchinson 1979; Russell 1989; McKay 1998; Cullen 2001a; Cullen 2001b; Ashton 2002a, 2002b), the Charities Bill as originally introduced was otherwise widely regarded to be fundamentally flawed: the original Bill was almost completely rewritten at Select Committee stage in response to hundreds of submissions (Charities Bill 108-2, Select Committee report, 1). These substantial changes were not subject to proper consultation and, together with further minor, but extensive, changes made by Supplementary Order Paper, were passed through under urgency, with all final stages occurring on one day. The comment was made in Parliament that 'we do not really know what we are passing tonight, or what the implications are' (New Zealand Parliamentary Debates, 12 April 2005 at 19944, 19950, 19980, 19981; McGregor-Lowndes (2017) chapter 10).

Concerns about 'fast law' not making good law were assuaged at the time by then Minister of Finance, Hon Dr Michael Cullen, who indicated that the *Charities Act* would be subject to a full first principles post-implementation review. Yet, in the 15 years since the *Charities Act* was passed, no such review has been undertaken. Instead, the period has been characterised by a series of piecemeal, arguably 'kneejerk', amendments that have similarly been rushed through under urgency without proper consultation, often against the strong opposition of the charitable sector (see for example Statutes Amendment Bill 2015 (71-1), Charities Amendment Bill (No 2) 2012 332-3C (which began as the Crown Entities Reform Bill 2011 332-1), and the Statutes Amendment Bill (No 2) 2011 271-2). The disestablishment of the Charities Commission in 2012 is perhaps the most notable of these, but there are many others. This situation arguably reflects the fundamental tension that underlies the regime, but also a deeper problem: the charitable sector is somehow seen by policy and decision-makers as a fiscal cost, something to be reduced, and otherwise unimportant and unworthy of the attention and care it appears to receive in other jurisdictions. The net result in New Zealand is an Act that is replete with unintended consequences, and much in need of review.

A key issue has been charities' ability to appeal decisions made by the agency responsible for administering the *Charities Act* (first the Charities Commission and, since 2012, the Department of Internal Affairs – Charities Services Ngā Rātonga Kaupapa Atawhai (Charities

Services) and the Charities Registration Board Te Rātā Atawhai (Charities Board)). The significance of this issue should not be underestimated.

Prior to the introduction of the *Charities Act*, charities were entitled to a full oral hearing of evidence as part of the process of establishing that their purposes are charitable (Foundation for Anti-Aging Research v Charities Registration Board [2015] NZCA 449 (21 September 2015) (FAAR CA) at [8] and [44]-[45]). The Charities Bill as originally introduced would have continued this, by providing charities with a right of appeal to the District Court (FAAR CA at [45]). However, in response to submissions, the Select Committee changed this formulation to the High Court, ostensibly to provide charities with a more fulsome right of appeal (FAAR CA at [46] and Charities Bill 108-2: 13-14).

In doing so, the Select Committee unfortunately did not clarify the nature of the hearing to be conducted on appeal: this means that appeals under the *Charities Act* fall to be determined under the general rules for High Court appeals set out in Part 20 of the High Court Rules. The rules in Part 20 are strict, based on an assumption that a full oral hearing of evidence has already been undertaken at first instance in the tribunal appealed from, in an adjudicated dispute between two parties. For example, Part 20 precludes appellants from having any automatic right to present evidence to the Court that was not before the decision-maker when it made its decision, and requires evidence to be presented by affidavit, rather than by witnesses giving oral evidence and being available for cross-examination. However, the decision-maker under the *Charities Act* (whether it be the Charities Board or Charities Services) does not adjudicate a dispute between two parties, and does not conduct an oral hearing (FAAR CA at [38]-[43], [13] and [20]). This effectively means that, in New Zealand, charities' ability to access an oral hearing of evidence has been removed altogether.

There is nothing to indicate that the removal of charities' ability to access a 'trier of fact' on appeal was anything other than inadvertent: an unintended consequence of changes hastily made at Select Committee stage. However it may have arisen, the inability to access an oral hearing of evidence puts New Zealand charities at a significant disadvantage in trying to prove important questions of fact, such as what their purposes are, and whether they operate for the benefit of the public. It also limits charities' ability to test the material Charities Services finds from internet searches, whether that material, and the conclusions drawn from it, are correct, and what weight should be placed on it (see for example *Re Family First New Zealand* [2018]

NZHC 2273 (31 August 2018) (Family First HC 2) at [20]; *Re The Foundation for Anti-Aging Research and The Foundation for Reversal of Solid State Hypothermia* (2016) 23 PRNZ 726 (Foundation for Anti-Aging Research) at [32] and [71-75]; *Re Greenpeace of New Zealand Inc* [2015] 1 NZLR 169 (SC) (Greenpeace SC) at [84]; and *Liberty Trust v Charities Commission* [2011] 3 NZLR 68 (HC) at [50]).

An added difficulty is that an appeal to the High Court within 20 working days of the date of decision sets such a high bar that, in practice, most charities are unable to hold Charities Services accountable for its decisions under the current framework. These factors are arguably causing New Zealand charities law to become distorted. It is important that cases decided under the New Zealand Charities Act are viewed through this lens. These factors may also be contributing to a culture within Charities Services, as discussed further below.

The Select Committee considering the original Charities Bill made it clear that the definition of charitable purpose was not intended to be changed (Charities Bill 108-2: 3, 21). The Supreme Court of New Zealand has since confirmed that the Charities Act did not change the common law definition of charitable purpose in New Zealand (Greenpeace SC at [16]-[17]). In other words, IRD's 2001 suggestions for amending the definition of charitable purpose were not accepted: the definition of charitable purpose that IRD acknowledged was very broad should have survived the passing of the *Charities Act*. It was therefore surprising that, following enactment of the *Charities Act*, a very narrow approach to interpreting the definition was taken, first by the Charities Commission and then even more so by Charities Services. Specific 'fault lines' include charities engaging in advocacy work in furtherance of their charitable purposes, charities running social enterprises or start-up businesses to raise funds for their charitable purposes, social housing, sport, economic development, art, charities that further their charitable purposes by helping individuals, to name only a few.

Particular cases of difficulty include *Canterbury Development Corporation v Charities Commission* [2010] 2 NZLR 707 (HC) (Canterbury Development Corporation) and *Re Queenstown Lakes Community Housing Trust* [2011] 3 NZLR 502 (HC) (Queenstown Lakes). In both cases, the wider public benefit provided by the respective charity's purposes appears to have been put to one side in denying registration. How this approach can be reconciled with the Court of Appeal decision in Latimer CA, where the wider public benefits were determinative in finding the assistance purpose to be charitable, is not explained. The writer

submits that had the Latimer CA decision been applied, both charities could and should have been found eligible for registration.

The Queenstown Lakes' decision in particular provides important insights into charity regulation in New Zealand. The Government did not agree with the decision, describing it as 'arbitrary' (Fox 2014), but there was no clear mechanism by which the Government could appeal. Instead, the Government used \$6 million of taxpayers' money to pay the Queenstown Lakes Community Housing Trust's income tax liability that arose as a result of the deregistration (Fox 2014). The Government also introduced legislation to 'work around' the decision by providing community housing entities with their own specific income tax exemption (*Income Tax Act 2007*, sCW 42B). In a tax environment based on the principle of 'broad base, low rate', the significance of this step should not be underestimated. Significant difficulty ensued in trying to bring these measures about. Underlying regulations were required before the new income tax exemption for community housing providers could be brought into force.

However, the complexity inherent in formulating the qualifying criteria caused such delay that further remedial legislation was required to defer application of the new 'deregistration tax' specifically for charities whose purposes or activities are 'predominantly the provision of housing' (see – *Income Tax Act 2007*, sHR 12, and Taxation (Annual Rates for 2015–16, Research and Development, and Remedial Matters) Bill 2015, cl264). This amendment was intended to allow more time for Charities Services to complete a review of the charitable status of every single community housing provider in New Zealand following the Queenstown Lakes decision (Inland Revenue 2015a: 63).

In November 2015, following more than 12 months of work by officials from the Ministry of Business, Innovation and Employment, the Treasury and IRD, then Minister of Revenue, Hon Todd McLay, introduced a supplementary order paper proposing further substantive amendments to the community housing provisions (*Income Tax Act 2007*, new schedule 34 replaced s225D of the *Income Tax Act 2007*). The accompanying regulatory impact statement noted that 'although this approach will provide much needed certainty for potentially affected providers, there will be no opportunity to consult formally on the proposed changes' (Inland Revenue 2015b: 44).

Despite all of this effort to 'work around' the Queenstown Lakes decision, these measures did not fix the problem: a specific income tax exemption, although welcome, is a 'second-best' option as, without registered charitable status, housing charities are generally unable to access the funding they need to survive. The writer understands the provision has been very little used. Furthermore, the process of trying to formulate and implement the measures saw some 3,000 community housing providers in New Zealand subjected to months of unhelpful uncertainty and cost, distracting them from their work in the middle of a housing crisis (Jackson 2015; Barker & Ng 2016: 10). Community housing providers now eschew helping people into affordable housing for fear of putting their charitable registration at risk, at a time when New Zealand shockingly has working families living in cars (RNZ 2020). The Government's considerable efforts to 'work around' the Queenstown Lakes decision are clear indicators of the public benefit of the Queenstown Lakes Community Housing Trust's work. Yet, that trust's reapplication for charitable registration was again declined, on the basis of the High Court decision (Charities Registration Board, Decision No 2015-3, 2 November 2015).

In the writer's view, the social housing saga highlights the difficulties inherent in trying to fix problems at the level of symptom, rather than cause: had the definition of charitable purpose been interpreted so as to properly acknowledge the wider benefits of the Queenstown Lakes Community Housing Trust's work, the writer submits it would not have been deregistered, Charities Services' review of social housing providers would not have been undertaken, and arbitrary barriers would not now be being placed in the way of charities helping people into affordable housing and the consequential benefits of security of tenure and social cohesion that it provides.

The issue of advocacy by charities is another key area of difficulty. In 2014, the Supreme Court of New Zealand held that there was no political purposes exclusion in New Zealand law (Greenpeace SC at [3]). There is scope for argument as to whether New Zealand did in fact have a strict political purposes exclusion prior to the Supreme Court decision: a finding that a purpose was 'political' arguably simply meant that the public benefit test was not met on the facts of the particular case (compare the decisions of the *New Zealand Court of Appeal in Molloy v Commissioner of Inland Revenue* [1981] 1 NZLR 688 (CA) and Latimer CA at [40]). Nevertheless, following enactment of the *Charities Act* in 2005, a strict political purposes

exclusion was, rightly or wrongly, applied in practice by the agencies responsible for administering New Zealand charities' legislation.

The Supreme Court decision was heralded as a victory for charities, ostensibly correcting an unduly strict approach that had been taken. However, in practice, Charities Services applied an interpretation of the Supreme Court decision that was even more restrictive of charities' advocacy work. This approach was surprising, and led to a number of challenges to Charities Services' interpretation (the significance of which should not be underestimated given the very real difficulties inherent in challenging decisions under the current framework, as discussed above). Fundamentally, the problem appears to arise from an impulse to exercise control over charities' activities in a legal framework that is focused on purposes: the common law definition of charitable purpose developed in the context of trust law, where a charitable purpose trust is an exception to the general rule that a purpose trust is invalid (*Vancouver Society of Immigrant and Visible Minority Women v Minister of National Revenue* [1999] 1 SCR 10 at para 144, Iacobucci J).

Beyond requiring that activities must be carried out in furtherance of a charity's stated charitable purposes, the common law in fact says very little about charities' activities (Mercer 2019: 82). If the Supreme Court decision is to be interpreted as requiring charities to show public benefit in all of their activities, it would constitute a fundamental reconception of New Zealand case law in this area; such an outcome would be surprising given the specific comments of the Supreme Court that it was not purporting to make any 'radical change' (Greenpeace SC at [29]; Barker 2020 at 48-49).

In 2016, the High Court confirmed that the Supreme Court decision was not an indication that the Charities Act 'was intended to wreak some fundamental change in approach or a move away from the fundamental 'purposes' focus of the charities inquiry' (see Foundation for Anti-Aging Research at [82]-[89]). Instead, her Honour Ellis J confirmed the orthodox position that the question with respect to activities, including advocacy activities, is whether they are 'consistent with or supportive of' the charity's stated charitable purposes: 'if they are, then there is no difficulty' (at [88]).

However, despite referring to Ellis J's judgment in every subsequent publicly-available decision made (see for example Nelson Grey Power Association Incorporated Decision No: 020-1, 21 May 2020 at [6]), there was no discernible change in Charities Services' or the

Board's approach. In response to a request under the *Official Information Act 1982* as to why Ellis J's test was not being applied in its terms, Charities Services replied that they prefer an alternative wording that allows them to be more 'lenient' (Charities Services 2019, [22]). However, the reality is that the alternative wording allows Charities Services to be more subjective: the net result is effectively the 'deeming' approach proposed by IRD in 2001. A key question is how such a situation could transpire when the 'deeming' approach was so comprehensively rejected by Parliament when the *Charities Act* was passed in 2005. This point is discussed further below.

A key element of the new approach being applied by Charities Services and the Charities Board is a search for 'unstated charitable purposes' on the basis of a charity's activities (see for example Better Public Media Trust v Attorney-General [2020] NZHC 350 (Better Public Media) at [45]-[46], at the time of writing under appeal to the Court of Appeal). How this approach sits with the duty of governors of charitable entities to comply with the terms of their constituting document (Trusts Act 2019 ss24 and 26; Companies Act 1993 s134; Exposure Draft Incorporated Societies Bill cl50) is not explained. New Zealand Courts have also recently reemphasised the primacy of the written word, and the constrained ability to resort to extrinsic material in interpreting documents (see for example Savvy Vineyards 4334 Ltd v Weta Estate Ltd [2020] NZSC 115 (22 October 2020) at [24]): the decision-maker's role is one of 'interpretation, not creation' (Inglis v Dunedin Diocesan Trust [2011] NZAR 1 (HC) at [29]-[33] and Public Trust v Cancer Society of New Zealand Incorporated [2020] NZHC 615 (23 March 2020) at [11]). To say that a charity is acting in furtherance of unstated charitable purposes should be comparable to the terms of a written contract being put to one side as a sham. Yet, the approach is put forward as an alternative means of ascertaining a charity's purposes, seemingly without reference to the charity's constituting document.

With respect, such a search confuses the distinction between purposes and activities, and is not reconcilable with the orthodox approach, as described in cases such as Latimer CA and Foundation for Anti-Aging Research (see the discussion in McGregor-Lowndes 2020 at 8-10). Charities Services' approach also puts New Zealand out of step with comparable jurisdictions, such as Australia, Canada and England and Wales,, in direct contrast to the comments of the New Zealand Law Commission Te Aka Matua o te Ture (Law Commission) that departure from internationally-accepted trust law principles should occur only where justifiable based on

the New Zealand context, and then only with caution (New Zealand Law Commission, August 2013 at [2.43]). There is nothing unique about the New Zealand context that justifies New Zealand charities being so peculiarly restricted in their advocacy work. For New Zealand to be an international outlier in this regard raises particular difficulties given that charities are operating increasingly internationally. The net result raises the spectre of original concerns that the *Charities Act* would be used as a means for government to exercise political control of the New Zealand charitable sector.

Charities Services' approach has been described as complex, highly subjective and unworkable in practice (Siebert 2018), and is resulting in incoherency in New Zealand charities law (compare the conflicting approaches of Foundation for Anti-Aging Research on the one hand, and Family First HC 2 and Better Public Media on the other). It is also contributing to a fundamental loss of confidence in Charities Services itself. In the writer's view, the fact that this situation could occur, when the definition of charitable purpose was so clearly not intended to be changed, acutely demonstrates the impact of the lack of proper accountability mechanisms under the New Zealand Charities Act as currently framed, as discussed further below. As at the time of writing, many questions remain unresolved, despite recent and welcome charity-friendly decisions such as *Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General* [2020] NZCA 366 (CA) (at the time of writing subject to an application for leave to appeal to the Supreme Court) and *Greenpeace of New Zealand Incorporated v Charities Registration Board* [2020] NZHC 1999 (10 August 2020) (Mallon J), all of which underscores the need for a first principles post-implementation review of the legislation.

Part III: The review of the Charities Act

The Charities Act was introduced and passed during the third of three terms of a Labour-led Government. In 2008, a change of government saw a National minority government, with confidence and supply support from the right-wing classical liberal ACT party, the centrist United Future party, and the indigenous rights-based centre-left Māori party, ushered in. In an apparent acknowledgement of the indication given in 2004, a first principles review of the Charities Act was announced in November 2010, by then Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector, Hon Tariana Turia, then co-leader of the Māori Party, and a Minister outside Cabinet (Turia, 2010).

The review was due to be completed by 2015. But then, something changed: in May 2011, less than 6 years after the Charities Act had commenced and less than 3 years after the tax provisions (requiring registration to access the charitable income tax exemptions) had come into force, the Government announced, without consultation, that it would disestablish the Charities Commission and transfer its functions to the Department of Internal Affairs (DIA) (New Zealand Government, May 2011). The stated reason was that, in the 'current period of fiscal and economic restraint', the Government wished to reduce the number of government agencies as it seeks better value for money (Ryall, August 2011). Other stated reasons included reducing 'duplication of roles and back office functions' and improving the 'cohesion of frontline services'.

Although it is common for newly-elected National-led governments to undertake something of a 'quango-hunt', growing public controversy over the narrow approach taken by the Charities Commission to the definition of charitable purpose may in fact have been a driving factor (von Dadelszen 2011; Barker & Yesberg 2011).

The vehicle to effect this change, the Crown Entities Reform Bill 332-1, was introduced into Parliament in September 2011. In December 2011, Hon Jo Goodhew became the new Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector. In May/June 2012, the Crown Entities Reform Bill controversially passed by only one vote, despite the strong opposition of the charitable sector (McGregor-Lowndes & Wyatt: ch10). By 1 July 2012, the Charities Commission was disestablished.

The independence of the Charities Commission was fundamental to the original agreement with the charitable sector when the *Charities Act* was introduced in 2005 (House of Representatives, May 2012: 1). When the Charities Commission was disestablished, all of the accountability mechanisms provided by the *Crown Entities Act 2004*, such as a requirement to report annually against a statement of intent, were correspondingly removed. Charities Services is subject to almost no accountability mechanisms, beyond minimal passing reference in a 193-page DIA annual report (DIA 2019c) Charities Services prepares its own 'annual review', but of course such a document cannot provide meaningful accountability as it contains only the information Charities Services chooses to include. The Charities Registration Board was established to provide an independent check on Charities Services' decision-making, but lack of resourcing, a framework whereby Charities Services provides secretarial and administrative

support to the Board (*Charities Act*, s8(6)), and an oracular mindset on the part of Charities Services, have effectively neutralised the Board's ability to carry out this role.

Then, in November 2012, and again without consultation, the first principles review of the Charities Act was controversially cancelled (Goodhew 2012). It subsequently transpired that the government had instead decided, again without consultation, to review the 'integrity and coherence of charities-related tax concessions', which led ultimately to the introduction of the 'deregistration tax' (Income Tax Act 2007, ssHR 12 and CV 17) (Inland Revenue & Treasury September 2018: [20]). In the short period since its introduction in 2014, section HR 12 has been subject to deferral, wholesale replacement, and a comprehensive series of amendments to fix faults and correct errors such that it is now a reasonably complicated provision. This experience of constantly amending section HR 12 again illustrates the difficulties inherent in dealing with symptoms, rather than cause. The real question is why so many New Zealand charities are being deregistered due to changes in jurisprudential interpretation of the definition of charitable purpose. Further, instead of taking the time needed to complete a proper first principles post-implementation review, the section HR 12 experience is an example of the kneejerk reactions that are bedevilling this area of law, giving rise to complexity, cost, and strained relations, while doing nothing to resolve the underlying problem (see – Inland Revenue & the Treasury July 2013: [1.3], [5.22], [5.23]).

Relations with the charitable sector were further strained when, in October 2015, a Statutes Amendment Bill 71-1 was introduced into Parliament containing proposals to amend 28 Acts, including the *Charities Act*. The Bill received its first reading on 9 December 2015 and was referred to Select Committee, with submissions due by 29 January 2016. This timing is significant as many New Zealanders take an extended holiday over the summer Christmas break. By definition, a Statutes Amendment Bill should contain only minor, non-controversial and technical amendments that do not affect the substance of the law or people's rights and obligations (House of Representatives 2017: s305(2)). However, one of the amendments proposed by the 2015 Statutes Amendment Bill would have effectively removed charities' ability to appeal the vast majority of decisions made under the *Charities Act*. There was no notification to the charitable sector that such an amendment was proposed. Fortunately, the amendment was noticed by the charitable sector, which galvanised against it. Eventually, the Select Committee removed the proposed amendment from the Bill 'due to community concern'

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

(Charities Amendment Bill (71-2B): 2). It then became policy of the New Zealand Labour Party (the Labour Party) to:

'Consult with the community and voluntary sector on whether the disestablishment of the Charities Commission and transfer of functions back to the Department of Internal Affairs has resulted in effectiveness and improved services and information for the sector'

'Prioritise the long-promised review of the Charities Act that National abandoned, beginning with a first principles review of the legislation, including examining, updating and widening rather than narrowing the definition of charitable purposes.' (New Zealand Labour Party 2017: 5)

This was the platform on which the Labour Party entered the 2017 general election.

A few months following removal of the impugned amendment from the Statutes Amendment Bill, a new Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector was appointed: Hon Alfred Ngaro. In March 2017, during Alfred Ngaro's tenure as Minister, Charities Services convened a 'Sector User Group', subsequently renamed the 'Sector Group', intended to be a 'biannual meeting held by Charities Services where key members of the charities sector will be invited to tell us about their experiences and the issues and challenges they face' (Charities Services, March 2017). Approximately 25 organisations and individuals were chosen 'as they have comprehensive member networks, can reflect the collective view of their members and will be able to disseminate information through their regular communications'.

At the September 2017 general election, three terms of the National-led government were brought to an end by a minority coalition formed by the Labour Party with the nationalist and populist New Zealand First party, with confidence and supply support from the left-wing, environmentalist, social democratic Green Party. Surprisingly, the Labour Party spokesperson for the community and voluntary sector, and author of Labour Party policy in this area, Poto Williams, was not given the community and voluntary sector portfolio. In November 2017, the new Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector, Hon Peeni Henare, announced that a review of the Charities Act would take place (Henare, 2017).

The decision to conduct the long-awaited and much-needed review was very welcome. However, draft terms of reference for the review of the *Charities Act* circulated in January 2018 to Sector Group members, including the writer, for comment surprisingly did not follow Labour

Party policy; instead, an attenuated, 'substantive issues' review was proposed that would not go back to first principles. Key issues, such as consideration of the definition of charitable purpose, were specifically outside scope, despite issues relating to business activities and advocacy being specifically included. The Sector Group responded, democratically and collectively, requesting that the commitment to a first principles review be honoured.

As the New Zealand Law Society has noted (2019a, 2019b: [vi]), the issues involved in this area of law are complex, and their impact far-reaching; it would be more cost-effective, and prudent, in the long run to take the time needed to carry out a comprehensive review of the legislative framework, as has occurred with the Law Commission's reviews of the law of incorporated societies (Law Commission 2013a) and trusts (Law Commission 2013b). Despite this, the updated draft that was circulated in February 2018, and the terms of reference that were ultimately finalised on 24 May 2018, were substantively unchanged from the version the Sector Group members had, collectively and democratically, said they could not support.

This outcome does not appear to have been a function of compromise within a coalition government: to the contrary, it appears instead to have reflected a power imbalance between a new Minister and incumbent officials. Such power imbalance may also have impacted the selection of the nature of the review: responsibility for conducting the review was given to the policy group of the DIA. Charities Services, although technically separate, also resides in the DIA, giving rise to concern that the Department was effectively being tasked with reviewing itself. The review also became cast in terms of a 'modernisation' exercise (DIA 2019a), an odd description for a relatively recent Act, apparently designed to lower expectations about what such an attenuated review might achieve.

An attenuated review also represents a missed opportunity to review the wider statutory framework as it relates to charities, such as the outdated *Charitable Trusts Act 1957* (the *Charitable Trusts Act*). While the terms of reference for the review include the interface with the *Charitable Trusts Act* 'with the aim of better alignment' (DIA 2018a: 3), it seems unlikely this would extend to important charitable trust issues that appear to have been 'kicked for touch' to the long-promised review of the *Charities Act*: the *Trusts Act 2019*, finally passed into law on 30 July 2019 after almost 20 years' gestation, was originally intended to be followed by two further reviews of areas of trust law. The second stage was intended to be a 'charitable and purpose trusts review' that would have included a review of the *Charitable*

Trusts Act. However, as at the time of writing, the Law Commission website describes the Trusts review as 'closed' (Law Commission 2020). Accordingly, trust law issues specifically affecting charitable trusts, such as the rule against accumulations (New Zealand Law Commission 2013: [17.15]) and how best to unlock the balance sheets of philanthropy, remain unresolved and unlikely to be addressed by the *Charities Act* review.

The advocacy of the Sector Group was successful in some areas, however. For example, the Sector Group was instrumental in having the terms of reference amended to include a Core Reference Group (CRG). The purpose of the CRG is 'to contribute diverse charitable sector knowledge, skills and experience to the review...[to] enable DIA to draw on a range of views...[which] will lead to a more robust outcome' (DIA 2018b). Following a dual process, the CRG was established in August 2018 comprising 6 people: 3 (including the writer) elected by the Sector Group, and 3 appointed by the DIA (2018c). The CRG's role is to 'work with DIA to identify problems and suggest solutions' (DIA 2018d: 2). Following concerted efforts by the Sector Group and the CRG, another area of preliminary success related to timeframe. The review, including legislation, was originally scheduled to be completed before the 2020 general election, a timeframe which would have required all policy work to be completed within only a few months. The shortness of this timeframe gave rise to concern that policy work had effectively already been done (a 'here's one we prepared earlier' scenario) (Breen, 2019), reinforced by the fact that limited consultation was originally scheduled to take place over the Christmas period.

However, although it would have been preferable for a more reasonable timeframe to have been heeded from the outset, the fact that the timeframes were ultimately extended was appreciated. Release of the Department's discussion document was deferred to a post-Christmas issue date (DIA 2019a), additional community engagement meetings were held during a more civilised time slot of March and April 2019, and the timeframe for making submissions was extended to 31 May 2019. It should be noted that, although the CRG was given an opportunity to comment on drafts of the DIA's discussion document, for the most part the CRG's comments were not reflected in the final version. However, with philanthropic support, the writer and fellow CRG member, Dave Henderson, were able to attend, speak and listen at all 27 community engagement meetings held around the country during March and April 2019, with the aim of providing an alternative perspective to Government on the review.

The key message was that, in a democracy, one gets the leaders one deserves; one will arguably also get the legislation one deserves and it is important to make the most of this once-in-ageneration opportunity to try to improve the legal framework for charities by making a submission.

The writer would like to extend grateful thanks for this philanthropic support, and the support of Minister Hon Peeni Henare, without which this work would not have been possible. In December 2019, the DIA issued a high-level summary of the 363 submissions received (DIA 2019). The Department's summary noted the concern expressed by many submitters about a range of matters, including in particular the nature and scope of the review. Despite the many capacity constraints under which the charitable sector is labouring, the charitable sector had finally been given an opportunity to speak, and it had spoken.

In November 2017, contemporaneously with announcing a review of the *Charities Act*, the new government had also convened a 'Tax Working Group' (TWG). Chaired by Hon Sir Michael Cullen, who had been Minister of Finance during the passage of the original Charities Bill through Parliament and had originally promised the full first principles post implementation review of the *Charities Act*, the TWG was tasked with providing recommendations that would improve 'the structure, fairness, and balance' of the New Zealand tax system. Specifically, the TWG was tasked with considering whether New Zealand should introduce a capital gains tax (Robertson 2017).

The interplay of the two streams of work provides insights into charity regulation in New Zealand. While the terms of reference for the TWG are entirely silent on the topic of charities (Robertson 2017), charities were considered at one TWG meeting: the agenda for the 6 July 2018 TWG meeting revealed that 1 ¼ hours were to be allocated to a discussion about charities (including consideration of a proposal from a scholarship winner to remove the charitable exemptions from income tax) (TWG Secretariat 2018a). TWG secretariat officials prepared a background paper for the July 2018 meeting, entitled 'Charities and the not-for-profit sector' (the background paper) (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018). The background paper focused on what officials described as 'two key policy matters': donations concessions available to private foundations, and the business income of charities (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 5-6). There does not appear to have been any consultation with the charitable sector in the preparation of this background paper, or in the selection of these two issues as 'key'.

The background paper did contain a brief table of seven other issues that might be considered, most of which focused on restricting tax privileges to registered charities only, or removing them altogether (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 20-21). The one exception that might be considered 'charity-friendly' relates to the refundability of imputation credits (broadly the New Zealand equivalent of Australian franking credits). However, the background paper dismisses this issue as having a 'material fiscal cost', even though it does not provide any analysis of what that cost might be, or how it might compare with the associated benefits (such as encouraging New Zealand charities to invest in New Zealand companies).

Of the two suggested 'key policy matters', the issue of tax exemption for the business income of charities has been considered before. In 1998, the Committee of Tax Experts recommended a review of the tax treatment of charities that engage in 'commercial activities unrelated to their purposes', on the basis that the ability of charities to earn business income free of tax gave them a 'competitive advantage' over other business operators (McKay 1998: 84-85). A review of the tax treatment of charities subsequently took place, but reached a different conclusion. In June 2001, Inland Revenue released a discussion document and concluded that the business income tax exemption for charities did not result in a competitive advantage: 'an income tax-exempt entity cannot rationally afford to lower its profit margins on a trading activity, as alternative forms of investment would then become relatively more attractive' (Cullen 2001a: 43). On this basis, a charity will charge the same price as its competitors: the tax exemption merely translates to higher profits, and therefore higher potential distributions to the relevant charitable purpose.

In other words, in principle, and subject to the general law, it should not matter how a charity raises its funds, provided all funds are ultimately destined for charitable purposes (which must be the case, by definition, for a charity). The 2001 discussion document noted that, in the short term, a large-scale tax-exempt entity could try to use its 'deeper pockets' to eliminate competitors by temporarily lowering its prices, but concluded there is 'no real evidence to suggest that this is occurring' (Cullen 2001a: 43). Also considered was whether the benefit of tax-free gains might be captured by individuals involved in the trading operation. However, these concerns were rightly put to one side (Cullen 2001a: 44); apart from being inherently consistent with charitable purpose, they would render the charity ineligible for the business income tax exemption under the 'control' provisions of what is now section CW 42(1)(c) and

(5)-(9) of the *Income Tax Act 2007*. Instead, the 2001 discussion document suggested that the real competitive advantage businesses run by charities have over their competitors would be if the charity accumulated its tax-free profits back into the capital structure of its trading activities, thereby enabling it to 'expand more rapidly than its competitors' through a faster accumulation of funds (Cullen 2001a: 43). Conceptually, the same argument might apply to other forms of income earned by charities, and the 2001 discussion document sought feedback on whether any rules to target the accumulation of tax-free profits should apply to investment as well as trading activity (Cullen 2001a: 45).

Having analysed that a competitive advantage for charities might arise from the ability to grow a business faster by accumulating pre-tax funds, the 2001 discussion document then put forward a number of proposals for addressing it. One proposal was for accumulations to be monitored; instead of imposing any specific limits on accumulations, the discussion document suggested that an accumulation of funds could lead to questions from the monitoring authority as to 'why this was happening' (Cullen 2001a: 44). At that time, there was no process for monitoring whether 'entities are pursuing the charitable purposes for which they were set up' (Cullen 2001a: 33), other than random Inland Revenue audits and the general powers of the Attorney-General to inquire into charities (*Charitable Trusts Act 1957*, s58).

Both of these processes were hampered by a systemic lack of information about charities, one of the key issues the *Charities Act* regime was intended to address (Ashton 2002: 21–22; Russell 1989: 10, 21, 63 & 67; Cullen 2001a: 19 and [7.5]; Foundation for Anti-Aging Research at [88]; McGregor-Lowndes & Wyatt 2017: ch 10; *Charities Act*, s 10(h)). In the context of charitable businesses, it was 'not always clear whether profits of commercial operations carried on by, or owned by charities are distributed to the charitable purposes for which the entity was established' (Cullen 2001a: 34). In other words, the discussion document itself identified that issues of possibly-excessive accumulations arising from business activity could be addressed by simply asking the charity to demonstrate how the accumulations were in the best interests of its charitable purposes. Failure to be able to do so may reveal a breach of duty to act in accordance with the charity's constituting document, including its stated charitable purposes (*Trusts Act 2019*, ss24 and 26; Exposure Draft Incorporated Societies Bill, cl50; *Companies Act 1993*, s134).

Such a monitoring approach should be facilitated now that the Charities Act 2005, and subsequent 2013 financial reporting reforms, have ushered in a comprehensive, tiered, and bespoke disclosure and accountability framework for New Zealand charities (Charities Act 2005, ss41 & 42A; External Reporting Board 2015): New Zealand arguably now has the most comprehensive set of financial reporting requirements for charities anywhere in the world. However, perhaps because the 2001 discussion document preceded these reforms, it did not progress the recommendation about monitoring. Instead, the 2001 discussion document recommended that the trading operations owned by charities be subject to tax in the same way as other businesses, but with an 'unlimited deduction for distributions made to the relevant charitable purposes' (Cullen 2001a: 44). In other words, the proposal was for undistributed trading operation surpluses to be prevented from accessing tax exemption (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 18). Noting that such a rule could be circumvented by distributing and then immediately reinvesting funds, the 2001 discussion document suggested that such an action would 'show up in the accounts of the charity' which could 'raise questions as to whether the charity was as a matter of fact pursuing its charitable objectives' (Cullen 2001a: 44). The 2001 discussion document also recommended a turnover threshold, so that small-scale trading activities would not be taxed, and sought feedback on what threshold might be appropriate (Cullen 2001a: 44). Feedback was also sought on whether an alternative approach of 'limits on accumulations of profits of businesses run by charities' would be preferable (Cullen 2001a: 45).

As at the date of writing, none of the above recommendations have been implemented. An amendment has been made to section DB 41 of the *Income Tax Act 2007* from 1 April 2008 allowing companies an unlimited deduction, up to the level of their net income, for donations made to charities and other qualifying 'donee organisations' (as defined in section LD 3(2) of the *Income Tax Act 2007*). This amendment reflected the confidence and supply agreement of the 2005 Labour-led minority government with United Future to 'lift the cap on donee status', a change intended to 'encourage philanthropy' and 'remove tax barriers to even more generous contributions to charities' (Cullen & Dunne 2006: Foreword, and the Taxation (Annual Rates, Business Taxation, KiwiSaver, and Remedial Matters) Bill 2007: explanatory note 2). In the intervening years, this sentiment somehow appears to have become lost. Nevertheless, the legal position in New Zealand remains that charities may operate a business, whether related or

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

unrelated to their charitable purposes, and with no limit on size, so long as any profit is ultimately destined for charitable purposes (a 'destination of funds' test).

Unlike Australia, New Zealand makes a distinction between business and non-business income: the income derived by a registered charity from a business is only exempt from income tax if the additional requirements of section CW 42 of the *Income Tax Act 2007* are met (namely: the charity carries out its purposes in New Zealand; no person with some control over the business is able to direct or divert, to their own advantage, an amount derived from the business; and the entity is not (with limited exception) a 'council-controlled organisation'). For completeness, it should be noted that fringe benefit tax concessions for charities do not apply if the relevant benefits are provided in connection with an 'unrelated business' (*Income Tax Act 2007*, sCX 25(1)(b)). However, there is otherwise no 'unrelated business income tax' in New Zealand.

The question of whether business income derived by charities should continue to be tax exempt was described by officials as the 'most common charity-related theme addressed by submitters' to the Tax Working Group (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 16). Of 11 submissions on the topic, seven were in favour of removing the exemption, and four were not, with the latter pointing to matters such as (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 29-30):

- (i) The flow-on benefits to society from charities running businesses, such as the provision of employment opportunities.
- (ii) The increasing importance of charities diversifying their income streams in a climate of increasing costs, and increasing demand for services, but increasing difficulty in obtaining funding.
- (iii) The fact that the income tax exemption offsets the disadvantages that charities face in accessing capital (due to their inability to provide private returns to investors like a for-profit entity can).
- (iv) The inappropriate nature of firm rules on distribution, as charitable businesses need the flexibility of making their own decisions about the prudent retention of capital, particularly if the business is in a sector which experiences years of volatile profitability.
- (v) The lack of evidence of competitive advantage, as indicated by recent reviews of the tax system in Australia (Henry 2009).

Nevertheless, the minutes of the July 2018 meeting describe the 'real question' as whether the charity is distributing funds for charitable purpose (that is, whether there is excess accumulation) rather than being concerned with the competitive advantage argument (TWG Secretariat 2018b: 5). In reaching this conclusion, no mention was made of the impact of the new financial reporting rules for registered charities, or the possibility of addressing any issue of perceived excessive accumulations by monitoring under the rules that already exist.

According to the minutes of the July 2018 TWG meeting, most of the discussion relating to charities centred around private foundations (TWG Secretariat 2018b: 4-5). Officials' background paper had suggested it may be 'useful to explore' whether the New Zealand tax system would benefit from a distinction between privately-controlled foundations and other charitable organisations, referring to specific rules 'as occurs overseas' relating to 'reasonable distribution requirements and restrictions on the extent of investments in related-party businesses' (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 16). The minimum annual distribution requirements imposed on private ancillary funds in Australia and private foundations in Canada were specifically mentioned. The backdrop to this suggestion appears to be the sale of a large childcare business undertaking to a charity (Nippert 2020). In this case, the business had been independently valued at \$332 million and, as the purchasing charity had no start-up funds of its own, the sale was effected by loan, to be repaid interest-free at the rate of \$20 million per year. The sale of shares did not include the physical childcare centres themselves. Accordingly, ongoing arm's length rental payments are made by the charity back to the vendor as owner of the underlying property. While the provision of childcare is itself charitable as for the advancement of education, distributions to independent charities of approximately \$2.5 million per annum are also made (Nippert, 2020).

In principle, the sale is remarkable only by the size of the figures involved. There is no reason in principle why a charity should not purchase a successful business to carry out its charitable purposes. The absence of a capital gains tax in New Zealand means that the sale of the business was unlikely to have attracted income tax in New Zealand no matter who the purchaser. Rental payments that are calculated at arm's length should not be material even if paid to a related party. However, there is no indication from the minutes of the July 2018 meeting that any of these factors were considered. The minutes simply record that 'more thinking' is needed on the treatment of private foundations (TWG Secretariat 2018b: 5).

There similarly does not appear to have been any analysis of whether the rules regarding private foundations in other jurisdictions are working, or the context in which they sit. For example, minimum distribution requirements may in fact act as a target and therefore a barrier to higher levels of distribution (Walker 2020). In addition, while Australia has specific rules for public and private ancillary funds, unlike New Zealand, it also allows refundability of franking credits (the equivalent of imputation credits) (Australian Tax Office 2017). Many other jurisdictions also enable taxpayers to claim tax relief for donations of non-cash items, such as shares, art work or other property (as recently discussed in *Commissioner of Inland Revenue v Roberts* [2019] NZCA 654 (17 December 2019) at [58]-[66]). If minimum distribution requirements were to be imposed in New Zealand, consideration should be given to equivalent offsetting concessions.

In addition, New Zealand has comprehensive financial reporting rules for charities that arguably provide an elegant solution to many issues that may not (yet) be available in other jurisdictions. It would be a mistake for New Zealand to chart a course through comparable jurisdictions selecting only increasingly restrictive measures to impose on charities, out of context, and in a piecemeal fashion. It would also be a mistake for New Zealand to overlook the extent to which any perceived issues might be addressed by simply asking the charity to demonstrate how any particular accumulation, investment or other activity was in the best interests of the charity's charitable purposes. There may be any number of legitimate reasons why a charity may be accumulating funds, particularly for charities that take a long-term or inter-generational perspective.

Although the minutes noted that 'more thinking' on the topic was required, decisions on increasing regulation in this area appear nevertheless to have been made, as discussed further below. The updated terms of reference for the review of the *Charities Act*, which had been finalised only a few weeks prior to the July 2018 TWG meeting, referred to officials 'working closely' with officials supporting the TWG, with any interim findings of the TWG relevant to charities to be considered as part of the *Charities Act* review (DIA 2018a: 3). The charities review terms of reference also include consideration of the 'powers' of the agency responsible for administering the *Charities Act*. TWG officials considered this 'could include powers to address excessive accumulation' (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 38). This sentiment flowed through into the minutes of the July 2018 TWG meeting, which record that the *Charities*

Act review 'may consider' (TWG Secretariat 2018b: 4–5): 'How to address excessive accumulation (e.g. requiring a minimum distribution); and/or Whether businesses that fund charities (that do not undertake charitable activities themselves) should be able to register as charities.' The TWG concluded that (TWG Secretariat 2018b: 5): (i) for accumulations, the 'default setting should be distribution'; (ii) the rules for deregistered charities need to be 'more robust'; (iii) for private foundations, 'need to require distributions particularly when the capital has received a tax benefit going in'; and (iv) for GST, 'should charities be getting GST back?'.

These conclusions flowed through directly into the TWG's interim report, issued in September 2018 (TWG 2018: 23), and its final report, issued in February 2019 (TWG 2019: 103-104), with the above issues being identified as 'requiring further work' with no apparent further scrutiny. The interim report describes the charitable sector as 'using what would otherwise be tax revenue', and replacing 'Government decision-making and policy on how best to bolster our social, human and natural capital' (TWG 2018: 119). In other words, of the TWG's 16 months of deliberations, the tax treatment of charities received approximately one hour of formal consideration; the focus of this consideration appears to have been on the tax treatment of private foundations, without any apparent analysis of the mechanisms already in place to address any perceived issues raised. Issues of deregistration and restricting GST concessions were elevated to recommendations for reform with almost no apparent consideration at all (the issue of restricting GST concessions is given merely two sentences (Inland Revenue & the Treasury 2018: 20)).

The focus of the Tax Working Group was the introduction of a capital gains tax. Yet, on 17 April 2019, Prime Minister Jacinda Ardern announced that plans to impose a capital gains tax had been abandoned (Pullar-Strecker 2019). In the TWG's deliberations, charities appear to have been treated as an afterthought. Even though the charitable sector could assist government with every aspect of what it wants to achieve, in areas such as health, education, the environment, poverty reduction, social housing, and so forth, most likely more efficiently and effectively than government, the analysis does not appear even to consider how the tax system might better support charities or enable their work. The charitable sector instead appears to have been misconceived as an underfunded service delivery arm of government. The idea that the 'fiscal costs' of the charitable tax privileges might be outweighed many times over by the individual and collective benefits provided by charities to New Zealand society, particularly

in respect of social capital, appears to have been entirely overlooked: instead of 'replacing Government decision-making', the charitable tax privileges arguably localise and democratise the provision of support to parts of society that Government might not otherwise reach. The opportunity to create an overarching framework or vision for maximising the potential of the charitable sector has sadly been missed.

Yet, the TWG's conclusions appear now to have overtaken the Charities Act review, as discussed further below.

Both the DIA's discussion document for the review of the *Charities Act* (DIA 2019a), and the TWG's final report, were issued in February 2019. A few months' later, in August 2019, the tax policy work programme was updated to reflect almost verbatim the conclusions of the TWG discussed above. Also imported without apparent critical examination was the comment that 'Government periodically reviews the charitable sector's use of what would otherwise be tax revenue, to verify that intended social outcomes are being achieved'. The specific tax policy issues now listed in the work programme are: (i) accumulation '(will require coordination with DIA)'; (ii) business activity for significant charities '(coordination with DIA)'; (iii) deregistration tax; and (iv) GST and not-for-profits (NFP) (Inland Revenue 2019).

The updated tax policy work programme also lists some 'other sector tax matters that could potentially be subject to policy change and sector consultation', including: imputation credit refundability; tax rules for mutuals/the \$1,000 NFP deduction threshold; rules for donating trading stock; removing out-of-date concessions; and resetting 15one concessions and clarifying the approach to social enterprises. The entry adds that Inland Revenue has 'consulted with DIA on these proposals and will be working with DIA on any policy or regulatory impacts associated with these initiatives. This work is on-going' (Inland Revenue 2019).

The updated tax policy work programme adds that the charities project will:

'include a report to Ministers before the end of 2019 to address recommendations of the TWG. It will take into account DIA's modernisation review of the Charities Act. On current timeframes, it is anticipated that high level policy decisions arising from DIA's review will be made by Cabinet before the end of 2019, with detailed policy decisions to follow in the first half of 2020' (Inland Revenue 2019: 3)

In other words, the four issues put forward by the Tax Working Group in its final report are now specific items on the tax policy work programme. While the entry relating to imputation credit refundability is welcome, new items to 'reset' or 'remove' charities' concessions appear ominous. In addition, while the timeframes for the review of the *Charities Act* have slipped, the writer's request under the *Official Information Act 1982* for information about the 2019 report to Ministers was declined on the basis that its information was 'under active consideration' (Nash 2020).

To make matters worse, the new tax policy work programme also includes an entry entitled 'Tax exemptions', which compares income earned by charities and businesses run for charitable purposes, with state enterprises and council-controlled companies (both of which are subject to income tax). The entry states that the review will 'consider entity tax exemptions with a view to providing more consistency' and will consider: (i) how different entities fit within the Government's public policy purposes; (ii) the compliance costs and benefits; (iii) fiscal implications; and (iv) the impact of particular exemptions on competitive neutrality with the private sector (Inland Revenue August 2019).

In other words, charities appear to be being compared to state enterprises, and their income tax exemptions specifically considered for removal.

Meanwhile, the review of the *Charities Act* was progressing. In July 2019, a Cabinet reshuffle saw the appointment of Hon Poto Williams as Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector. As author of Labour Party policy in this area, it was hoped the new Minister might honour the commitment to undertake a first principles review. Early indications were promising but, sadly, by February 2020, it was apparent that the new Minister had been persuaded by officials to 'continue the work Hon Peeni Henare started' (Meeting with Minister Williams, 20 February 2020).

From the writer's experience as a member of the Sector Group and the CRG, the review of the Charities Act appears to have been captured by DIA officials. It appears to have been Charities Services' intention to use the review to codify some of its more controversial areas of administrative practice, particularly in the areas of business activities and advocacy.

In relation to business activities, Charities Services currently requires an organisation with an 'unrelated business' to show that the business is capable of making a profit to go to charitable

purposes; and that the organisation does not provide any resources to its business operations at less than market rates (Charities Services October 2017: 3). A requirement to demonstrate to Charities Services' satisfaction that a business is 'capable of making a profit' may be particularly difficult for a start-up social enterprise, structured as a charity, to meet. Despite requests by the Core Reference Group, the legal basis for this approach has never been articulated. It is not clear why Charities Services eschews the approach suggested in the 2001 discussion document of simply asking charities to demonstrate how any particular activity is in the best interests of its charitable purposes. If the charity cannot do so, it is arguably using funds unlawfully, which constitutes 'serious wrongdoing' under section 4 of the Charities Act. As discussed above, providing the monitoring authority with the information necessary to ask and answer such a question was a key issue the *Charities Act* regime was intended to address. At Charities Services' insistence, the terms of reference for the review of the Charities Act include: 'the extent to which businesses that solely raise funds for registered charities can register under the [Charities] Act' (DIA 2018a: 2). In turn, the DIA's discussion document specifically asks 'what should be the registration requirements for unrelated businesses?' (DIA 2019a: 43).

It appears the underlying intention may have been for the review to create the legal basis for Charities Services' current approach that so far has been lacking, underscoring the significance of the attenuated scope, timeframe and consultation originally allocated for the review, and the significance of the charitable sector's response. The DIA's discussion document also asks whether charities should be required to be 'more transparent about their strategy for accumulating funds and spending funds on charitable purposes?', noting that this issue has been 'picked up' from the TWG: 'Holding accumulated funds without clear explanation may cause public concern that a charity is not using its funds for charitable purposes. For example, concerns have been raised regarding charities with businesses that apply very little or no funds to charitable purposes. Accumulating funds in a business or other investment over a long time can increase the risk that charitable funds are lost if it fails.' (DIA 2019a: 6, 15 & 21–22)

The default assumption appears to be that more 'rules' are required. However, the financial reporting rules already require registered charities to disclose the nature and purpose of their reserves (External Reporting Board 2015 Tier 1 & 2: [95] & [98]; Tier 3 [A139] & [A 196]; DIA 2019a: 21). While smaller charities do not need to report on accumulated funds, they must

report on the amount of cash and other resources they have (External Reporting Board 2018: s6). If readers of a charity's financial information are not satisfied with the reasons given, they then have an informed basis on which to make decisions about whether to support the charity. It is unquestionably good governance to have a reserves policy, and to communicate with stakeholders about why reserves might be being accumulated. However, it is not immediately obvious that formally requiring a reserves policy is either necessary or desirable, or preferable to an educative approach such as that used in Australia (ACNC 2016). It would be a mistake to increase regulation for regulation's sake.

It also appears to have been Charities Services' intention to use the review to codify its administrative practice in relation to advocacy. This explains the unusual wording of the terms of reference with respect to advocacy: 'the extent to which registered charities can advocate for their causes and points of view' [sic] (DIA 2018a: 2). It also explains why advocacy (and business activities) were included within the scope of the review, despite the definition of charitable purpose being specifically excluded. The issue of advocacy by charities was one of the key issues commented on by those who made submissions to the review (DIA 2019b: 2). Many referred to the complex and subjective approach adopted by Charities Services, and pointed out that charities were consciously limiting their advocacy for fear of losing their charitable registration. In the interests of democracy, CRG members fought hard to ensure that charities' ability to advocate for their charitable purposes was not extirpated by the review. The mood of optimism following release of the summary of submissions in December 2019 was short-lived, however.

In February 2020, CRG members received an email from the DIA Policy Group, advising of initial focus on three topics: (i) charities' business activities; (ii) accumulation of funds; and (iii) reporting requirements for small charities.

Charities Services' February 2020 newsletter added that the policy group will 'continue to involve the charitable sector – specifically the Core Reference Group – as work on these issues progresses over the next few months. No legislative change will be made this Parliamentary term' (DIA, February 2020). A CRG meeting was planned for March 2020. No consultation had been undertaken with the CRG prior to announcing that these three issues would be fast-tracked. While the issue of reporting requirements for small charities was a key theme of the community engagement meetings, charities' business activities and accumulation of funds

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

appear to have been taken directly from the report of the Tax Working Group and the tax policy work programme. It is surprising that these issues would be fast-tracked ahead of key issues of concern for the charitable sector, such as advocacy, appeals and agency structure.

Of course, a global coronavirus pandemic intervened, and on 13 May 2020 (the day before the 2020 Budget), the writer and other members of the CRG and Sector Group received a further email from the DIA policy group, advising that, due to COVID-19, the Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector had paused work on Modernising the Charities Act for six months (that is, until after the general election). Surprisingly, the development was not mentioned on any of DIA's websites, nor does there appear to have been an official announcement.

In principle, a pause may be a helpful development, as the government's review was controversially narrow in nature and scope. However, a key risk is whether work on the government review of the *Charities Act* may be overtaken by tax policy work that appears reasonably hostile to charities. Having originally been captured by DIA officials, the review of the *Charities Act* may now have been captured by IRD. Sadly, charities appear to have been something of a government 'blind spot': as government searches for revenue in a COVID-affected environment, without a capital gains tax, the value and importance of the charitable sector to New Zealand, and what we might gain as a country by supporting and enabling, rather than restricting, their work, appears to be consistently overlooked.

Nevertheless, there may again be cause for optimism. Following the general election on 17 October 2020, the governing Labour Party won enough seats to govern alone, the first time that a party has done do since the mixed-member proportional representation system was introduced in 1996. On 2 November 2020, it was announced that Priyanca Radhakrishnan would be appointed Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector. In her speech to Charities Services' annual meeting on 1 December 2020, the new Minister announced that she was discussing the review of the *Charities Act* with her officials and that progress on the review 'will continue', adding that it was incredibly important work, and that she wants to give it the 'respect and due diligence it requires and to proceed with care'.

Part IV: Where to from here

Critical to maximising the chances of being able to 'build back better', in the writer's view, is getting the legal framework for charities right: charities are currently labouring under a *Charities Act* regime that, in so many ways, acts as a barrier to their ability to carry out their work. Rather than forcing them to navigate an increasingly complex labyrinth of rules, much could be gained by developing a legal framework that is principles-based, and that focuses on and amplifies charities' strengths. In addition, 15 years of piecemeal reform that is replete with unintended consequences have demonstrated the need for a clear overarching vision or strategy for the charitable sector, perhaps along the lines of the civil society strategy adopted in England and Wales (HM Government 2018).

Structure and accountability of the agency that administers the *Charities Act* is critical. In 2002, the Working Party on Registration, Reporting and Monitoring of Charities concluded that having the charities registration function carried out by a government department would be 'considerably inferior to a Charities Commission': a government department would not have 'sufficient status and independence to gain the support and sense of ownership required from the charitable sector', and would also fail to recognise the 'independence and importance' of the charitable sector. The Working Party concluded that these issues would 'impact significantly' on its ability to carry out its role (Ashton, February 2002: 11-12). These conclusions have been borne out by public consultation and submissions on the review of the Charities Act. Recent decisions have also amplified calls to re-establish an independent body to make registration decisions (Stuff 2020). Proper accountability measures are also critical: lack of meaningful accountability impacts on the Charities Services' culture, which sadly has become one of increasing arrogance with respect to the legal parameters around decisionmaking. This in turn raises concerning implications regarding the rule of law. Providing for better structural accountability would reduce costs, for both charities and Charities Services, by encouraging better decision-making.

But to achieve all of this, the charitable sector in all its diversity needs to come together, no small ask in a COVID-affected environment of increasing costs, increasing compliance, increasing demand for services, but diminishing revenue streams and decreasing volunteers. Many charities are under pressure. But to achieve much needed reform, charities need a stronger collective voice, and a means to speak directly to power. More fundamentally, there needs to be a comprehensive, first principles, post-implementation review of the *Charities Act*

2005, and it needs to be carried out independently of the Department of Internal Affairs and in consultation with the charitable sector. Perhaps the impact of the pandemic, and an increased level of awareness of the importance of supporting the work of charities, together with the timing of the upcoming general election, might provide a window of opportunity for charities to achieve some of the reform that is so badly needed.

Post script

The writer is honoured to be the recipient of the 2019 New Zealand Law Foundation International Research Fellowship, undertaking research into the question 'What does a world-leading framework of charities law look like?', with a report due by September 2021. The purpose of the Fellowship is to enable research to be undertaken into the charities law frameworks of jurisdictions comparable to New Zealand, as well as to critically examine how the current regime is working in New Zealand, with a view to providing an independent perspective on what a world-leading framework of charities law might look like. The intention is for this information then to be fed into the government's current review process, to assist with the development of law reform in this important area. For more information, please visit www.charitieslawreform.nz.

REFERENCES

- Ashton, S. (2002) Report by the Working Party on Registration, Reporting and Monitoring of Charities.
- Ashton, S. (2002) Second Report by the Working Party on Registration, Reporting and Monitoring of Charities.
- Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission [ACNC] (2016) Charity Reserves: Financial Stability and Sustainability. Available at: https://www.acnc.gov.au/tools/factsheets/charity-reserves-financial-stability-and-sustainability
- Australian Tax Office (2017) Franking Credits. Available at: https://www.ato.gov.au/Non-profit/Your-organisation/Investments,-credits-and-refunds/Franking-credits/
- Barker S. (2020) Advocacy by Charities: What is the question? *Canadian Journal of Comparative and Contemporary Law*, 6(1): 1-57.
- Barker, S. & Ng, R. (2016) Social Housing: The canary in the coalmine. *Fundraising New Zealand Magazine*.
- Barker, S. & Yesberg, K. (2011) Charities Act Review, 8 April. NZ Lawyer magazine.

- Breen, O. (2019) Keynote Address to the Conference Organised by the Charity Law Association of Australia and New Zealand. Available at: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=I667wbas9hM
- Charities Services (2017) Letter of Invitation to the Writer, 30 March.
- Charities Services (2017) Case Report: International Centre for Entrepreneurship Foundation. Available at: https://www.charities.govt.nz/assets/Uploads/Icehouse-Review-final2.pdf
- Charities Services (2019) Memo to the Charities Board, 31 July.
- Charities Services (2020) Newsletter. Available at: http://createsend.com/t/j-6E226D0DF69B5FC62540EF23F30FEDED.
- Cullen, M. (2001a) *Tax and Charities: A government discussion document*. Policy Advice Division, Inland Revenue Department:

 https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2001-dd-charities.pdf
- Cullen, M. (2001b) *Taxation of Māori Organisations and Charities: A government discussion document.* Policy Advice Division, Inland Revenue Department. Available at: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2001-dd-maoriorganisations.pdf
- Cullen, M. & Dunne, P. (2006) Tax Incentives for Giving To Charities and Other Non-Profit Organisations. Wellington, NZ: *Inland Revenue Department*: Available at: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/publications/2006-dd-charitable-giving/overview.
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2018a) Terms of Reference to Review the Charities Act 2005. Available at:

 https://www.dia.govt.nz/vwluResources/CharitiesReviewTOR/\$file/CharitiesReviewTOR.pdf
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2018b) Information sheet: membership of Core Reference Group, provided to prospective group members
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2018c) Core Reference Group. Available at: https://www.dia.govt.nz/charitiesact#CRG
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2018d) Charities Act Review: Questions and answers. Available at:: https://www.dia.govt.nz/vwluResources/CharitiesReview-FAQ-PDF/\$file/Q-and-A-240518.pdf
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2019a) Modernising the Charities Act 2005:

 Discussion document. Available at:

 https://www.dia.govt.nz//diawebsite.nsf/Files/Charities-Modernising-the-Charities-Act-Discussion-Document-April2019/\$file/Charities-Modernising-the-Charities-Act-Discussion-Document-April2019.pdf
- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2019b) Modernising the Charities Act: Summary of submissions. Available at::

 https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Modernising-the-Charities-Act-2005-Summary-of-submissions/\$file/Modernising-the-Charities-Act-2005-Summary-of-submissions.pdf

- Department of Internal Affairs [DIA] (2019c) Annual Report. Available at: https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Annual-Report-2019/\$file/Annual-Report-2019-Final-Audit-approved.pdf
- External Reporting Board (2015) Non-for-profit Atandards. Available at: https://www.xrb.govt.nz/accounting-standards/not-for-profit/
- External Reporting Board (2018) Tier 4 Standard. Available at: file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/PBE-SFR-C-NFP-Jan19-200236.1%20(6).pdf.
- Fox, M. (2014) Housing Charity Hit by Tax Bill. Stuff, 28 May. Available at: http://www.stuff.co.nz/national/10093399/Housing-charity-hit-by-tax-bill
- Goodhew J. (2012) No Review of the Charities Act At This Time. Beehive, 17 November. Available at: https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/no-review-charities-act-time
- Henare, P. (2017) Government Wants to Be Able to Punish Uncooperative Charities. RadioNZ, 23 November. Available at: https://www.radionz.co.nz/national/programmes/checkpoint/audio/2018622826/gove rnment-wants-to-be-able-to-punish-uncooperative-charities
- Henry, K. (2009) Australia's Future Tax System Review: Report to the Treasurer. Available at: https://treasury.gov.au/sites/default/files/2019 10/afts_final_report_part_1_consolidated.pdf
- HM Government (2018) Civil Society Strategy: Building a future that works for everyone. Available at: https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm ent_data/file/732765/Civil_Society_Strategy_-

_building_a_future_that_works_for_everyone.pdf

- House of Representatives (2012) Supplementary Order Paper No 32: Crown Entities Reform Bill. Available at:
 - file:///C:/Users/User/Downloads/Supplementary%20Order%20Paper%20(26).pdf
- House of Representatives (2017) Standing Orders. Available at: https://www.parliament.nz/en/pb/parliamentary-rules/standing-orders-2017-bychapter/chapter-5-legislative-procedures/
- Hutchinson, C.P. (1979) Property Law Reform and Equity Committee Report on the Charitable Trusts Act 1957. Property Law and Equity Reform Committee.
- Inland Revenue (2015a) Taxation: Annual rates for 2015-16, Research and Development and Remedial Matters Bill. Inland Revenue Department. Available at: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2015-commentary-arrdrm.pdf
- Inland Revenue (2015b) Regulatory Impact Assessment: Supplementary Order Paper No 129. Taxation (Annual Rates for 2015-16, Research and Development, and Remedial *Matters) Bill: Implementing the tax provisions for community housing entities.* Inland Revenue Department. Available at: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/publications/2015-ris-sop-129-arrdrm-

bill/implementing-tax-provisions-community-housing-entities

Inland Revenue (2019) Government tax policy work programme 2019 - 20: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/work-programme#charities

- Inland Revenue & the Treasury (2013) Clarifying the tax consequences for deregistered charities: an officials' issues paper:

 https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2013-ip-clarifying-tax-consequences-deregistered-charities_0.pdf
- Inland Revenue & the Treasury (2018) Charities and the not-for-profit sector: Background Paper for Session 13 of the Tax Working Group:

 https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/twg-bg-3996875-charities-and-the-not-for-profit-sector.html.
- Jackson, P. (2015) Waiting Game for He Korowai. *Northland Age, NZ Herald*, 29 September. Available at: https://www.nzherald.co.nz/northland-age/news/article.cfm?c_id=1503402&objectid=1152066
- McGregor-Lowndes, M. & Wyatt, B. (2017) *Regulating Charities: The inside story*. New York: Routledge
- McGregor-Lowndes, M & Frances, H. (2020) *ACPNS Legal Case Notes Series: 2020-115 Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General*. Available at:

 https://eprints.qut.edu.au/203879/1/2020_115 Family First New Zealand v Attorn

 ey-General_2020_NZCA_366.pdf.
- McKay, I. (1998) Report to the Treasurer and Minister of Finance by a Committee of Experts on Tax Compliance. Available at: https://taxpolicy.ird.govt.nz/sites/default/files/1998-other-tax-compliance.pdf
- Mercer, T. (2019) Report of the Special Senate Committee on the Charitable Sector Catalyst for Change: A roadmap to a stronger charitable sector. Available at: https://sencanada.ca/content/sen/committee/421/CSSB/Reports/CSSB_Report_Final_e.pdf
- Nash, S. (2020) Minister of Revenue Letter to Tessa Vincent, 22 June.
- New Zealand Government (2011) Press Release, 31 May: Government reviews more state agencies. Available at:

 https://www.scoop.co.nz/stories/PA1105/S00611/government-reviews-more-state-agencies.htm
- New Zealand Labour Party (2017) Manifesto: Community and voluntary sector
- New Zealand Law Commission (2013a) Te Aka Matua o te Ture Report 126: A new act for incorporated societies. New Zealand Law Commission.
- New Zealand Law Commission (2013b) Te Aka Matua o te Ture. 2013 Report 130: Review of the law of trusts. New Zealand Law Commission.
- New Zealand Law Commission (2020) Te Aka Matua o te Ture Law of Trusts Project Overview: https://www.lawcom.govt.nz/our-projects/law-trusts.
- New Zealand Law Society (2019a) Letter to Hon Peeni Henare, Minister for the Community and Voluntary Sector, 4 February
- New Zealand Law Society (2019b) Submission to the Charities Act Review Modernising the Charities Act 2005. Available at:

 https://www.dia.govt.nz/diawebsite.nsf/Files/Charities-Act-submissions-2019/\$file/Submissions-Part-8-N-to-O.pdf

- New Zealand Parliament (2005) Parliamentary Debates. Hansard 47-1, 625.
- Nippert M. (2020) Kidicorp's Metamorphosis to Best Start Educare Raises Tax Questions.

 NZ Herald, 11 July. Available at:

 https://www.nzbarold.co.gr/hysiness/pays/article.efm?o.id.2%abiactid.12246028
 - https://www.nzherald.co.nz/business/news/article.cfm?c_id=3&objectid=12346028
- Pullar-Strecker T. (2019) Capital Gains Tax Abandoned by Government. *Stuff.* April. Available at: https://www.stuff.co.nz/business/112010254/government-to-make-statement-on-capital-gains-tax.
- RNZ (2020) It's Time for New Zealand To Wake Up to its Poverty Problem. *RNZ*, 2 February: https://www.rnz.co.nz/national/programmes/sunday/audio/2018732364/its-time-for-new-zealand-to-wake-up-to-its-poverty-problem
- Robertson G. (2017) Terms of Reference: Tax Working Group: https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/terms-reference-tax-working-group.html
- Russell, S. (1989) Report to the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Social Welfare by the Working Party on Charities and Sporting Bodies.
- Ryall, T (2011) Reduction in State Agencies Confirmed. *Beehive*, 12 August. Available at: https://www.beehive.govt.nz/release/reduction-state-agencies-confirmed
- Siebert, K. (2018) Could the Charities Act 2013 Pose a Problem for Advocacy Charities? *Pro Bono News*, 18 December. Available at: https://probonoaustralia.com.au/news/2018/12/charities-act-2013-pose-problem-advocacy-charities/.
- Stuff (2020) Greenpeace Wins 12-Year Campaign for Registration as a Charity. *Stuff*, 10 August. Available at:

 https://www.stuff.co.nz/national/politics/122397152/greenpeace-wins-12year-campaign-for-registration-as-a-charity
- Tax Working Group [TWG] Secretariat (2018a) Agenda for Session 13. Available at: https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/3977566-agenda-06-july-2018.html
- Tax Working Group [TWG] Secretariat (2018b) Minutes. Available at:

 https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/sites/default/files/2018-09/twg-bg-3981824-minutes-06-july-2018.pdf
- Tax Working Group [TWG] (2018) Future of Tax: Interim report. Available at: https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/future-tax-interim-report.html
- Tax Working Group [TWG] (2019) Future of Tax: Final report. Available at: https://taxworkinggroup.govt.nz/resources/future-tax-final-report.html
- Turia, T. (2010) Speech to Charities Commission Annual General Meeting. *Beehive*, 1 December. Available at: https://www.beehive.govt.nz/speech/charities-commission-annual-general-meeting-0
- Walker, D. (2020) Why Foundations Like Mine Need to Give More to Stave Off the Collapse of Vital Non-Profits Chronicle of Philanthropy. *Philanthropy*, June. Available at: https://www.philanthropy.com/article/Why-Foundations-Like-Mine-Need/248942?fbclid=IwAR1GROMTuoJ5RtknyT--xdjz7t6fITXFGKoJ8ciDhvVWq15P9qPxhSikKKM

Von Dadelszen, M. (2011) Moving the Charitable Goal Posts. *NZ Lawyer Magazine*, 11 March.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

SUE BARKER is the Director of Sue Barker Charities Law, a boutique law firm based in Wellington, New Zealand, specialising in charities law and public tax law. Sue is currently on sabbatical as the 2019 New Zealand Law Foundation International Research Fellow, undertaking research into the question 'What does a world-leading framework of charities law look like?', with a report due by September 2021.

How Do We Regulate Activities Within a Charity Law Framework Focussed on Purposes?

Ian Murray, Law School, University of Western Australia

Abstract

The law regarding when an entity is or is not a charity focuses on that entity's purposes, not its activities. Yet, much of the current civil society debate centres on particular charity activities: election campaigning, the discriminatory provision of goods and services, or carrying on large-scale commercial activities. The issue arises in many jurisdictions around the world. This article focuses on examples drawn primarily from Australasia to argue that there are alternative sources of regulation of relevance to Australasian charity activities and that evaluation and reform efforts would be best spent in focussing on these alternatives. In particular, broadly-applicable regulatory rules that apply to all entities engaging in activities such as anti-discrimination legislation; as well as charity-specific rules that might be justified as guarding against the charity/government or charity/business boundaries, or as rectifying charity deficiencies such as difficulties in raising equity capital. While the discussion focuses on how Australia and New Zealand might better regulate charity activities, the article informs that discussion by considering regulatory approaches to particular issues in the United Kingdom, Canada and the United States.

Keywords

Charity law; charities; for-purpose; activities; regulation

Introduction

In countries such as Australia, New Zealand, Canada, the United Kingdom (UK) and the United States (US), when the state marks out classes of civil society entities worthy of state approval

and eligible to receive state support (by way of tax and other concessions), it does so primarily by reference to the purposes intended to be achieved by those entities. Yet many of the current civil society controversies relate to the means – the activities – adopted to achieve those purposes. For example, civil disobedience activities are at the core of Australian government concerns about environmental charities, not whether the preservation of the environment is a charitable purpose (see, for example, Seselja 2019). While foreign influence and unstated purposes trouble politicians about civil society organisations speaking out on political issues, electioneering activities by home-financed entities routinely raise questions of charities 'sticking to their knitting' rather than becoming involved in the business of government. The extent to which civil society organisations may discriminate in pursuit of religious purposes underlies proposed legislative reforms in Australia and the *Family First* (2020) litigation in New Zealand. Despite the Australian High Court decision of *FCT v Word Investments* (2008) and subsequent in-depth analysis, the issue of commercial activities and the charity/business boundary remain live issues in Australia and are expressly being considered as part of New Zealand's taxation and *Charities Act* reviews.

In light of the controversy over such activities, this article emphasises the limited extent to which activities currently affect the charity status of civil society organisations in Australia and New Zealand. These charities are a subset of the broader group of civil society organisations. While charities are defined below, it is worth noting that civil society organisations (also referred to as the third sector or not-for-profits) consist of organisations that pursue their purposes in ways outside that of government, the business sector and the family (Garton 2009: 1-4). To help think about the ways in which we might wish to more closely regulate charity activities in Australasia, the article discusses how activity-based regulation already applies, in some cases fairly extensively, to charities. It does so in two parts. First by justifying and examining generally applicable regulatory rules that apply on the basis of activities rather than charity status. Second by considering when charity activity-specific regulation might be required and considering what can be learned from political advocacy and commercial activity examples drawn, not just from Australia and New Zealand, but also from the UK, the US and Canada.

The limited role for 'activities' in determining charity status

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

Taking Australia as an example, both under statute and at common law, for an 'entity' to be charitable it must:

- have purposes that are all 'charitable' purposes (such as relieving poverty, advancing education, advancing religion, or advancing other purposes beneficial to the community);ⁱⁱ
- be for the public benefit (Charities Act 2013 (Cth) ss5, 6; Aid/Watch (2010): [18]); and
- be not-for-profit (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) s5(a); at common law this is contained within the public benefit requirement, see, eg, Garton (2013): [2.15]).

In addition, a charity cannot:

- be a government entity, a political party or an individual (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) ss4, 5(d); at common law, see *Central Bayside General Practice Association Ltd v Commissioner of State Revenue* (2006) 228 CLR 168ⁱⁱⁱ); or
- have, at common law, a purpose against public policy such as an unlawful purpose (*Royal North Shore* (1938): 426)^{iv} or, under the *Charities Act*, a 'disqualifying purpose', a term defined as meaning a 'purpose of engaging in, or promoting, activities that are unlawful or contrary to public policy' or a 'purpose of promoting or opposing a political party or a candidate for political office' (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) ss5, 11). Nor can a charity be a 'political party' or a 'government entity' ((*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) s5).

Activities are relevant to these various elements but, as discussed below, for entities with an overtly charitable set of objects in their constitution or trust deed, the legal test of charity generally does not regulate the means or activities adopted to pursue those objects other than at the margins. That is, party political activities, the activities of government and the provision of private benefits are broadly precluded. But, except for the public policy/unlawful purpose requirement, it is otherwise quite difficult to regulate specific activities. Parachin terms this the 'square peg, round hole problem' (Parachin 2020).

Charitable purpose

In particular, and especially for charities in a legal form other than that of a trust, activities may impact on the characterisation of an entity's purposes in a number of ways (Murray 2019: 33-

8; Garton 2014: 387-88). For instance, in construing an entity's purpose, the courts typically examine the objects stated in its constitution, its activities and the circumstances of its formation (*FCT v Word Investments* 2008: [17]-[18], [25]-[26]). Activities might also help determine the relative weight of an entity's stated objects to confirm whether its memberservices object is incidental to its community benefit object, or *vice versa* (see – *South Australian Employers' Chamber of Commerce and Industry Incorporated v Commissioner of State Taxation* [2019] SASCFC 125).

However, there is widespread recognition by courts and commentators that the character of most activities is ambiguous, depending largely upon what the activity is intended to achieve (Vancouver Society 1999: [54] (Gonthier J, L'Heureux-Dubé and McLachlin JJ), [152] (Iacobucci, Cory, Major and Bastarche JJ); FCT v Word Investments 2008: [26]; Latimer v Commissioner of Inland Revenue [2004] UKPC 13, [36]. For commentary, see Cullity (1990: 7; Murray 2008: 159-62). In essence, activities are the means to achieving a purpose – the end. vi As reflected in section 5 of the *Charities Act 2013* (Cth) and in *FCT v Word Investments* (2008), activities that appear non-charitable on their face but that are merely 'incidental or ancillary' to an overarching charitable purpose are not characterised as amounting to an independent noncharitable purpose, but instead as supporting the stated purpose. Cases that consider whether objects or activities are incidental or ancillary to an overarching charitable object broadly ask whether the object is 'conducive to promoting' an overarching charitable purpose (Stratton v Simpson (1970) 125 CLR 138, 148, 159-60; Congregational Union (NSW) v Thistlethwayte (1952) 87 CLR 375, 441-2). In Word Investments, the Australian High Court held that accepting deposits from the public to be invested at market rates with nil or nominal interest paid in return, operating a funeral business and distributing surpluses to other entities to support evangelical religious activities were indirect means to achieving a purpose of advancing religion (FCT v Word Investments 2008: [37]-[38]). While the High Court majority did not purport to lay down a nexus test for this conclusion, their Honours stated:

In Baptist Union of Ireland (Northern) Corporation Ltd v Commissioners of Inland Revenue, MacDermott J said:

'the charitable purpose of a trust is often, and perhaps more often than not, to be found in the natural and probable consequences of the trust rather than in its immediate and expressed objects.' PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

Similarly, the charitable purposes of a company can be found in a purpose of bringing about the natural and probable consequence of its immediate and expressed purposes, and its charitable activities can be found in the natural and probable consequence of its immediate activities. (FCT v Word Investments 2008: [38])

As the statement was directed to when activities might evidence a separate non-charitable purpose, it appears to set the contours of the range of activities or objects that are in furtherance of an overarching charitable purpose. That is, would the natural and probable consequences of the activities or objects help to achieve the charitable purpose?

Thus, for charities with a set of overtly charitable objects stated in their constitution or trust deed, particular activities will only infrequently result in the finding of a different purpose. That is, to result in a non-charitable purpose, activities such as electioneering, discrimination or commercial operations would generally need to be shown to not support the stated objects in the constitution or trust deed. That is likely to be rare.

Public benefit and not-for-profit requirements

The not-for-profit and public benefit requirements also play only a limited role in controlling activities. The public benefit test requires that the achievement of the purposes would be of net benefit (not detriment)) (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) ss5(b), 6(2); *Re Pinion* [1965] Ch 85; *Gilmour v Coats* [1949] AC 426). It also means that the entity must have purposes that are for the public benefit, which requires that benefit is widely available (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) ss5(b), 6) or, at general law, that the entity bestow a benefit in relation to the public or a section of the public rather than a private class of individuals (*Thompson v FCT* (1959) 102 CLR 315: 321–3). Inherent in this requirement (at general law) and separately expressed under legislation, is the not-for-profit requirement that an entity must not distribute assets or benefits to persons falling outside the section of the public for whom the entity pursues its purposes (*Re Delius (deceased)* [1957] Ch 299).

As the public benefit requirement applies to an entity's purposes, rather than each of its activities, it is not a regulatory tool that readily controls activities. It may be relevant, for instance, where a charitable purpose entails particular activities. For example, some purposes may entail the pursuit of discriminatory activities. A purpose of promoting the traditional religious view of the family might require discriminatory activities against single parent or

same sex families that result in a net detriment (*Re Family First* 2018: [65]), though this finding was overturned on appeal: *Family First* (2020); vii and the same might be said of an entity with a purpose of 'provid[ing] adoption services to heterosexuals and such services to heterosexuals shall only be provided in accordance with the tenets of the Church' (*Catholic Care (Diocese of Leeds) v Charity Commission for England and Wales* [2012] UKUT 395). viii Some political advocacy purposes may require the generation of public debate by unlawful means. The stated purpose of a vegan organisation such as '[t]o end commercialised animal abuse and exploitation in Australian animal agriculture facilities by increasing industry transparency...' (Aussie Farms 2019: cl 2) might, in light of the publication of an interactive map of abattoir and animal farm locations, be construed as entailing activities of trespass. Following *Aid/Watch* (2010: [45]-[49]), one would have to closely question whether the generation of debate by such unlawful means contributes to constitutional processes or in fact detracts from them and hence is of net detriment.

However, courts are typically fairly cautious in finding that purposes are of net detriment. For instance, a charitable trust for 'treatment of White babies' has been held valid (*Kay v South Eastern Sydney Area Health Service* [2003] NSWSC 292; Dal Pont (2017): [15.25]). This reflects the general approach of the courts and the fact that the public benefit test is focussed on purposes not activities (Parachin 2020: 147-50; See also Synge 2018: 365). Courts have, however, been far readier to take notice of activities of distributing funds or services to members and to treat them as breaching the not-for-profit or public benefit requirement (see, e.g. Garton 2013: ch 6; Dal Pont 2018: [3.23]-[3.29]; *South Australian Employers' Chamber of Commerce and Industry Incorporated v Commissioner of State Taxation* [2019] SASCFC 125 [191], [238]).^{ix}

Government entity/party political limits

The restrictions on being a government entity or political party or having a purpose of supporting or opposing a political party clearly preclude certain party political activities and the pursuit of purposes through the deliberative, administrative and coercive processes of the state, which is consistent with the economic, social and political literature on the independence of the not-for-profit (including charity) sector from the state (Douglas 1983: chs 7, 8; Salamon 1987: 36–43; Weisbrod 1988; Harding 2014: 78–85; Jensen 2015–16). Thus, a purpose of

establishing and supporting a political party dedicated to protecting the environment, such as the Australian Greens, would preclude an entity from being a charity, even though that could be seen as a means of protecting the environment.

Public policy

The one part of the charity test that permits scrutiny of activities is the public policy exclusion. Although formally focussed on an entity's purposes, in practice courts have used the public policy test to render an entity non-charitable on the basis of activities, especially discriminatory activities. Bob Jones University v United States (1983) 461 US 574 is one of the most famous examples, in which the US Supreme Court found that religious tertiary education institutions that imposed racially discriminatory admissions practices^x on the basis of religious beliefs, were non-charitable. This was even though the discriminatory admissions practices were arguably a means (from the particular religious approach of the university) to the end of advancing education. Having a purpose of conducting unlawful activities would also be against public policy or, under the *Charities Act*, a 'disqualifying purpose' (*Re Collier* [1998] 1 NZLR 81: 90; Charities Act 2013 (Cth) s11(a)). However, upon moving beyond a purpose of conducting unlawful activities, public policy becomes a very unwieldy ground to strike at particular activities as it is very difficult indeed to draw any general guidance about the principles that determine what is against public policy (Parachin 2020: 133-8). Hence, courts use the ground sparingly (see, e.g. Bob Jones University v United States (1983) 461 US 574, 592).

There is also the issue that the public policy test is formally focussed on an entity's purposes and so merely carrying out discriminatory or civil disobedience activities, for instance, does not automatically breach the test. Those activities would generally have to be sufficiently material to colour the entity's purposes, as in *Bob Jones*. Australia provides slightly more leeway here for regulators than other jurisdictions such as the US, Canada, the UK and New Zealand. That is because, under the *Charities Act*, activities that are incidental or ancillary to a charitable purpose may still amount to a 'disqualifying purpose'. This is due to the statutory definition of charity separately referring to 'charitable purposes' and 'purposes that are incidental or ancillary' and then stating that none of those two groups of purposes may be 'disqualifying purposes' (*Charities Act 2013* (Cth) ss5, 11). Adding to this broadened power

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

of regulators is that some disqualifying purposes are defined by reference to sets of activities: '(a) the purpose of engaging in, or promoting, activities that are unlawful or contrary to public policy; or' (Charities Act 2013 (Cth) s11(a)).

Are there other ways to restrict activities if we move beyond the common law and statutory encapsulations of what is a charity?

We saw above that the legal test of charity status deters private benefit, party political and governmental activities through the charity form. The public policy rule potentially permits broader scrutiny of unlawful, discriminatory or other activities, but to invoke public policy requires a certain degree of materiality and the rule offers very limited guidance for regulators and charities. From a rule of law perspective, xi and from a regulatory perspective of seeking to influence behaviour, it is thus not an ideal vehicle upon which to rely.

This part therefore examines other legal rules that could be used to regulate charity activities. The first part examines rules applying broadly to all entities conducting particular activities – charities and non-charities. The second part investigates circumstances where we might wish to impose activity rules specifically on charities.

Broadly applicable rules based on the activities, rather than charity status

There is a rule of law argument for applying the same rules to all equivalent entities engaged in the same activities; that is, that the same laws should apply to all persons so that they are treated equally (Dicey 1959: Pt II Ch IV; Saunders and Le Roy 2003: 5; Santoro 2007: 163-4). It should therefore be no surprise to find that we do regulate some specific fields of activities in which charities – and other entities, including market and government entities – traditionally engage.

For instance, many education, health and aged care activities are highly regulated. Commonwealth funding for tertiary education providers is contingent on compliance with aspects of quality standards and accountability requirements, as well as with matters such as 'fairness' (Watt 2015: 8-26; Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 5-6). Fairness includes that providers

must 'treat fairly' or treat 'equally and fairly' all current students and all persons seeking to enrol as students (Higher Education Support Act 2003 (Cth) s19-30, sch 1A s18; Higher Education Support (VET) Guideline 2015 (Cth) s41). Quality assurance is also directly imposed for teaching and research training by way of registration and accreditation of institutions and courses (Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 5), on-going quality standards and on-going monitoring by bodies, such as the Tertiary Education Quality and Standards Agency and Australian Skills Quality Authority (Dow & Braithwaite 2013: 12-16). Non-government primary and secondary education providers are subject to state regulation relating to registration and to ongoing compliance in relation to a range of operational quality, safety and organisational capacity requirements regarding curriculum, staff qualifications and governance procedures (Varnham 2013: [160-5]). In addition, to access funding provided by the Commonwealth via the States, the Australian Education Act 2013 (Cth) requires that non-government primary and secondary school providers have ongoing quality improvement processes in place; and generally within the year that it is received 'spend, or commit to spend' recurrent education funding, short term emergency assistance funding and capital funding (ss78(2)(a), 85(2)(a), 93(2)(b); Australian Education Regulation 2013 (Cth) ss29, 30, 31).

In terms of health, individual states and territories have responsibility for licensing private hospitals and regulating the safety and quality of health services provided (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2016: 30-1). In broad terms, the licensing arrangements set safety and quality standards for differing classes of facilities or services, as well as imposing suitability requirements for operators and licence holders (Australian Institute of Health and Welfare 2016: Appendix 125-9). The *National Safety and Quality Health Service Standards* also apply. Residential aged care and home or community-based aged care service providers must be approved under the *Aged Care Act 1997* (Cth) and are subject to on-going safety and quality standards, as well as monitoring (*Aged Care Act 1997* (Cth) s7-1). Approval is based on ability to meet these standards, as well as the applicant's ability to provide aged care (*Aged Care Act 1997* (Cth) s8-3).

These safety and quality standards, along with expenditure requirements, where applicable, effectively require a minimum level of service delivery activities from year to year, and thus, indirectly limit the use of funds for other activities such as advocacy or electioneering. Fairness standards would preclude some (although not all) forms of discrimination.

Likewise, when it comes to foreign interference in Australian elections, recent Australian electoral legislation requirements apply across the board to charities and other non-party political actors (Commonwealth Electoral Act 1918 (Cth) pt XX). If electoral expenditure (being certain expenditure on matter communicated or intended to be communicated for the dominant purpose of influencing the way electors vote in a federal election) thresholds are exceeded then the relevant entity must register and report donations used for that expenditure to the Australian Electoral Commission. Depending on whether an entity meets the 'third party campaigner' or higher 'political campaigner' threshold, foreign donations are potentially either capped for use for electoral expenditure, or prohibited entirely beyond a cap. This electoral regulation can clearly affect foreign influence of charities and charity electioneering, but is intended to leave issues-based advocacy largely unaffected (Revised Explanatory Memorandum, Electoral Legislation Amendment (Electoral Funding and Disclosure Reform) Bill 2018 (Cth) [66]), even if the border between electioneering and issues-based advocacy is a difficult one (Crimm & Winer 2014: 77-8). Third party campaigners and political campaigners are also required to disclose their 'electoral expenditure', which is to be placed on a public 'transparency register'.

Australian anti-discrimination legislation also applies broadly to all entities in relation to certain types of activities - described as 'covered areas' - such as the provision of education, provision of goods, services and facilities, employment etc. and on certain protected grounds such as age, sex, race, religion etc (Australian Human Rights Commission 2014). However, there are very material exceptions for charities, at least for purposes that entail but that do not explicitly promote discrimination (Dal Pont 2017: [7.20]). Section 70 of the *Equal Opportunity Act 1984* (WA) provides an example exemption for:

(a) a provision of a deed, will or other document... that confers charitable benefits or enables charitable benefits to be conferred on persons of a class identified by reference to any one or more of the grounds of discrimination referred to in this Act; or

(b) an act that is done in order to give effect to such a provision.

I explored above the difficulties in attempting to use the public benefit or public policy requirements of charity law to regulate discriminatory activities. Anti-discrimination legislation, which explicitly countenances balancing competing rights and freedoms, and currently does little to regulate discriminatory activities by charities therefore holds much

potential. For instance, in liberal societies, such as Australia and New Zealand, state intervention to restrict one set of rights to prioritise others is typically justified by reference to proportionality - does a law have a legitimate objective and implement measures that are suitable and necessary to achieve that objective? Also used is John Stuart Mill's harm principle - does the public benefit from advancing one set of rights outweigh the harm caused by limiting the other rights - as state coercion is only justified to prevent harm? (See Australian Law Reform Commission (2015: [2.63]; Harding 2014: 226-33). Such an approach could provide a principled basis for deciding between competing rights. While reasonable minds may differ on whether it is an improvement or not, there is a current Australian debate on proposed religious freedom legislation that seeks to balance freedom of association and freedom of religion against rights to equality and freedom from discrimination (Attorney-General's Department 2019; Australian Human Rights Commission 2020). This debate clearly demonstrates the way in which anti-discrimination legislation can be used to more explicitly guide which sets of activities are deemed acceptable where there is competition between such rights. For example, by providing targeted exemptions from discrimination laws for specified religious activities, unlike the blanket charity exemption discussed above. However, it must be acknowledged that various submissions characterised the second exposure drafts of the religious freedom legislation as departing from standard proportionality and harm principles in conducting the balancing exercise: Law Council of Australia (2020); Australian Human Rights Commission (2020).

Specifically targeting charity activities

The above discussion focussed on regulation of activities by all entities engaged in those activities; charities and non-charities. However, there are also examples of regulation specifically targeted at charity activities. Given the rule of law desire to apply the same rules to entities engaged in the same activities, it is worth considering why regulation might be limited to charity activities.

Tax concessions and other privileges provided by the state are typically proffered as the primary reason why charities should be treated differently and subject to additional oversight (see – e.g. Dal Pont 2017: [20.1]-[20.2]; Benson 2001: 230-1, 235-7; Weinrib & Weinrib 2001: 67-8). However, it is not so clear that all tax treatment is a privilege. For example, non-taxation

of social welfare charities may actually reflect the average tax rate of benefit recipients (Krever 1991: 3-5). This approach also ignores the fact that tax concessions (and some other privileges) are routinely provided to vast segments of the marketplace without similar calls for extra oversight (as to the enormous size and range of business tax concessions, see Treasury 2020; compare Malani and Posner 2007: 2031). In Australia, the resources industry is a case in point where material tax concessions are provided to encourage greenfield exploration and mineral development so as to make up for the risky and capital intensive nature of these activities (Treasury 2020: 77, 132, 134). Albeit a number of other industry groupings receive significantly more tax support, such as primary production and financial and insurance services businesses (Productivity Commission 2019: 26).

It seems easier to justify regulation of charity-specific activities on either of the following two grounds. First, to guard boundaries between charities and government; and charities (for-purpose) and the market (for-profit). That is because state endorsement and public recognition of an entity as a charity marks it out as a different and socially sanctioned entity – an expressive function (compare Harding 2014: 38-41). Also, because, to some degree, the point of the charity sector is that it pursues the public good by non-governmental means (Salamon 1987: 36–43; Jensen 2015-16; Harding 2014: 78-85) and that, unlike the market, it better promotes other-regarding or altruistic modes of action (Dees 2012; Harding 2014: 78-85).

Second, regulation might help to address problems that are relatively specific to the charity form (Garton 2009: ch 4), such as the 'philanthropic failures' identified by Salamon, like the difficulty that charities and other not-for-profits have in raising equity capital (Salamon 1987). Tax concessions provided to charities play a role in this way to address difficulties in raising equity capital (in relation to the income tax exemption, see Hansmann 1981). Likewise, regulation might assist to bolster trust in charities so as to address the information asymmetries discussed by Hansmann and Garton that are particularly prevalent in areas where charities operate and in some areas seem to apply almost entirely to charity activities, such as the provision of overseas or other aid where benefits are provided to persons who will not give feedback to the funders (Garton 2009: ch 3; Hansmann 1980: 843-5). The *Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012* (Cth) regulatory regime could be viewed in this regard, especially (divs 40, 45, 50, 60):

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

• governance standards 1 (amongst other things, a charity must comply, in an ongoing way, with its character as a not-for-profit entity) and 5 (which requires a charity to ensure that its directors/trustees comply with duties of loyalty and diligence);

external conduct standards 1 (amongst other things, a charity must take reasonable steps
and maintain reasonable internal control procedures to ensure that its activities outside
Australia and the use of its resources outside Australia (including resources given to third
parties) are consistent with the charity's not-for-profit character) and 3 (anti-fraud and
corruption); and

 annual information disclosure requirements and publication of much of that information on a public charities register.

Given controversy in these areas, political activity and commercial activity restrictions are examined below to determine their scope and whether they fit within the proposed justifications for targeting charity activities.

Political activity restrictions

As discussed at the outset, there are some restrictions on political activities in Australia. However, other jurisdictions go further. In New Zealand, while purposes of changing the law or government policy are no longer viewed as against public policy (theoretically permitting lobbying or advocacy activities), the *Re Greenpeace* [2014] NZSC 105 decision means that one must enter into a detailed examination of whether the end that is advocated, the particular means promoted to achieve that end and the manner in which the cause is promoted will generate public benefit. (Murray 2019: 50-1; Harding 2015). The test is very difficult to satisfy for advocacy purposes and their corresponding activities, though this obviously does not preclude the more common circumstance of advocacy activities in support of a non-advocacy purpose.

The US and, until recently, Canada, have gone further in limiting charity lobbying and prohibiting charity campaigning (that is, electioneering) through tax rules. For instance, in the US, section 501(c)(3) of the *Internal Revenue Code* provides that for charity registration, 'no substantial part of the activities of [the charity] is carrying on propaganda, or otherwise attempting to influence legislation', with some ability to elect out of this vague test into a more certain cap or percentage of expenditure test under section 501(h), albeit the caps are relatively

low, going up to only the lesser of 20% or \$1m of expenditure. In relation to campaigning, section 501(c)(3) states that the charity must 'not participate in or intervene in ... any political campaign on behalf of (or in opposition to) any candidate for public office'.

In Canada, the case of *Canada Without Poverty v A-G (Canada)* (2018) ONSC 4147 has led to legislative amendments that retain the prohibition on campaigning (*Income Tax Act* (Canada) ss149.1(6.1) and (6.2) provide that a registered charity must not 'devot[e] any part of its resources to the direct or indirect support of, or opposition to, any political party or candidate for public office'), but that expressly permit non-partisan 'public policy dialogue and development activities', ie political advocacy (*Income Tax Act* (Canada) ss149.1(1), (10.1)).

Restricting campaigning activities, rather than just purposes (as Australia does) makes some sense in terms of drawing a boundary between charities and party political actors. However, as already identified above, there are material difficulties in working out when a charity's activities are campaigning versus issues-based advocacy. GetUp's activities provide a case in point. GetUp is a grass roots independent political activist organisation. Although it is not registered as a charity, its activities have nevertheless been the subject of several Australian Electoral Commission inquiries to investigate which side of the line they fall upon (Australian Electoral Commission 2010). We might also question whether charities should be singled out for this boundary drawing and whether generally applicable electoral regulation as in Australia might be a better way to address the boundary issue, since the party political boundary seems equally relevant for the for-profit sector.

The US and Canadian experience provides some evidence of the difficulties in using charity-specific regulation of campaigning activities. For instance, although interpreted broadly in the Treasury regulations, the US campaign restriction is not always robustly enforced, with the US Internal Revenue Service (IRS) still reeling from the fallout over its targeting of politically aligned charities (Fishman et al. 2015: 463-97; Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration 2017). President Trump has also issued a vaguely worded executive order to the IRS requesting that it *not* take compliance action against campaigning by religious organisations (Exec Order No 13798, 3 CFR 346 (2018)). Furthermore, the US institutional response has included the proliferation of tax concession categories to explicitly political lobbying and campaigning entities that can remain connected in various ways with registered charities – for example via Internal Revenue Code §501(c)(4) social welfare organisations and

§527 political action committees (Fishman et al. 2015: 494-502; Hopkins 2019: 399-400).xii Moreover, this is in the broader US context of the existence of some general electoral law regulation of campaign financing, but with that regulation materially limited by the *Citizens United* 130 S Ct 876 (2010) decision, which effectively removed caps on not-for-profit and for-profit corporation electoral expenditure (Fishman et al. 2015: 502-6). In Canada, the *Canada Without Poverty* case resulted from the imposition of increased political activity reporting and audits by the Canada Revenue Agency which has led to a partial governmental about turn and much public criticism of (and support for) the Agency (Parachin 2016: 1048, 1050–4).

Given these overseas experiences, Australia may be better off relying on its generally applicable electoral legislation to regulate charity campaigning activities. Beard has looked in detail at the regulation of Australian charity political activities and suggested that the electoral legislation can fill this role, but that it ought to be better focussed on the independence of charities (and other non-political parties) from government and political parties (Beard 2019: 40-2). As discussed at the outset, Beard is right to look to 'independence' as a key boundary demarcation. However, as acknowledged by Beard, more work needs to be done to consider how concepts of 'autonomy' or 'voluntarism' (in respect of the charitable sector) and of 'undue influence' (in respect of political parties) could be employed to help elaborate that boundary (Beard 2019: 42-4). Beard's insight is that part of that process should involve recourse to public law values such as transparency, integrity and representativeness, to ensure electors can make their choice without undue influence being brought to bear (Beard 2019: 42-4). Ideally, similar concepts should also have the potential to be applied to the for-profit/political party divide. Looking at the Australian electoral regulation framework, as noted by Beard it could do more to illuminate charities' political influence over political parties, because, at present, much campaign activity expenditure is omitted as being too remote from the tightly-focussed definition of 'electoral expenditure' (Beard 2019: 52-3). Though, to be fair, in capping foreign donations or the use of foreign donations, the regime does protect the representativeness of Australian views.

Commercial activity restrictions

As demonstrated by the earlier discussion of *Word Investments*, Australian charity law and tax rules do not prohibit charities from conducting commercial activities or seek to tax the income from unrelated business activities. In New Zealand charities are also permit ted to undertake commercial activities and business income is exempt from income tax to the extent that a charity 'carries out its charitable purposes in New Zealand' (*Income Tax Act 2007* (NZ) sCW 42(1)(a)). However, from 2011 to 2013 Australia contemplated taxing unrelated business income (Sinodinos 2013; Chia & Stewart 2012) and New Zealand is currently contemplating taxing such commercial activities (Robertson and Nash 2019; Tax Working Group 2019: 21–22, 103–104).

Other jurisdictions do restrict business activities. The US and UK tax certain forms of unrelated or non-primary purpose business income of charities (Internal Revenue Code §511; HMRC 2019). Canada simply prohibits unrelated business income for charities that register for tax concessions (*Income Tax Act* (Canada) s149.1(2)).xiii Restrictions are usually justified on the basis of competitive neutrality between charities and for-profit businesses. However, the general consensus is that neutrality is typically not undermined by income tax concessions (though input tax concessions, such as fringe benefits tax exemptions, may do so) as their very purpose is to make up for charity difficulties in raising equity finance (Chia & Stewart 2012). More fundamentally, the focus here seems misguided in that commercial activities do not define the business/charity boundary. Instead, it is the purpose of distributing profits to members and controllers that is the key boundary issue. As noted by Lind in a recent issue of this journal, Australia (as is also the case for New Zealand) is only just starting to grapple with how to set that boundary in the context of social enterprises, presently one of the most pressing boundary areas (Lind 2019). Several of the trust-bolstering measures discussed above would help minimise profit distribution activities. For instance, the governance and external conduct standards and disclosure requirements. However, there is likely to be room for improvement. For instance, in New Zealand, the chief charity regulator, the Department of Internal Affairs does not have extensive governance standards or external conduct standards that it can enforce (Department of Internal Affairs 2019: 22, 45). Further, the US and, to a lesser extent, Canada, also provide fairly extensive excise tax sanctions specifically framed to apply to various private benefit activities and some of which can be levied upon the recipients of private benefits, rather than the relevant charity (see, especially, IRC §4958; *Income Tax Act* (Canada) s188.1(4); Fremont-Smith 2004: 252-64, 299-300).

Conclusion

Many current civil society controversies revolve around the divisive nature of the activities engaged in by charities. For instance, election campaigning and other political advocacy, the discriminatory provision of goods and services, or carrying on large-scale commercial activities. However, the law relating to charity status has little to say about activities, focussed as it is on *purposes*. Charity activities, nevertheless, are already subject to regulation – both that applying generally to all entities engaged in particular activities and that applying specifically to charities. This article has suggested that broad based activity regulation in Australia already meaningfully constrains a number of contentious charity activities in the education, health, aged care and foreign donation spaces. However, there is material scope for anti-discrimination legislation to provide more nuanced guidance on how to weigh competing rights and freedoms in the context of charity activities, a reform which could be achieved by replacing the blanket charity exemption with more specific exemptions for particular activities. Specifically-targeted restraints on charity campaigning activities or commercial activities also exist in some jurisdictions and have been proposed from time to time in Australia. However, campaigning restrictions appear to miss the point that it is independence – of charities from political parties and government – and of political parties and government from charities, that is the key matter that needs to be protected by regulation. There is much scope here for general electoral legislation to perform this task and for the regulation to apply not just to charities but also to for-profits and other actors. Taxing or otherwise prohibiting commercial activities also seems to miss the mark. The real issue with the business/charity boundary is prohibiting private profits from being distributed to members or controllers, as highlighted by the social enterprise debate. Hopefully, by focusing attention on these alternative means of regulating charity activities a more productive discussion can ensue.

NOTES

For brevity, the term 'entity' is used to include legal relationships, such as trusts and unincorporated associations, as well as legal persons.

The *Charities Act 2013* (Cth) rewords charitable purposes under twelve heads of charity that broadly reflect the scope of the general law heads. The reworded heads include, amongst others, advancing health, advancing education, advancing social or public welfare, advancing religion and advancing culture: s 12(1).

At [23], [40]-[44], [48] (Gleeson CJ, Heydon & Crennan JJ), [130]-[134], [143]-[145] (Kirby J, also noting that some bodies formed by and being part of government might potentially be charities), [181]-[185] (Callinan J).

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

- Arguably, an entity also cannot have a purpose of being or supporting a political party or otherwise taking part in government (*Royal North Shore* 1938: 426). Dixon J's comment on party political purposes or involvement in government was noted but this portion of his Honour's reasoning was not rejected by the majority in *Aid/Watch* (2010).
- In the context of legislative references to 'charitable activities'.
- Sometimes they may also be incidental consequences (*Latimer v CIR* [2004] UKPC 13, [35]-[36]). Litigation to defend charges arising from the unlawful pursuit of environmental purposes provides an example.
- Due to its interpretation of *Re Greenpeace of New Zealand Inc* [2014] NZSC 105, the first instance decision in *Family First* appeared to give only limited weight to the benefits arising from the generation of public debate. On appeal, the Court of Appeal adopted a more expansive interpretation of *Re Greenpeace*, according more weight to the benefits arising from public debate: *Family First* 2020: [153].
- The case was decided under human rights legislation, rather than charity law. Compare *Canada Trust Co v Ontario Human Rights Commission* (1990) DLR 321.
- Albeit that the provision of many private benefits is very hard to police. For example, it is difficult to track private benefits that controller-members provide to themselves, such as greater remuneration and better working conditions (Garton 2010: 217).
- Admission was denied to 'applicants engaged in an interracial marriage or known to advocate interracial marriage or dating'.
- Being that laws should be 'prospective, open and clear', 'relatively stable' and formulated under a framework of open, clear, stable and general rules to as to permit people to be 'guided' by the law: Raz 1977: 198-202; Santoro 2007: 174.
- The basket of tax concessions afforded such entities is less than for charities.
- kiii The Canadian Special Senate Committee on the Charitable Sector has recommended loosening this rule.

REFERENCES

- Aid/Watch Inc v FCT (2010) 241 CLR 539.
- Aussie Farms Inc. (2019) Constitution. Available at: www.acnc.gov.au/charity.
- Australian Electoral Commission (2010) *GetUp Limited (Webpage)*. Available at: www.aec.gov.au/Parties_and_Representatives/compliance/AEC_Advice/2010-nov-get-up.htm
- Australian Human Rights Commission (2014) A Quick Guide to Australian Discrimination Laws. Sydney.
- Australian Human Rights Commission (2020) Religious Freedom Bills Second Exposure Draft: Submission to the Attorney-General's Department. Sydney.
- Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (2016) *Australia's Health 2016*: Australia's Health Series No 15. Canberra: AIHW.
- Australian Law Reform Commission (2015) *Traditional Rights and Freedoms:* Encroachments by Commonwealth laws. Report No 129. Canberra: ALRC.
- Attorney-General's Department (2019) Freedom of Religion (Webpage). Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia. Available at: https://www.ag.gov.au/RightsAndProtections/HumanRights/Pages/Freedom-of-Religion.aspx
- Barker, S., Gousmett, M. & Lord, K. (2013) *The Law and Practice of Charities in New Zealand*. Wellington: LexisNexis.

- Beard, J. (2019) Charities, Election Campaigning and the Australian Constitution. *Melbourne University Law Review*, 43 (2): 462-514.
- Benson, P. (2001) Equality of Opportunity and Private Law. In D. Friedmann and D. Barak-Erez (eds.), *Human Rights in Private Law*, 201. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Charities Act 2005 (NZ).
- Charities Act 2013 (Cth).
- Chia, J. & Stewart, M. (2012) Doing Business to Do Good: Should we tax the business profits of not-for-profits? *Adelaide Law Review*, 33 (2): 335-370.
- Crimm, N. & Winer, L. (2014) Dilemmas in Regulating Electoral Speech of Non-profit Organisations. In M. Harding, A. O'Connell and M Stewart (eds.), *Not-for-profit Law: Theoretical and Comparative Perspectives*, 61. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Cullity, M. (1990) The Myth of Charitable Activities. Estates & Trusts Journal, 10 (1): 7.
- Dal Pont, G. (2017) Law of Charity, 2nd edn. Chatswood: LexisNexis.
- Dees, G. (2012) A Tale of Two Cultures: Charity, problem solving, and the future of social entrepreneurship. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 111 (3): 322.
- Department of Internal Affairs (2019) *Modernising the Charities Act 2005: Discussion document.* Wellington: New Zealand Government.
- Dicey, A. V. (1959) *Introduction to the Study of the Law of the Constitution*, 10th edn. London: MacMillan & Co.
- Douglas, J. (1983) Why Charity?: The Case for a Third Sector. Beverly Hills: SAGE Publications.
- Dow, K. & Braithwaite, V. (2013) *Report, Review of Higher Education Regulation*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General [2020] NZCA 366.
- FCT v Word Investments Ltd (2008) 236 CLR 204.
- Fishman, J., Schwarz, S. & Mayer, L. (2015) *Nonprofit Organizations: Cases and materials*, 5th edn. St Paul: Foundation Press.
- Fremont-Smith, M. (2004) *Governing Nonprofit Organizations*. Cambridge MA: Belknap Press.
- Garton, J. (2009) The Regulation of Organised Civil Society. Oxford: Bloomsbury.
- Garton, J. (2010) The Future of Civil Society Organisations: Towards a theory of regulation for organised civil society. In M McGregor-Lowndes and K O'Halloran (eds.), *Modernising Charity* Law: 207-27. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Garton, J. (2013) Public Benefit in Charity Law. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Garton, J. (2014) Charitable Purposes and Activities. Current Legal Problems, 67: 373.
- Hansmann, H. (1980) The Role of Non-profit Enterprise. Yale Law Journal, 89 (5): 835.
- Hansmann, H. (1981) The Rationale for Exempting Nonprofit Organizations from Corporate Income Taxation. *Yale Law Journal*, 91: 54.
- Harding, M. (2014) *Charity Law and the Liberal State*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

- Harding, M. (2015) An Antipodean View of Political Purposes and Charity Law. *Law Quarterly Review*, 131: 181.
- HMRC (2019) Charities: Detailed Guidance Notes, Annex i: Tax Exemptions for Charities. Available at: www.gov.uk/government/publications/charities-detailed-guidance-notes/annex-i-tax-exemptions-for-charities
- Hopkins, B. (2019) *The Law of Tax Exempt Organizations*, 12th edn. New Jersey: Wiley. *Income Tax Act*, RSC 1985 c1 (Canada).
- Jensen, D. (2015–16) Charitable Purposes and Political Purposes (Or Voluntarism and Coercion). *Charity Law & Practice Review*, 18: 57.
- Krever, R. (1991) Tax Deductions for Charitable Donations: A tax expenditure analysis. In R. Krever and G. Kewley (eds.), *Charities and Philanthropic Organisations:* Reforming the tax subsidy and regulatory regimes, 1. Australian Tax Research Foundation.
- Law Council of Australia (2020) Religious Freedom Bills: Second Exposure Draft: Submission to the Attorney-General's Department. Canberra.
- Lind, A. (2019) The Non-distribution Constraint and Social Enterprise: Can share capital fund non-profit organisations? *Third Sector Review*, 25 (2): 233-57.
- Malani, A. & Posner, E. (2007) The Case for For-profit Charities. *Virginia Law Review*, 93 (8): 2017-67.
- Murray, I. (2008) Charitable Fundraising through Commercial Activities: The final word or a pyrrhic victory? *Journal of Australian Taxation*, 11 (2): 138.
- Murray, I. (2019) Looking at the Charitable Purposes/Activities Distinction through a Political Advocacy Lens: A trans-Tasman perspective. *Oxford University Commonwealth Law Journal*, 19 (1): 30-54.
- Parachin, A. (2016) Reforming the Regulation of Political Advocacy by Charities: From charity under siege to charity under rescue? *Chicago-Kent Law Review*, 91: 1047.
- Parachin, A. (2020) Regulating Charitable Activities through the Requirement for Charitable Purposes: Square peg meets round hole. In J. Picton and J. Sigafoos, J. (eds.), *Debates in Charity Law*, 129. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Poirier, D. (2013) Charity Law in New Zealand. Wellington: Department of Internal Affairs.
- Productivity Commission (2019) *Trade and Assistance Review 2017-18*. Canberra: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Raz, J. (1977) The Rule of Law and its Virtue. Law Quarterly Review, 93 (2): 195-211.
- Re Family First New Zealand [2018] NZHC 2273.
- Robertson, G. (Finance Minister) & Nash, S. (Revenue Minister) (2019) *Government Responds to Tax Working Group Report*. Media release, 17 April 2019.
- Royal North Shore Hospital of Sydney v Attorney-General (NSW) (1938) 60 CLR 396.
- Salamon, L. (1987) Of Market Failure, Voluntary Failure and Third-Party Government: Toward a theory of government-nonprofit relations in the modern welfare state. *Journal of Voluntary Action Research*, 16 (1-2): 29-49.

- Santoro, E. (2007) The Rule of Law and the 'Liberties of the English': The interpretation of Albert Venn Dicey. In P. Costa and D. Zoro (eds.), *The Rule of Law: History, theory and criticism*, 153-99. Springer.
- Saunders, C. and Le Roy, K. (2003) Perspectives on the Rule of Law. In C. Saunders and K. Le Roy (eds.), *The Rule of Law*, 1. Federation Press.
- Seselja, Z. (Assistant Minister for Finance, Charities and Electoral Matters) (2019) *Address to the Annual ACNC Regulatory Conference*. Speech, 2 August 2019.
- Sinodinos, A. (Assistant Treasurer) (2013) *Integrity Restored to Australia's Taxation System*. Media Release, 14 December 2013.
- Synge, M. (2018) Public Benefit Post-Pemsel. In M Harding (ed.), *Research Handbook on Not-For-Profit Law*, 363-86. Cheltenham: Edward Elgar.
- Tax Working Group (2019) Future of Tax: Final report, vol I. Wellington: New Zealand Government.
- Treasury (2020) *Tax Benchmarks and Variations Statement 2019*. Parkes: Commonwealth of Australia.
- Treasury Inspector General for Tax Administration (2017) Review of Selected Criteria Used to Identify Tax-Exempt Applications for Review: Final report no 2017-10-054. Washington DC: Department of the Treasury.
- Vancouver Society of Immigrant & Visible Minority Women v Minister of National Revenue [1999] 1 SCR 10
- Varnham, S. (2013) Halsbury's Laws of Australia: Education and Research. LexisNexis.
- Watt, I. (2015) *Report, Review of Research Policy and Funding Arrangements*. Department of Education and Training.
- Weinrib, L. E. & Weinrib, E. J. (2001) Constitutional Values and Private Law in Canada. In D. Friedmann and D. Barak-Erez (eds.), *Human Rights in Private Law*, 43. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Weisbrod, B. (1988) *The Nonprofit Economy*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

IAN MURRAY is an Associate Professor in the Law School at the University of

Western Australia. His research focuses on the intersection between not-for-profit law, tax and corporate governance. He is currently investigating the intergenerational issues raised by the accumulation of assets by charities, as well as what it means to act in the best interests of a charity. Email: ian.murray@uwa.edu.au.

Attaining to Certainty: Does the Expert Panel's Proposal for Reform of the Charities Act Sufficiently Protect Religious Charities?

Mark Fowler, Notre Dame Law School

Abstract

In jurisdictions that share the common law of charities the question of the charitable recognition of entities that hold a traditional view of marriage has created significant controversy. On the recommendation of the 2018 Expert Panel on Religious Freedom the Australian Government has committed to amending section 11 of the Charities Act 2013 (Cth) to recognise that a charity that holds a traditional view of marriage will not be deregistered on the basis that its position is 'contrary to public policy'. This article provides a critical analysis of the proposed reform and its opposition. It does so by introducing the separate grounds relevant to the question of the charitable status of an entity that holds a traditional view of marriage, namely the 'political objects doctrine', the 'public policy doctrine' and the 'public benefit' requirement. It then considers their application in common law jurisdictions where the matter has arisen as a question of law, namely Australia, New Zealand, the United States and Canada. In the light of recent developments in those jurisdictions, it is argued that, if the goal is to provide certainty against the deregistration of an Australian charity that holds a traditional view of marriage, more must be done.

Keywords

Charity law; religious freedom; international charity law jurisprudence; advocacy; public benefit; marriage; Aid/Watch; Family First New Zealand

Introduction

In jurisdictions that share the common law of charities, the question of the charitable recognition of entities that hold a traditional view of marriage has created significant controversy. On the recommendation of the 2018 Expert Panel on Religious Freedom, the Australian Government has committed to amending section 11 of the *Charities Act 2013* (Cth) to recognise that a charity that holds a traditional view of marriage will not be deregistered on the basis that its position is 'contrary to public policy'. This proposal has garnered some considerable opposition, with various bodies including the Australian Charities and Not-forprofits Commission (ACNC) and the Law Council of Australia opposing the amendment. This article provides a critical analysis of the proposed reform and its opposition. It does so by introducing the separate grounds relevant to the question of the charitable status of an entity that holds a traditional view of marriage, namely the 'political objects doctrine', the 'public policy doctrine' and the 'public benefit' requirement. It then proceeds to consider their application in common law jurisdictions where the matter has arisen as a question of law, namely Australia, New Zealand, the United States and Canada. In the light of recent developments in those jurisdictions, it is argued that, if the goal is to provide certainty against the deregistration of an Australian charity that holds a traditional view of marriage, more must be done.

Context

This article is composed in the aftermath of the debate over the legalisation of same sex marriage. During that debate the Australian Government established an Expert Panel on Religious Freedom (Expert Panel) to 'examine and report on whether Australian Law (Commonwealth, State and Territory) adequately protects the human right to freedom of religion' (2018, p. iii). The Expert Panel recommended that '[t]he Commonwealth should amend section 11 of the *Charities Act 2013* to clarify that advocacy of a 'traditional' view of marriage would not, of itself, amount to a 'disqualifying purpose'.' The resulting Government amendment proposes the insertion of the following at section 11:

'to avoid doubt, the purpose of engaging in, or promoting, activities that support a view of marriage as a union of a man and woman to the exclusion of all others, voluntarily entered into for life, is not, of itself, a disqualifying purpose' (Povey & Woodward 2019: 3)

This is a welcome clarification. As Ridge has argued, for a court to deny a body 'charitable status on public policy grounds for its lawful religious activities' could undermine 'the very pluralism and diversity of viewpoints that charity law generally promotes' (Ridge 2020, p. 396). However, the Law Council's opposition to the proposal includes the argument that 'the fact of its inclusion implies that doubt exists', creating 'uncertainty where there was none' (Law Council of Australia 2020, p. 40). Contrary to this, I contend here that, not only is the uncertainty real, it also attaches to legal tests beyond that which the current amendment seeks to address.

In making its recommendation the Expert Panel appeared to act with some hesitation, noting that it was:

'reluctant to draw too many inferences from overseas experiences which turned on different legislation and specific facts in those cases. However, the Panel can see a benefit to assist certainty, and could see no particular harm, in an amendment similar to that suggested by the Acting Commissioner of the ACNC to put the immediate issue raised by the legalisation of same-sex marriage beyond doubt' (Expert Panel on Religious Freedom 2018, [1.200]).

The 'suggested' amendment was proposed in a letter dated 24 November 2017 from then Acting ACNC Commissioner Murray Baird to the author of the same sex marriage legislation, Senator Dean Smith, penned shortly before the passage of the legislation through the Australian Senate. In that letter Acting Commissioner Baird gave an assurance that he would not administer the law so as to remove the charitable status of religious entities:

if a charity with a purpose of advancing religion currently holds and/or expresses a view or position on marriage that is based on the beliefs, tenets or doctrines of the religion it advances, its status as a charity as defined in the Charities Act will not be negatively affected by reason merely of its continuing to hold and/or express that view following the enactment of the Future Marriage Act (Baird 2017: 2)

Mr Baird's reasoning was that, in propagating their religious view of marriage, religious charities advance religion. It may be observed, however, that the letter only references charities with a purpose of advancing religion. The reasoning on which Mr Baird relies does not extend to faith-based charities, such as schools or public benevolent institutions that do not have a charitable purpose of advancing religion. The proposed Government amendment is seemingly

not unaware of this concern. It extends to all charities, not only charities with a purpose of advancing religion. It does not, however, apply to the law of the States or Territories, which will each need to make separate provision against the concerns raised in this article.

Notwithstanding his assurance, the Acting Commissioner went on to acknowledge that overseas courts have entertained the proposition that 'opposition' manifested in various ways to same sex marriage might threaten an entity's charitable or tax-exempt status on the grounds that such opposition would be contrary to 'public policy' or not for the public benefit

'one way to address the concerns that have been raised may be to provide in the amending legislation that nothing in the legislation adversely affects an entity's charitable status by reason only that the entity holds or expresses a position on marriage' (Baird 2017: 4)

This led Mr Baird to conclude that 'a legislative provision confirming the intention of Parliament that the charity status of such an entity should not change by reason of the new definition, would put the matter beyond doubt'. The astute reader will note that, while the Acting Commissioner refers to both the conformity with 'public policy' and the 'public benefit' requirements imposed on charities by the common law, the Government amendment deals only with the former requirement. This alerts us to the need to consider whether the Government amendment is then sufficient to, in the words of the Expert Panel, 'assist certainty' by putting the matter 'beyond doubt'. I argue that, when regard is had to the existing state of authorities, it is not at all clear that Mr Baird's reasoning (that in teaching a religious view of marriage religious charities advance religion) would survive application of either the public policy or public benefit tests.

With respect to the Expert Panel, my argument is that its failure to consider the 'public benefit' condition is sourced in a misunderstanding of the law of charities, reflected in its hesitance to 'draw too many inferences from overseas', and cases that 'turned on different legislation and specific facts'. To the contrary, as the following authorities demonstrate, it has long been recognised that the common law of charities is characterised by the cross-pollinating influence exercised amongst Anglophone courts. Further, the relevant tests for the determination of the charitable status of entities the subject of the Expert Panel's recommendation are not tests of statute, they are tests imposed by common law. The sole exception to this is the Australian *Charities Act*, for which, in any event, the 'common law ... will ... remain relevant for the

purposes of interpreting those principles, concepts and terms that have been derived from the common law and utilised in the statutory definition' (*Explanatory Memorandum, Charities Bill 2013 (Cth)* [1.19]).

The history of charity and advocacy

As O'Halloran notes '[u]ntil relatively recently, the law governing charity, religion and the relationship between them was broadly shared by the 60 or so common law nations' (O'Halloran 2014: 110). That commonality was sourced in the Statute of Elizabeth 1601 and the subsequent articulation of the four charitable 'heads' in Commissioner for Special Purposes of Income Tax v Pemsel [1891] AC 531 (Pemsel). The journey from the Statute of Elizabeth to modern times has been described as 'a maze of caprice, fantasy and historical humbug' (House of Commons 1958). Although the law of advocacy by charities is hardly immune to such a charge, the uncertainties in the law are sufficiently known as to provide a basis to ground efforts at targeted reform. Those uncertainties are only enhanced by the ongoing attempt to reconcile the historical framework of charity law with the rising prevalence of human rights norms and the modern welfare state, developments that have cast the law of public benefit and of charity advocacy into new uncharted territory (Parachin 2013). Notwithstanding the influence of these novel currents, as Chevalier-Watts recognises, there remains many 'interconnections' between jurisdictions (2018: 1). As the following discussion demonstrates, the most senior Australian courts continue to look to other common law jurisdictions when considering the ongoing development of charity law.

For the purposes of this analysis, it can be said that, at a broad level, the common law of charities has imposed conditions relevant to a charity that holds, or advocates for, a traditional view of marriage. They may be delineated in the following manner:

- a. The 'political objects doctrine', comprised of:
 - i. The rule that advocacy for 'a proposed change in the law' is not charitable because the courts have no means to determine whether the achievement 'will or will not be for the public benefit' (*Bowman v Secular Society* [1917] AC 406: 442; see also *McGovern and others v Attorney General and another* [1982] Ch 321 (*McGovern*): 340) (as

further discussed below, this common law test is now largely redundant in Australia); and

- ii. The rule against 'partisan political objects', whereby, for example, a charity must not have a purpose of promoting or opposing a political party or candidate (see for example *Charities Act 2013*, s 11; *McGovern*: 340).
- b. The 'public policy doctrine', whereby, 'any purpose which is contrary to the established policy of the law cannot be the subject of a good charitable trust' (Royal North Shore Hospital of Sydney v Attorney General for New South Wales (1938) 60 CLR 396: 426).
- c. The 'public benefit requirement', being the general requirement that charities, regardless of whether they engage in advocacy, must have purposes recognised as being for the public benefit, as understood in common law (*Pemsel*, Lord McNaughten).

Each of these requirements found in the common law of England have also found their respective expression in the common law of Australia, New Zealand, the United States and Canada (Dal Pont 2017; Murray 2019). As is canvassed below, several of those jurisdictions have undergone processes of reform leading to the modification or abolition of these requirements, characterised by Chevalier-Watts as 'blazing trails' away from English limitations (2014).

The seminal statement in this area is Lord Parker of Waddington's dictum delivered during the height of World War One in *Bowman v Secular Society*:

a trust for the attainment of political objects has always been held invalid ... because the court has no means of judging whether a proposed change in the law will or will not be for the public benefit (442)

Ironically, in the context of this discussion, the particular 'purely political objects' Lord Parker found to be non-charitable included the 'abolition of religious tests, the dis-establishment of the Church, the secularisation of education, the alteration of the law touching religion or marriage, or the observation of the Sabbath' (442).

As the Australian High Court highlighted in *Aid/Watch Incorporated v Commission of Taxation* (2010) 241 CLR 539 (*Aid/Watch*), a degree of conflation between the 'political objects' and the 'public policy' doctrines has been with us ever since Lord Parker cited a case concerning the public policy requirement as authority for his political objects test:

The only authority to which Lord Parker referred in Bowman was *De Themmines v De Bonneval*. The trust in that case was for the promotion of the doctrine of the absolute and inalienable Papal supremacy in ecclesiastical matters by the printing and circulation of a treatise by thirty-seven French bishops. The trust failed, as the law in England then stood, but this was because the trust was considered to be for a superstitious use and thus at variance with English public policy (French CJ, Gummow, Hayne, Crennan & Bell JJ: 551).

Here the majority characterised the Tudor doctrine of 'superstitious uses' (see – Jones, 1969: 11; *Chantries Act 1547*) as an early expression of the public policy doctrine. For centuries that doctrine was applied to invalidate non-conformist (for example, see *Attorney-General v Hickman* (1732) 2 Eq Cas Abr 193 pl 14; 22 ER 166) or Catholic trusts (for example, see *Cary v Abbot* (1802) 32 ER 198 1802). In so doing the majority draws attention to the positioning of the currently contemplated reform efforts within a domain of the law that has for centuries demonstrated a seemingly perpetual ability to command the attention, and channel the ire, of lawgivers. During the course of oral argument in *Aid/Watch*, detailed consideration was given to the position in the United Kingdom, Canada, the United States and New Zealand. While the majority noted that, at least in the United States and Canada the influence of the common law on the 'political objects doctrine' had been affected by statutory provisions (for which there were no equivalents in Australia), the same limitation could not be said of either the public policy doctrine or the public benefit requirement (550).

Australia

In considering the recommendation of the Expert Panel, the focus of examination falls first on the target of the resulting proposed Government amendment, the public policy condition, now contained at section 11 of the *Charities Act 2013*. That section states that a charity cannot have a 'purpose of engaging in, or promoting, activities that are unlawful or contrary to public policy'. The examples of 'public policy' provided in the Act include 'the rule of law, [and] the constitutional system of government of the Commonwealth'. As Ridge notes, 'the definition is

inclusive; hence other, possibly less fundamental, public policy concerns might disqualify religious purposes from charitable status' (Ridge 2020: 385). A note further clarifies 'Activities are not contrary to public policy merely because they are contrary to government policy.' This condition demarcates a boundary line to the newly recognised charitable 'purpose of promoting or opposing a change to any matter established by law' under section 12(1)(1). Where this boundary line falls in the resulting tension between the two must be explored by examination of its source: the *Aid/Watch* decision. Therein a majority of the High Court wielded the constitutionally protected 'implied freedom of political communication' to overturn Lord Parker's dictum, holding:

'the generation by lawful means of public debate ... concerning the efficiency of foreign aid directed to the relief of poverty, itself is a purpose beneficial to the community within the fourth head in Pemsel.' (Ridge 2020: 557)

In so doing they confirmed that 'there is no general doctrine which excludes from charitable purposes "political objects" and has the scope indicated in England' (557, [48]).

Section 12(1)(1) of the *Charities Act 2013* extends the principles applied to a poverty relief charity in *Aid/Watch* to all charitable purposes. An Australian charity can have a main purpose of changing the law in and of itself (and thus of critiquing government policy), provided such purpose is in furtherance or in aid of a charitable purpose and provided it does not contravene the public policy condition. It is on that basis that the ACNC (2019) offered its opposition to the Government amendment:

'under the current Charities Act [the 'advocacy of traditional views of marriage'] is already not a disqualifying purpose in and of itself ... A charity can promote or oppose a change to any matter of law, policy or practice, as long as this advocacy furthers or aids another charitable purpose' (ACNC 2019: 3)

However, as Chia, Harding and O'Connell identify 'the further one reflects upon the [Aid/Watch] decision, the more unanswered questions one confronts' (2011: 383). During the course of the hearing French CJ sought to explore the interaction of the appellant's contentions on advocacy with the public benefit requirement. He asked 'if one dispenses with a political purposes exception or disqualification what are the boundaries of community benefit, or public benefit?' (Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation

[2010] HCATrans 154 (15 June 2010)), 1142-4 (French CJ)). In reply Counsel for the appellant directed the Court to the public policy doctrine, with discussion turning to a series of examples, including the pointedly relevant 'charitable trust to fund public debate on the repeal of anti-discrimination laws' (1219-20 (Gummow J)) and the decision of the US Supreme Court in *Bob Jones University v United States* (*Bob Jones*); *Goldsboro Christian Schools Inc v United States* 103 S. Ct. 2017 (1983) 461 U.S. 574, 76 L.Ed.2d 157 1983; *Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch* 1655-1661) considered below. Counsel for the appellant also referred to the exercise of weighing of competing claims to the 'public benefit', of which *National Anti-Vivisection Society v Inland Revenue Commissioner* [1948] A.C. 31 was said to provide an example. In that matter the Law Lords held the political objects exclusion was grounded in an inability to determine whether the change to the law proposed by the appellant would or would not be for the public benefit (62).

The discussion on public benefit culminated in the majority postulating an excluded criteria of activities ('means') and purposes ('ends') whereby advocacy would be non-charitable:

'It may be that some purposes which otherwise appear to fall within one or more of the four heads in Pemsel nonetheless do not contribute to the public welfare [read public benefit] in the sense to which Dixon J referred in Royal North Shore Hospital. But that will be by reason of the particular ends and means involved, not disqualification of the purpose by application of a broadly expressed "political objects" doctrine' (557, [49])

Here the majority signal that the implied freedom of political communication does not present a complete salve against the loss of charitable status. They thus leave scope for a finding that certain types of advocacy do not extend the public benefit, determined according to 'the particular ends and means involved'. In so doing they apparently impose a further stand-alone common law exclusion, that operates in addition to the 'public policy doctrine'. However, as Turnour and Turnour (2014: 47) claim, discerning the 'sense' to which Dixon J referred is not straight forward:

'It is difficult to derive from this passage a clear understanding of what the majority meant when they referred to 'ends and means', and a review of Royal North Shore Hospital does not seem to shed further light' Similarly, O'Connell (2010: 5) recognises that 'the reference to RNS Hospital case does not provide guidance - that case was concerned with encouragement of technical education and did not appear to involve anything that was contrary to public welfare.' We are thus not provided with any clarification as to how the exclusion of 'means', seemingly a direction to consider activities, interfaces with the 'myth of charitable activities' (Cullity 1990: 7).

Chia, Harding and O'Connell (2011, p. 384) identify a further 'unanswered question':

'The real difficulty ... in determining the extent of the ruling in Aid/Watch lies in the fact that the High Court judgment does not clearly indicate whether the 'public benefit' lies primarily in the generation of public debate itself, in the charitable purpose which is being publicly debated, or in some combination of the two'

To the extent the public benefit lies in the charitable purpose itself, post adoption of section 12(1)(1) of the *Charities Act*, the *Aid/Watch* decision would provide authority that the public benefit requirement will still remain to be satisfied in respect of that purpose (subject to the appropriate presumptions of Division 2, as may be applicable). If so, the ACNC's opposition is unfounded, a traditional view of marriage must still itself be shown to be for the public benefit, a matter further taken up below in the discussion on New Zealand law. In the alternative, it might be argued that the distinction between 'charitable purpose' and 'public benefit' applied, for example, at the definition of 'charity' at section 5, has the effect that the reference at section 12(1)(1) to the charitable purposes 'in paragraphs (a) to (k)' disqualifies any consideration of the public benefit of those charitable purposes. Would it, however, reflect credit on the law to allow that the purpose of generating debate on a matter that is not itself for the public benefit could be for the public benefit? On the facts before it, the majority considered it 'unnecessary' to consider that question (557, [48]).

To the extent, as previously noted, that the 'common law ... will ... remain relevant' in interpreting the statutory definition (*Explanatory Memorandum*, *Charities Bill 2013 (Cth)* [1.19]), the doubts over the proper basis of the public benefit of advocacy and the limitations imposed by the *Aid/Watch* majority may remain under the *Charities Act 2013*. In sum, to the ongoing tension between, first, the ability of a charity to hold a 'purpose of promoting or opposing a change to any matter established by law' under section 12(1)(1) of the *Charities Act* and, second, the requirement that a charity not have a 'purpose of engaging in, or promoting,

activities that are ... contrary to public policy' under section 11, the above analysis would add a further tension introduced by a third factor: uncertainty as to the lingering requirements of the public benefit requirement. We are left with a rather uncertain position as to when questions of the public benefit will disqualify advocacy by charities. To consider the extent to which this gives rise to a concern in respect of a charity's position on marriage, I now turn to consider the recent development of the public benefit requirement in New Zealand.

New Zealand

In New Zealand the question of whether promotion of the traditional view of marriage can be for the public benefit has spawned extensive litigation in the Family First series of judgements (*Re Family First New Zealand* [2015] NZHC 1493; *Re Family First New Zealand* [2018] NZHC 2273; *Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General* [2020] NZCA 366). At the time of writing the Attorney-General has sought leave to appeal the matter to the Supreme Court, the final course of appeal. The context of that litigation must be seen against the decision of the Supreme Court in *Re Greenpeace of New Zealand Incorporated* [2014] NZSC 105 (*Greenpeace*), that a "political purpose" exclusion should no longer be applied, heralding the departure of New Zealand law from Lord Parker's dictum ([3]). In its place the Court posited a test that requires regard to whether the *pursuit* and the *achievement* of the purpose would both separately satisfy the public benefit test (Harding 2015: 183; Murray 2019: 50-51):

'assessment of whether advocacy or promotion of a cause or law reform is a charitable purpose depends on consideration of the end that is advocated, the means promoted to achieve that end and the manner in which the cause is promoted in order to assess whether the purpose can be said to be of public benefit within the spirit and intendment of the 1601 Statute' (Greenpeace 2014: 76)

In so holding, the Court imposed a requirement that a charity demonstrate 'tangible utility':

'Although, for the reasons given, a political purpose exclusion is inappropriately conclusive when considering charitable purpose, we consider that the promotion itself, if a standalone object not merely ancillary, must itself be an object of public benefit or utility within the sense used in the authorities to qualify as a charitable purpose' (Greenpeace 2014: 103)

The search for the public benefit offered by the *pursuit* component (the 'means' and 'manner') is unique to New Zealand law. As Dal Pont summarises, '[t]he purpose in which the furtherance of which an activity is carried out, not the character of the activity, is what determines whether or not it has a charitable character (Dal Pont 2017: [13.4]).' However, to the extent the focus is on the public benefit offered by the *achievement* of the purpose ('ends'), this is stated to require application of the traditional test of public benefit in the common law (see for example, *National Anti-Vivisection Society v Inland Revenue Commissioners* [1948] A.C. 31).

That positions us to consider the relevance of the Family First litigation. In April 2013, prior to the judgement in *Greenpeace*, the New Zealand Charities Registration Board deregistered Family First, an entity whose purpose was subsequently characterised by the High Court as being 'first and foremost to promote the traditional family unit (*Re Family First New Zealand* [2018] NZHC 2273, [60]).' The reasons offered by the Board included that:

'the Trust's main purpose is to promote points of view about the family life, the promotion of which is a political purpose because the points of view do not have a public benefit that is self-evident as a matter of law... [and that this purpose] is not a charitable purpose ... beneficial to the public within the fourth category of charity' (Deregistration decision D2013-1: Family First New Zealand, New Zealand Charities Registration Board, 15 April 2013 (CC42358), [2])

Having been directed in June 2015 to reconsider its decision by Collins J in the High Court, in August 2017 the Board affirmed its decision that Family First 'has a purpose to promote its views about marriage and the traditional family that cannot be determined to be in the public benefit in a way previously accepted as charitable' (Deregistration decision D2017-1: Family First New Zealand), New Zealand Charities Registration Board, 21 August 2017 (CC10094), [2]).

In August 2018, on appeal from this second deregistration decision to the High Court, France J affirmed the decision of the Board. Critically, in the context of this discussion, France J's reasoning included an assessment that the 'ends' of Family First's advocacy activities, if achieved, would not be for the public benefit: 'The evidence does not establish that the achievement of these goals would be a benefit to the community in the sense required by charity' ([64]) and thus 'it cannot be shown that Family First's promotion of the traditional family unit, though no doubt supported by a section of the community, if achieved would be a

public benefit' ([65]). This was not expressed to be a requirement of the public policy doctrine, and the finding was not with reference to the public benefit of the advocacy itself, or the 'means' or 'manner' employed. It was a failure to meet the general requirement that all charities have purposes recognized as for the public benefit.

In August 2020 the Court of Appeal overturned the ruling of France J, with Clifford and Stevens JJ stating:

'we recognise the point made by [the Charity Law Association of Australia and New Zealand], of the public benefit associated with free speech and associated political discourse in a rule of law, liberal and democratic society such as New Zealand. That is an aspect of public benefit that activities of organisations such as Family First, albeit from a traditional point of view, and other organisations expressing more liberal views, can contribute to.' (Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General [2020] NZCA 366, [153])

It is from that judgement that the Attorney-General now seeks leave to appeal to the Supreme Court. Ironically, it is arguable that the principles applied in the most recent determination have the same virtue that Harding sees in the rule against political purposes:

'decision-makers need not inquire into the public benefit of political purposes being achieved; in this way, decision-makers may avoid evaluating political purposes on which there is deep and abiding disagreement within the community' (Harding 2015: 183)

Above I noted the concern that within Australia *Aid/Watch*, as expressed through the prism of the *Charities Act*, leaves some uncertainty as to the requirements of the public benefit condition when applied to advocacy. As is highlighted in the following discussion of the public policy doctrine, the High Court has shown considerable interest in the development of common law principles of charity overseas. Consistent with the cross-pollination evident in this area of the law, it cannot be discounted that the developments in New Zealand will not be influential for an Australian court called upon to consider these matters. Notwithstanding the most recent position outlined by the Court of Appeal, it is open to Australian courts to take notice of the reasoning of (at the date of writing) three decision makers that the application of the general public benefit test to Family First disentitled it from registration. In the least, against the

uncertainties in the public benefit test within Australia, the array of differing conclusions on the question of the public benefit of a traditional view of marriage reached by New Zealand decision makers only adds to the concern that the Expert Panel's recommendation does not, as desired, put the matter 'beyond doubt'.

The United States

Whereas the relevance of the law in New Zealand to this analysis of the Expert Panel's recommendation chiefly pertains to the public benefit requirement, the principal relevance of United States law is found in the public policy doctrine, which in *Bob Jones* the Supreme Court described as a 'corollary to the public benefit principle' (*Bob Jones*: 2017 [1983]: 591). Acknowledging that *Pemsel* 'has long been recognized as a leading authority in this country', (589) the Court upheld the revocation of the tax exempt status of a university whose segregationist policy contravened the requirement that the 'purpose of a charitable trust may not ... violate established public policy' (574). It described this requirement as being directed against contraventions of 'deeply and widely accepted views of elementary justice (592).' The Court declared that racially discriminatory schools fail to exercise 'beneficial and stabilizing influences in community life' (595) and should not be promoted by 'having all taxpayers share in their support by way of special tax status' (595). The result was that such schools 'cannot be viewed as conferring a public benefit within the "charitable concept" (595-6), as understood by reference to authorities including *Pemsel*.

Turning to the implications of the Supreme Court's recognition of the constitutionally protected right to same-sex marriage in *Obergefell v Hodges 135 S. Ct. 2584 (2015)*, Roberts CJ, in dissent, claimed that the tax exempt status of United States religious institutions that opposed same sex marriage 'would be in question,' as a result of the judgement. In so doing he directed attention to the following exchange between the Solicitor General for the U.S. Department of Justice and Alito J during the hearing:

JUSTICE ALITO: Well, in the Bob Jones case, the Court held that a college was not entitled to tax-exempt status if it opposed interracial marriage or interracial dating. So would the same apply to a university or a college if it opposed same-sex marriage?

GENERAL VERRILLI: You know, I -- I don't think I can answer that question without knowing more specifics, but it's certainly going to be an issue. I -- I don't deny that. I don't deny that, Justice Alito. It is -- it is going to be an issue. ('Transcript of Proceedings' Obergefell v Hodges, US. Supreme Court, Trans. 14556, April 28, 2015, [38])

The concerns expressed by Roberts CJ apparently moved John A Koskinen, IRS Commissioner, to clarify in a letter to Scott Pruitt, Attorney General, Oklahoma, dated 30 July 2015, that the IRS does not believe that *Obergefell v Hodges* has 'changed the law applicable to [tax exempt] determinations or examinations [and will not] change existing standards in reviewing application for recognition of exemption'. As Buckles has argued 'the position of the IRS might change, as it did with respect to the admissions policies of schools such as Bob Jones University' (Buckles 2017: 261). We await the realisation of Roberts CJ's prognostication that the issue will in due course come for determination before the Court. In the meantime, if the interest of the High Court Justices in the position in the United States and the wider implications of the public policy doctrine for discriminatory trusts expressed during the course of hearing in *Aid/Watch* is any guide (Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation [2010] HCATrans 154 (15 June 2010), 1645-1685; 2985-3005; 3490-3540; (16 June 2010) 4090-4145), the content of the common law public policy doctrine as expressed in the United States holds ongoing potential to influence the form of expression that doctrine now takes in Australia, as contained in section 11 of the *Charities Act*.

Canada

During the course of the hearing in *Aid/Watch* the development of the public policy doctrine in Canada also received considered attention (Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation [2010] HCATrans 154 (15 June 2010), 1970-2020; 2975-2985; 3220-3490; (16 June 2010) 4090-4140; 4735-4755). Similar to the position in the United States, the doctrine has also developed with unfolding equality norms. In *Canada Trust Co. v. Ontario Human Rights Commission (1990)* 69 DLR (4th) 321 Tarnopolsky JA considered a trust to provide scholarships determined according to gender, race, religion and ethnic origin to be contrary to public policy, declaring 'public trusts which discriminate on the basis of distinctions that are contrary to public policy must now be void' (352-3). Justice Robins concurred:

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

'the settlor's freedom to dispose of his property through the creation of a charitable trust fashioned along these lines must give way to current principles of public policy under which all races and religions are to be treated on a footing of equality and accorded equal regard and respect' (345)

In Everywoman's Health Centre Society (1988) v The Queen (1991) 92 DTC 6001, Decary JA stated the public policy test imposed a requirement of conformity to 'definite and somehow officially declared and implemented public policy' (6008).

This common law context is relevant to the current discussion as it explicates the adoption of the following amendment to subsection 149.1(6.21) of the *Income Tax Act* at the time of the amendment of the *Civil Marriage Act 2005* to recognise same-sex marriage:

'a registered charity with stated purposes that include the advancement of religion shall not have its registration revoked or be subject to any other penalty under Part V solely because it or any of its members, officials, supporters or adherents exercises, in relation to marriage between persons of the same sex, the freedom of conscience and religion guaranteed under the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms' (Civil Marriage Act 2005)

It will be noted that, unlike the proposal of the Australian Government, this provision is not addressed to any particular requirement of charitable status, but instead operates to disqualify consideration of an entity's view on marriage in the determination of eligibility for registration. To apply the words of one leading Canadian commentator, albeit posed as a more general proposition, such might be conceived as a 'surgical statutory intervention

'through which specific rules or principles are adopted for specific activities [to] bring greater transparency, rationality and integrity to the regulation of activities' and as a means of avoiding imbuing 'charities regulators with excessive discretion'.' (Parachin 2020: 152).

Conclusion

It is clear that, as has been the position for much of its history, the law concerning advocacy by charities will continue to navigate the most contested areas of public policy and provide a litmus test for our readiness to encompass competing views. The analysis provided demonstrates that, while the amendment clearly has work to do, opposition to the proposal by the Australian Government to amend the *Charities Act* appears to have not taken sufficient account either of the ongoing uncertainties concerning the public benefit of advocacy in Australia consequent upon the *Aid/Watch* decision, nor of the High Court's willingness to consider the development of the common law in other jurisdictions. Further, a review of this law shows that there are significant reasons to consider that the Government proposal does not go far enough in achieving the 'certainty' that the Expert Panel sought. Rather than targeting the 'public policy doctrine' alone, an amendment that, following the framework adopted in Canada at the time of the introduction of same-sex marriage legislation, disregards the consideration of a charity's position on marriage would, in the Panel's words, put the matter 'beyond doubt'.

REFERENCES

Aid/Watch Incorporated v Commission of Taxation (2010) 241 CLR 539.

Attorney-General v Hickman (1732) 2 Eq Cas Abr 193 pl 14; 22 ER 166, 1732, 193.

Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission [ACNC] (2019) *Submission on Religious Freedom Bills* 2019. Canberrra: ACNC. Available at: https://www.ag.gov.au/sites/default/files/2020-

03/Australian%20Charities%20and%20Not-for-profits%20Commission.pdf, accessed 03 December 2020

Baird, M. (2017) Letter to Senator Dean Smith. 24 November

Bob Jones University v United States; Goldsboro Christian Schools Inc v United States 103 S. Ct. 2017 (1983) 461 U.S. 574, 76 L.Ed.2d 157, 1983.

Bowman v Secular Society (1917) AC 406.

Buckles, J.R. (2017) The Sexual Integrity of Religious Schools and Tax Exemption. *Harvard Journal of Law & Public Policy*, 40(2): 266.

Canada Trust Co. v Ontario Human Rights Commission (1990) 69 DLR (4th) 321, 1990.

Cary v Abbot (1802) 32 ER 198, 1802: 198.

Chevalier-Watts, J. (2014) Charitable Trusts and Political Purposes: Sowing the seeds of change? Lessons from Australia. *Canterbury Law Review*, 19: 52.

Chevalier-Watts, J. 2018, Charity Law: International Perspectives. Routledge: New York.

Chia, J., Harding, M. & O'Connell, A 2011. Navigating the Politics of Charity: Reflections on *Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation*. *Melbourne University Law Review*, 35(2): 353.

Commissioner for Special Purposes of Income Tax v Pemsel [1891] AC 531, [1891], 531.

Cullity, MC 1990, The Myth of Charitable Activities. *Estates and Trusts Journal*, 10(1): 7.

- Dal Pont, G. 2017 Law of Charity, 2nd edn. LexisNexis Butterworths.
- De Themmines v De Bonneval (1828) 5 Russ: 288
- Deregistration decision D2013-1: Family First New Zealand. New Zealand Charities Registration Board, 15 April 2013 (CC42358).
- Deregistration decision D2017-1: Family First New Zealand. New Zealand Charities Registration Board, 21 August 2017 (CC10094).
- Everywoman's Health Centre Society (1988) v The Queen (1991) 92 DTC 6001, 1991.
- Expert Panel on Religious Freedom (2018) *Religious Freedom Review*. Available at: https://www.pmc.gov.au/domestic-policy/religious-freedom-review, accessed 03 December 2020.
- Explanatory Memorandum, Charities Bill 2013 (Cth).
- Family First New Zealand v Attorney-General 2020, NZCA 366
- House of Commons (1958) Recreational Charities Bill Lords, 11 February 1958, volume 582, column 332. Available at: https://hansard.parliament.uk/commons/1958-02-11/debates/60addf39-6512-4224-a356-5b3a76a1968a/RecreationalCharitiesBillLords, accessed 03 December 2020.
- Harding, M. (2015) An Antipodean View of Political Purposes and Charity Law. *LQR*, 131(1):181.
- Jones, G. (1969) *History of the Law of Charity 1532-1827*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press
- Law Council of Australia (2020) *Submission on Religious Freedom Bills: Second exposure drafts*. Avaiable at: https://www.lawcouncil.asn.au/resources/submissions/religious-freedom-bills-second-exposure-drafts>.
- McGovern and others v Attorney General and another [1982] Ch 321.
- Murray, I. (2019) Looking at the Charitable Purposes/Activities Distinction Through a Political Advocacy Lens: A Trans-Tasman perspective. *Oxford University Commonwealth Law Journal*, 19(1): 30.
- National Anti-Vivisection Society v Inland Revenue Commissioners.
- O'Halloran, K. (2014) *Religion, Charity and Human Rights*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- O'Connell, A. (2010) *Implications of the Aid/Watch Incorporated Decision*. Avaiable at: http://law.unimelb.edu.au/_data/assets/word_doc/0007/1550608/AidWatchForumAnnoConnellspresentation2.doc.
- Obergefell v Hodges, 135 S. Ct. 2584 (2015), 2015: 4250.
- Parachin, A. (2013) Public Benefit, Discrimination and the Definition of Charity. In Kit Barker and Darryn Jensen (eds.), *Private Law Key Encounters with Public Law*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Parachin, A. 2020, Regulating Charitable Activities Through the Requirement for Charitable Purposes: square peg meets round hole. In John Picton and Jennifer Sigafoos (eds.), *Debates in Charity Law*, 129. Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Povey, C. & Woodward, S. (2019) *Submission on Religious Freedom Bills*. Melbourne: Justice Connect.

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

Re Family First New Zealand

Re Greenpeace of New Zealand Inc [2015] 1 NZLR 169 (SC)

- Ridge, P. (2020) When is the Advancement of Religion Not a Charitable Purpose? *Canadian Journal of Contemporary and Comparative Law*, 6: 360.
- Royal North Shore Hospital of Sydney v Attorney General for New South Wales (1938) 60 CLR 396.
- Transcript of Proceedings Obergefell v Hodges, US. Supreme Court, Trans. 14556, April 28, 2015.
- Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation [2010] HCATrans 154 (15 June 2010).
- Transcript of Proceedings, Aid/Watch Inc v Federal Commissioner of Taxation [2010] HCATrans 154 (16 June 2010).
- Turnour, M. & Turnour, E. (2014) Archimedes, *Aid/Watch*, Constitutional Levers and Where We Now Stand. In M. Harding, M. Stewart and A. O'Connell (eds.), *Not-for-Profit Law: Theoretical and Comparative Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

MARK FOWLER is an Adjunct Associate Professor at Notre Dame Law School and an Appeals Panel member for the Australian Council for International Development. He is a member of the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission Advisor Forum and has served as a member of the Queensland Law Society's Human Rights Working Group. He is Principal of Fowler Charity Law, with his specialist areas of advice including the law applying to schools, international aid organisations, retirement villages, aged care facilities and religious organisations. Mark also has a breadth of experience in property and commercial law, with a particular focus on the affordable, community and social housing sectors. Mark has advised many leading national and international charities across these fields. Email: mfowler@fclaw.net.au

Contested Spaces: A Coinciding Rise of State Regulations and Technomoral Politics of Rights-Based NGOs in India.

Alka Sabharwal, University of Western Australia

Abstract

Dominant political debates and scholarship on the escalating state regulation of the voluntary sector invariably focus on the causes and agendas behind State action. This paper draws on the recent insights into how increasing state regulation influences the operational space of rights-based Non-governmental Organisations (NGOs) increasingly mediated and negotiated by technomoral politics. The increasing use of legal activism by such organisations to contest the revocation of its registration under the Foreign Contribution (Regulation) Act (FCRA) 2010 shows that implementation of state regulation is a socially contentious process. Since its birth in 1976, the FCRA has continually caused both the Indian state and NGOs to negotiate and redefine their institutional boundaries and political relationships. In this paper, I position the recent tightening and amending of the FCRA regulations as a site where NGOs use constitutional rights and moral claims to both critique, and collaborate with, the state. With the growing rights-based discourses in the global politics, an increasing use of technomoral and judicialised political strategies by NGOs in India presents an opportunity to expand the space of citizen's rights and entitlements in times of shrinking dissent the world over.

Keywords

NGOs; State; regulation; law; Neoliberalism; virtuous politics; India.

Introduction

In 2016, the Indian Ministry of Home Affairs (MHA) rejected the licence renewal application of twenty-five non-governmental organisations (NGOs) under the Foreign Contribution (Regulation) Act 2010 (the FCRA). An earlier report by the Indian Intelligence Bureau (the IB) in 2014, had made accusations against several NGOs, including Greenpeace, Actionaid, Amnesty International, CORDAID, the Association for India's Development, Gene Campaign and Navdanya for allegedly 'taking down' the country's GDP by two to three percent (Ranjan 2014). The confidential report that was submitted to the Prime Minister's office but later leaked into the media, lay accusations that the NGOs, funded by donors based in the US, UK, Germany and the Netherlands, were a manifestation of the infamous 'foreign hand' and apparently using 'people centric' issues like human rights, government accountability and economic fairness to lead mass protests, and most importantly, to stall 'development' projects in India (Firstpost India 2014). These NGOs were also criticised for painting the government 'Anti-Dalit' which 'harmed' India's reputation in the international quarters (Ranjan 2014; Bhatnagar 2016). These conjured up claims were serious enough that further rigorous amendments to the FCRA were added in 2016; such as barring the foreign-funded NGOs, from engaging in 'political activities' and risking dissolution if they failed to inform the central government of any receipt and utilisation of the foreign funds within the first forty-eight hours (The Economic Times 2016). Several NGOs welcomed the government's move to transparency but also labeled the state action duplicitous and questioned 'why an intelligence agency concerned with terrorism, espionage, and national security would conduct a witch hunt against civil society groups' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 77). There was widespread criticism of the lack of accountability of intelligence agencies such as IB, raising questions about 'transparency...being preached by an entity which is very cagey about disclosing any information about itself' to the public (Nayak 2015). In response, several of the effected NGOs filed Writ Petitions (litigation in the interest of the litigant) and Public Interest Litigations (litigation in the interest of the public) challenging the government's use of the FCRA (Sampath 2016). For instance, the Lawyer's Collective whose registration was cancelled by the MHA alleging misuse of foreign funds approached the High court arguing that the MHA order based on the FCRA was erroneous and misinterpreted (The New Indian Express 2017). Similarly, the Indian National Social Action Forum (INSAF) challenged those specific sections of the FCRA that prohibited any organisation from receiving foreign funding if its memorandum or bye-laws reveal its support for intent to partake in political activities (The Wire 2020). The courts in both these cases

reversed the cancellation of FCRA licences and also agreed that 'any organisation that supports the cause of a group of citizens agitating for their rights without a political goal or objective cannot be penalised by being declared an organisation of political nature' (Rajagopal 2020).

The escalating trend of tightening NGO regulation in contemporary India evokes an image of the overpowering state as a 'vertically authoritative entity' (Ferguson & Gupta 2002) striving to control the subversive voluntary sector. Yet, the cited sequence of events reveals that while the government does employ its sovereign authority to make stringent laws, NGOs also contribute to the execution of such laws by vocalising their concerns. The growing literature examining the concern that civil society actors are under pressure has although taken a distinctive perspective on allied and intersecting trends regarding state regulations. The literature on Securitisation of Aid and War on Terror have mostly paid attention to the effects of the state security policies and practices propagated after the Cold war and 9/11 attributing to the negative effects on NGOs. Similarly, for the scholars drawing attention towards the general backlash on the civil society, the rising illiberal NGO legislations have come to alter the representation of NGOs- from working for the common good to the self-interested entities (ICNL 2006). Jalali (2008) and others argue that a narrow focus on restrictive state policies alone cannot clarify why policies unfold differently in various contexts. Similarly, it also neglects to provide the reasons why some NGOs in the same country face more 'criminalisation' than others (Jalali 2008). Scholars (Kudva 2005; Jalali 2008; Dupuy et al. 2014) have argued that a focus only on the government policies ignores to illuminate the entire role of the state, especially how it also creates enabling conditions for NGOs to function. While drawing attention to the multiple roles played by the Indian state: a 'regulator', a 'funder', and also a 'political force', Kudva (2005: 259) has urged for a more nuanced analysis of NGO-state relations in India taking account of the NGO's 'uneasy' partnership with a 'strong' state blended with its own agency (see also – Tandon 2002).

The literature on decoding the civil society space or *civic space* - the political and social landscape where citizens organise, debate and act – brings a more clear focus on the NGOs but it also fails to reveal how exactly they influence the civic space (see – Buys 2018). The literature on *political space* is eclectic and emphasises the role of external environment in defining this space; however it ignores the effects of behaviours and characteristics of NGOs *within* this space (e.g. Popplewell 2018). While theorising participatory development, Cornwall

(2002: 2) posited that *space* is something that is 'created, opened, reshaped' and not which is 'taken up, assumed or filled'. Elasticity rendered to the concept of *space* by Cornwall implies the possibilities of 'reshaping existing spaces, and renegotiating their boundaries' (Cornwall 2002:2). With an increasing concern that civil society actors are under pressure, Borgh and Terwindt (2012) have reasonably argued for reflecting on NGO space as an *operational space* jointly comprised of three distinct factors: the characteristics of the local political field; the particular mix of pressures with which NGOs are confronted; and the characteristics, objectives, and style of operation of NGOs themselves. According to the authors, this framework helps to see the operational space of NGOs not as given or static but rather as a product of interaction between NGOs.

Applying this current literature to the Indian context helps to visualise how all three of these aspects are increasingly mediated by the technomoral politics. Bornstein and Sharma (2016: 77) have defined this form of politics to be a 'complex, strategic integration of technical and moral vocabularies' proliferating in India at 'the intersection of two translocal processes i.e. the global diffusion of neoliberal good governance and development policies and the attendant judicialisation of politics; and the post-colonial Indian history of legal and moral civil society activism' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 77). With rising battles over meaning of development and democracy in politically and economically liberalised India, the 'technomoral discourses providing technical solutions to moral, human problems' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 79). They emerge from the operational space of rights-based NGOs to express their 'distinctive identities and moral projects' in order to re-negotiate their political relationships with the state (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 77). The activists of Navsarjan Trust, an NGO working on the rights of the Dalits, when challenged the government decision to reject the renewal of its FCRA licence in the courts, have not only labeled the governmental opposition undemocratic but have also claimed that it is suppressing the rights of the most disadvantaged Dalit people in India. The case illustrates that while projecting itself as the representative of Dalit stewardship, Navsarjan also defends its position on human rights as well as staking a distinctive position in political relations with the state.

While benefitting from an extensive review of the multidisciplinary peer-reviewed publications on NGOs, the present analysis on the coincident rise of state regulations and technomoral politics is also based upon the grey literature and secondary resources such as NGO reports;

cross-sectional surveys; grass-root level campaign information available in the form of NGO memorandums and policy manuals or guidelines; and media articles. I also draw upon my first hand experiential knowledge gained through working (1997-2008) with the local, national and international NGOs in India and being an ongoing active participant of two social media network groups of Indian NGO professionals. The paper also benefits in general from my anthropological research background that includes carrying out multiple ethographic fieldworks (Sabharwal 2009, 2010, 2015, 2019) in several Indian villages where NGOs are also engaged in providing education, health care and emergency relief services to the people.

Missing the State: The NGO literature

NGOs are a particular type of actor in civil society, independent of the state and for-profit associations; however, scholars continue to debate whether and how NGOs in India differ from the other civil society actors such as community based organisations, grassroots advocacy groups, professional associations, citizen groups and so forth (Chandhoke 2003; Kamat 2002; Jenkins 2010; Vakil 1997). The proposed distinction is often contested in India with several activists of people's organisation wanting to avoid the NGO label that according to them denotes an 'apolitical (or worse, non-political or even depoliticising) form of social action' (Jenkins 2010: 411). The NGOs that are the subject of this paper are formal organisations that neither represent the government, nor the informal community based organisations, or the forprofit sector and under the FCRA they are seen to be in the need of a restraint. These NGOs strive to meet the needs of the marginalised sections of society by providing services and/or advocacy for social and/or policy change. For our purposes, NGOs are defined as a legally government registered entity, receiving funds from multiple sources (sometimes including foreign donors).

Much of the multidisciplinary literature produced on the NGO sector tends to look at the NGO-State relations rather narrowly – either optimistically or skeptically. With the inadequacy of state welfare in 1970's and 80's and the rise of globalisation, new political conditions had emerged for NGOs to flourish and academic scholarship emerged that portrayed NGOs in a promising light. This scholarship suggested that NGOs would represent local concerns and also promote liberal values by working towards the social and political reform (Wapner 1995; Keck & Sikkink 1998; Risse-Kappan 2005). With increasing globalisation, it was believed that

NGOs could act for the grassroots desire for liberal values such as social justice, human rights and equality and thereby could be the legitimate representatives of the citizens at large (Khagram et al. 2002). Scholars even argued that apolitical NGOs could act as the 'shadow state' or as parastatal apparatus that ultimately could replace the state's development role (Sen 1999: 329). This literature, however, overlooks NGOs' susceptibility to state coercion and the impact of government ideology or its administrative capacity to shape NGO-state interactions (see – Dupuy et al. 2014; Jalali 2008).

The scholarly critique of the NGO phenomenon that emerged in the nineties was largely from

the disciplines of social sciences and development studies. In this literature, the rising number of NGOs and their influence was interpreted as emerging from the 'baskets of (foreign) funding agencies' rather than from the real political struggles of people (Chandhoke 2003). NGOs' dependence on external funding and thereby compliance with the funding agendas, raised questions around whether NGOs were accountable to the people or the funding agencies (Hulme & Edwards 1996). In India, the urban middle class NGO workers who constituted the senior management, were said to be 'not of the community' and by virtue of their class privilege were responsible for contributing to an unequal work culture (Kamat 2002). Such a critique was so prolific that it was seen as an NGO – social movement dichotomy wherein NGOs were considered as office based, reformist entities, making the poor depoliticised and dependent on charity, and social movements were seen as representing the grassroots, being radical, seeking people's empowerment and being essentially political in nature (Karat 1988 in Jenkins 2010). It is clear that this polemical literature has either overstated state's decline or it is over focused on the international funding while underestimating the state's capacity and power to influence

the NGO sector. In contrast, the paper while taking its cue from specifically Kudva (2005) and Dupuy et al. (2014), rests on the understanding that the developmental role of NGOs can be best understood in the context of the parameters set by the state and not otherwise (Also see – Jayasuriya & Rodan 2007). In the following section, the paper illustrates how in India, the NGOs have not been in any way *beyond* the state (Wapner 1995 in Dupuy et al. 2014: 422) and how NGOs 'emerge, operate, use resources, and survive' under the rules enacted by the state governments (Dupuy et al. 2014: 422).

Situating NGOs and state relations in India

After independence in 1947, the remnants of Gandhian voluntary organisations from the freedom movement had come to collaborate with the Nehruvian socialist democratic state on welfare and relief activities for two main reasons – sustaining the Gandhian legacy and building a new democratic nation. For the first two decades, the state's close collaboration with the Gandhians reflected how the state invested a great amount of hope in civic activism and saw voluntary organisations as 'a force in reinvigoration of democracy' (Jenkin 2010: 412). In a recently decolonised society, civil society actors influenced by the voluntary action for Gandhian Swaraj (self-rule) also had new channels of legal engagement available to them in the form of a newly drafted Indian constitution to protect their fundamental rights and at the same time also to limit governmental powers (De 2014). The primary mechanism of regulation of these organisations was through registration under *The Societies Registration Act of 1860*, *The Indian Trust Act of 1882*, and the *Charitable and Religious Act of 1920*.

The second phase of NGO-State interaction from the 1970s, was largely influenced by postcolonial politics writ large with the government's populist garibi hatao (end poverty) schemes on the one hand, and clamping down on people's democratic rights on the other. Alongside committing to meet people's needs, the government in power also declared a state of emergency attributing causes to internal disturbances due to foreign interventions, curtailing civil liberties for almost 2 years between 1975 and 1977. The sense of optimism about NGOs' potential to play a major role in democracy's reinvigoration in this era coincided with the government passing the Foreign Contribution (Regulation) Act in 1976 in order 'to scrutinise NGOs receiving foreign funds for political activities' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 78). The government's anxiety about external subversion - the foreign hand - introduced new stipulations for NGOs as it was assumed that they were likely to threaten 'the sovereignty and integrity of India, the public interest, freedom or fairness of election to any legislature, friendly relations with any foreign state, harmony between religious, racial, linguistic or regional groups threatening' (Jenkins 2010: 415). Scholars now argue that in the wake of this government repression, an increasing numbers of social action groups dubbed as non-party political formations (Kothari 1984), emerged to contribute to political mobilisation which helped not only to bring the emergency to an end, but also how NGOs were seen as 'a force for the reinvigoration of democracy' (Jenkins 2010: 413). By now these groups had expanded their social justice work through newly formed judicial tools such as Public Interest Litigations (PILs). PILs were litigations filed in a court of law for the protection of public interests which

allowed these groups to question government policies and 'make policy interventions, and do political work' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 79). Therefore, long-term political struggles such as Narmada Bachao Andolan (NBA – Save the Narmada Campaign) against mainstream development contested through court battles and Gandhian tactics (See – Bornstein & Sharma 2016) compelled scholars to argue that NGOs in India could 'transform political agendas' (Chandhoke 2003: 71). With this, it was noted that NGOs that had previously been restricted to do 'development activities', by the 1980s expanded their remit to engage in 'advocacy work' or, in other words, funded political activity (Jerkins 2010). Besides using PIL, the NBA activists also used global human rights and indigenous rights instruments to challenge the dam construction and government's failure to resettle dam displaced residents (Khagram et al. 2002).

Since 1970s, the rise of neoliberalism and widening reach of human rights consciousness raised critical questions on whether the increasing number of rights-based NGOs in India was a result of neoliberalism, or encouraged neoliberalism (Moyn 2010). As the number of foreign funded NGOs doing issue-based or rights-based work expanded, it also became increasingly intertwined with proposing technical solutions to moral and human problems under the rubric of good governance, invoking law, policy and constitution (Ferguson 1994; Comaroff & Comaroff 2006). Through interweaving technical proceduralism with moral concerns, NGOs also called for 'good governance' or governmental accountability, which conversely prompted states to closely monitor NGO activities (Sidel 2010).

During this time, the new revised FCRA of 2010 came to reflect more stringent measures for the foreign-funded NGOs as they now had to reapply to the government every five years - and comply to an added condition that FCRA funds could not be utilised for political or 'antinational' activities (Sampath 2016). Through this Act amendment, it was expected that NGOs will stop using 'foreign donations to criticize Indian policies [but] to do development work instead' (Voluntary Action Network of India 2014: 3). By 2016, the escalating state suspicion and tightening of NGO regulation made government revoke the registration of over 20,000 NGOs, technically violating the various provisions of the new FCRA regulation (Bhattacharya 2016). Such widespread cancellations also triggered several NGOs including INSAF to challenge especially the rule 3 of the FCRA (grounds for declaring an organisation political) in the courts where it demanded that the government re-evaluate FCRA and thereby

its execution (The First Post 2013). This shows that instead of missing or being absent, the state has always featured in defining the political relations of NGOs with the state actors.

Operational space of NGOs in India

National political field and context

In a democracy like India, it is visualised that NGOs would have established 'working relations with state agencies in order to reach consensus on particular topics or to make claims vis-a-vis the government or other societal actors' (Borgh & Terwindt 2012: 1069). These 'working relations' that Borgh & Terwindt (2012) refer to evolved in two ways against the backdrop of neoliberal reforms in India. First, there was a shift from 'development needs' to 'rights' talk that came to change the way NGO activists could make a claim on the state. Until this time, for instance, the exclusion and humiliation suffered by millions of Untouchables/Dalits in India had not become a human rights issue. With the goals of eradicating caste-discrimination in the world made the Ford Foundation and Human Rights Watch to give rise to the National Campaign on Dalit Human Rights (NCDHR) in India. The NCDHR campaign filed several petitions to the government demanding 'freedom from caste bondage' for 240 million Dalits and called on the successive governments to implement the Untouchability and the Atrocities Act in its entirety i.e. 'letter, spirit and action' (Bob 2007: 179). As the Indian state moved to privatise the economy with neoliberalism, NCDHR believed that Indian state's lassitude in enforcing its longstanding laws protecting Untouchables could more effectively be addressed by reframing caste-based discrimination into a more internationally attuned framework of work-and-descent-based discrimination (Bob 2007). Neoliberalism, in this way, brought the struggles fought on the streets into the courts (See – Moustafa 2014) and as a consequence, brought rights-based NGOs much closer to governmental practice (See – Odyssseos 2010).

Secondly, there was a dramatic increase in the number of NGOs from only 12,000 NGOs registered with the MHA in 1988 to now more than 2 million registered NGOs (Johari 2014). Some scholars attribute this to the advancing international donors' validation of 'NGOs as efficient development actors and their promotion of state-civil society partnerships in the name of good governance' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 80). But with NGOs playing an important role in providing development services, some argue that it has also turned them into 'Trojan horses' 'challenging state authority from within even as state institutions co-opt them'

(Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 80: see also – Sharma 2008). While encouraged NGO activity made the state uncomfortable, there is also a rising criticism of the increased gaps between the idealised NGOs and those NGOs that became conformist or statist agents (Jerkins 2010; Kamat 2004). Therefore, NGO-state 'working relations' in the neoliberal context of India are reflected in both ways i.e. through escalated state restrictions on the NGOs on one hand but also in recognising how the voluntary sector is a moving target that works with, as well as against, state agencies on development and redistributive justice (Also see – Kudva 2005).

Restrictive policies and actions

To understand the particular mix of pressures faced by rights-based NGOs in India, I divide the state restrictions into the following three categories: physical harassment and intimidation; criminal investigations; and administrative actions. Since India formally recognises basic rights and freedom of association, restrictive policies for NGOs are more at the level of formal laws and procedures (Buyse 2018) and so far there are relatively few reports of NGO staff being physically harassed and intimidated. However, there is certainly an increased rate of using criminal investigations against rights-based NGOs, but in most cases they are preventive measures such as account audits, police raids at NGO offices and the homes of NGO staff, blocking of bank accounts and seizing of computers along with mobile phones and personal documents (Shekhar 2019). The use of criminal proceedings has been very selective. For instance, a social media post by the ex-director of Amnesty International triggered the police filing a report against him (The Statesman 2020). Simply attending a Dalit event or singing Dalit resistance songs have also been pronounced criminal acts and participating activists have faced police arrests (Jenkins 2019). The administrative amendments discussed earlier have rendered the FCRA more stringent with a new requirement for licence registration to be renewed every five years; while the state retaining the arbitrary powers to refuse the renewal of the NGO licences without providing any valid reasons. The NGOs and activists criticised the government for selective targeting as the licences were first renewed and then revoked in disregard of any explanations or arguments by the government (Bhatnagar 2016). The new state regulations also expect NGOs that seek registration or prior permission for accessing the foreign contributions to register on the government online portal DARPAN- a platform that aims to provide space for an interface between NGOs and the key government ministries.

However, it is estimated that less than fifty percent of NGOs have taken an initiative to register on DARPAN since its introduction (Johari 2017). According to a representative of a peak body of voluntary organisations in India – VANI (Voluntary Action Network of India), several NGOs are not certain on the use of such portal websites because 'there are no explanations for these steps, just dictates from the government' (Johari 2017). NGO activists also alleged that the compulsory reporting mechanisms as part of DARPAN's registration reflect almost 'Aadhaar (a biometric ID system for the Indian citizens by the government) kind of stipulations for NGOs'. Because divulging information through periodic reports could easily be used against several rights-based organisations that are trying to change the governmental policies and practices and are often at 'loggerheads with the government' (Johari 2017). This has also pushed several NGO representatives to characterise and designate such administrative restrictions as rather political in nature (Ganguly 2016).

Part partnership part opposition

As discussed earlier, rather being dichotomous, the relationship between NGOs and the state in India has moved along an oscillating continuum from sometimes being a dependent-client relationship to being a cooperative and also an adversarial one. In recent years, the relationship was defined as 'part partnership part opposition' where NGOs have positioned themselves as insiders as well as outsiders. They have been part of official commissions, advised the state on its five yearly development plans and also lobbied the government officials to change policies and introduce new citizenship rights. But a rightward push of the state has also witnessed a resurgence of the Hindutva with Rashtriya Swyam Sevak Sangh (RSS), the ruling party's right wing Hindu nationalist organisation, growing in prominence within the civil society domain (Varshney 2001), As compared to more professionalised partnerships in the past, the new model is claimed to be deeply polarised where Hindu organisations are setting the partnership agenda with the government (Singh & Behar 2018). Such coopting of the operational space of NGOs has also led to a new situation of NGOs being 'disallowed' from these collaborative spaces by the revocation of their FCRA licences when they differ from the right-wing political agenda of the government (Singh & Behar 2018: 136). With the rise of religious politics, the rights-based NGOs especially face difficult choices on whether to engage with the state or

remain aloof from the domain of the political agenda of the conservative politics (See – Jenkins 2010).

Response strategies of NGOs

As discussed earlier, challenging state policies through judicialised activism is not new in India. Some scholars argue that the increased use of technomoral politics by the NGOs has been aggravated due to the depoliticising effect where 'policy comes to replace politics' in the neoliberal context (Randeria & Grunder 2009 in Bernstein & Sharma 2016: 78). For instance, 'right to food' campaign activists had filed a Public Interest Litigation in the Supreme Court demanding country's food stocks to be used against hunger and starvation turning food security and poverty alleviation into the moral case of governmental responsibility (Bornstein & Sharma 2016). This shift of the politics into the legal or 'judicialisation of politics', (Comaroff & Comaroff 2006: 31), and the moral manifests a new form of politics (Bornstein & Sharma 2016) expressed by NGOs invoking legislative and constitutional rights in asserting their positional politics as also indicated in the following case of the Navsarjan Trust.

The technomoral politics of Navsarjan Trust

Established by Martin Macwan, a Dalit lawyer turned activist, Navsarjan (New creation) Trust worked on Dalit rights, to eliminate untouchability practices based on caste-discrimination. By 1998, Macwan, after becoming the first president of NCDHR, had broadened his fight by organising rights-based campaigns such as human rights value education, land rights, local governance, political rights and women's rights. Navsarjan's other advocacy tactics included organising workshops with senior advocates on changing laws, campaigning for exclusive courts for Dalit cases, digitising of key data to address caste discrimination, training and building capacities of the Dalit members of village councils and writing research reports on topics such as Dalit rights and empowerment (Navsarjan Trust website). In the last three decades, Navsarjan has also filed a total of sixteen petitions and two PILs in the courts demanding governments to strengthen laws and policies that establish equality and eliminate caste-based discrimination and violence against Dalit. For spearheading the important work on Dalit rights in India, Macwan has been recognised by two prestigious global awards, helping

Navsarjan in acquiring international legitimacy as well as overseas funding from the transnational donors (Bob 2007). Navsarjan is one of the largest grassroots NGO in the state of Gujarat and about eighty five percent (20 Million USD per year) of its funding to work in 3000 villages is secured from foreign sources (DNA 2016). Before the cancellation of its FCRA licence, Navsarjan had more than 80 field staff to run Navsarjan Vidhalayas (boarding schools from grades five to eight) and provide youth education on land laws, development schemes and how to combat drugs and alcohol addiction (DNA 2016). Navsarjan has combined the transformative politics of the Dalit rights' movement with a service-delivery approach as it has offered children's education in the Navsarjan Vidhayalas and has also mobilised the Dalit village council members, by keeping participatory governance on its political agenda (See – Jenkins 2010). This hybridity that Navsarjan has achieved and intersects in its vision and work, according to Bornstein and Sharma (2016), is also at the center of the technomoral politics.

Movement-based activism in India is associated with undertaking *political* activities whereas NGOs are assumed to take on *non-political* supportive work. Since NGOs are unaccountable to the public, they are often considered morally questionable due to their alliances with the international donors (Hulme & Edwards 1997; Kamat 2004). Despite its predominant reliance on foreign funding, Navsarjan has undertaken political activities. While countering the untouchability practices and simultaneously establishing 'equal citizens without discrimination' as a central education policy in its boarding schools, it has also avoided the so-called NGO trap. Technomoral politics, in this way, certainly relieves Navsarjan from obfuscating the overly simplistic division of movement politics and service delivery in its work (Also see – Jenkins 2010).

Macwan claims that Navasarjan's FCRA licence cancellation is an arbitrary use of the state power because there are no legal procedures that Navsarjan has violated to invite such a governmental action (The Counterview 2017). He reveals that Navsarjan had renewed its FCRA licence on August 3 2016 permitting them to utilise foreign funds, but for no apparent reason the licence was made invalid on November 15 2016. What would have happened within a span of three months for MHA to declare Navsarjan an anti-national organisation remains a puzzle for Navsarjan (The Counterview 2017). Macwan also raises questions on the legal basis of the governmental audit of Navsarjan's accounts undertaken after the revocation of its FCRA licence (The Counterview 2017). Macwan declares the FCRA revocation to be a non-

administrative exercise that shows lack of transparency on the government's part (The Counterview 2017). Despite criticising the government's performance in executing FCRA, Macwan himself is not strictly past or beyond the state (Lewis 2010). He has acted as a government advisor to the planning commission (Niti Ayog), a central authority formulating India's five-yearly plans, besides teaching and training the magistrates, judges and civil servants (The Counterview 2017). After the un-democratic decision to revoke its FCRA licence, Navsarjan activists have expressed their deep anguish to the Indian President, Prime Minister, opposition leader, and to twelve different local government offices in their targeted villages (The Counterview 2017). They have painstakingly made visits to each of the government district headquarters and digitally recorded the act of handing over the protest memorandums to the district collectors. Such an undertaking of protest performances at the government offices has reflected that Navsarjan does associate itself with the rule of law but only through counter-posing movement-based politics as virtue. Even with such political activism, when Navsarjan made the case for more ethical politics, it separates itself from the undemocratic politics of the FCRA execution, but carries the need to infiltrate the state with twelve protest memorandums, in order to democratise it (Also see – Bornstein & Sharma 2016). After Navsarjan's FCRA licence was revoked in 2016, MHA provided an official statement highlighting the reasons behind the licence cancellation. The MHA declared in its statement that Navsarjan is involved in 'undesirable activities aimed to affect prejudicially harmony between religious, racial, social, linguistic, regional groups, castes or communities' (Johari 2016,). Navsarjan's long reputation of being dedicated to the Dalit cause and Macwan's image as a devoted activist fighting tirelessly against caste-discrimination was no doubt defamed with the release of MHA's statement. In response, one of the Navsarjan's protest memorandum, given to the Amreli district collector on 15th December 2016 invoked technical as well as moral concerns by stating, '...to the contrary, for the past 27 years, Navsarjan Trust has been a critical force to uplift the Dalit community and has been a dedicated advocate for Dalit rights as provided by the Indian constitution and laws' (The Counterview 2017). Navsarjan in its response to MHA choose to frame its virtuous politics within the rights domain reflecting Navsarjan's long standing emphasis on using human rights framework to voice cultural and social discriminations against untouchables in India. Several scholars have now argued that with an expansion of the human rights discourses and institutions, they have also become intertwined with the proposed technical solution to moral or human problems (Kamat 2004;

Bob 2007). In other words, Navsarjan's vision of Dalit rights re-defines socially inflicted caste discriminations as economic and social rights (Bob 2007). Navsarjan has fought to defend and extend Dalit rights by successfully bringing changes to laws and policies such as those aiming to rehabilitate manual scavengers through state reforms, and by canvassing for Dalit jobs through Safai Kamdaar Municipal Corporation, and through the allocation of land to landless Dalits and in the process making the state democratic. This interweaving of technical proceduralism with moral concerns by Navsarjan is located in the same neoliberal context that also exacerbates the caste violence against Dalits in India (Bob 2007). Navsarjan uses the same technical means provided under the rubric of good governance to fight against caste-based discrimination that also secularises the untouchability or politics of identity, rooted in the centuries old cultural history of India (Rao 2009).

The case study of Navsarjan illustrates how FCRA regulation and its execution are actually situated in a contested socio-legal domain. The particular contestations highlight how institutional identities are troubled and mediated by the technomoral politics where non-state actors constantly try to position themselves as more transparent and ethical than the state. While using FCRA amendments, the Indian state wants to act transparent but Navsarjan uses legal activism to prove otherwise. Similarly, the state through FCRA calls out the NGO's work as political but the technomoral politics of Navsarjan has shown that how it is not easy to delineate. Overall, these contestations, while reflecting the larger debate around whether NGOs represent funding agencies, or people; and whether as an NGO they constrain political activism or not, shows the ever-changing matrix of the NGO-state relationship in India.

Conclusion

In response to the tightening regulation of the voluntary sector in India, the former United Nations (UN) special Rapporteur on the Rights to Freedom of peaceful Assembly and of Association, Maina Kiai, had pointed that certain provisions of the FCRA were not in conformity with the international human rights law and noted that, 'access to resources, including foreign funding is a fundamental part of the right to freedom of association under international law, standards, and principles, and more particularly part of forming an association' (Former UN special Rapporteur 2016). Invoking human rights to contest FCRA is part of the technomoral approach and, like Navsarjan, several other NGOs such as

Greenpeace, Sabrang Trust, INSAF, and Lawyer's Collective have methodically employed legal tactics to contest the governmental legal action. INSAF's petition contesting government's power to categorise any NGO as 'political' and to curtail its foreign funding as a violation of the fundamental rights enshrined in India's constitution, was also successful and concluded in a positive judgment. In March 2020, the Supreme Court agreed that 'political interests' described in the FCRA are 'vague and susceptible to misuse' the judiciary decided that NGOs demanding the 'citizens' rights through legitimate methods of expressing dissent could not be deprived of funds from foreign contributors' (Scroll, March 2, 2020). But within a few months in September 2020, the government also passed another parliamentary bill introducing further new additions and amendments to the FCRA. As per these new amendments, NGOs would have to drastically reduce the amount of funding that they spend on the administrative expenses while no NGO could access foreign funding without a prior permission from the concerned ministry.

The coinciding rise of state regulations and technomoral politics of NGOs in India, both unfold in the socio-legal field. State and non-state actors together join in these politics and render law-making a contentious social process (Bornstein & Sharma 2016). The FCRA and its amendments in a democratic context does reflect the power of the state but such laws and policies are also a key ground for NGO activism allowing it to critique state power and possibly alter governance structures. Navsarjan's negotiations and several positive judgments in favour of NGOs show that increasing use of technomoral politics also offers a hopeful potential to fight and defend the realm of rights. The case does reflect that the use of technomoral politics is constrained by the liberal-democratic framework in which technomoral politics operate. But this also illustrates that NGOs like Navsarjan are moving towards a new kind of 'positional politics' rather than being gradually depoliticised. Despite being at loggerheads with the ruling Hindu right government, a growing electoral success of especially Dalit women (Kamble 2019) demonstrates the 'politics of positionality wherein state and non state actors strategically construct their identities and difference in relation to one another' (Bornstein & Sharma 2016: 83).

Given the rising importance of rights-based discourses in global politics that usually deploy technical and moral idioms, it is anticipated that state regulation of NGOs will grow in India and elsewhere. It is quite likely that the use of technomoral politics will also expand in concert.

But noted earlier, this does not mean that other forms of NGOs engagement or mobilisation would diminish. Contemporary movements in India such as campaigns for Anti-Citizenship Acts amendments and NGOs being 'COVID warriors' (Gul 2020) show that legal activism does not preclude but rather facilitates NGOs' work, helping expand the sphere of dissent in a context that is under threat more than ever before.

NOTES

The literal meaning of Dalit translates to 'oppressed' or 'broken'- is generally used to refer to people who were once known as 'untouchables' in the Hindu caste structure.

REFERENCES

- Bhatacharya, D. (2016) FCRA Licences of 20,000 NGOs Cancelled: Act being used as weapon to silence organisations. *First Post*, 30 December. Available at: https://www.firstpost.com/india/fcra-licences-of-20000-ngos-cancelled-act-being-used-as-weapon-to-silence-organisations-3181560.html.
- Bhatnagar, G.V. (2016) NGOs Take to Social Media to Slam FCRA License Cancellation. *The Wire*, 16 December. Available at: https://thewire.in/politics/ngos-take-social-media-slam-fcra-licence-cancellation.
- Bob, C. (2007) Dalit Rights are Human Rights: Caste discrimination, international activism, and the construction of a new human rights issue. *Human Rights Quarterly*, 29(1): 167-93.
- Borgh, C. & C, Terwindt. (2012) Shrinking Operational Space of NGOs: A framework of analysis. *Development in Practice*, 22(8): 1065-1081.
- Bornstein, E. & A, Sharma. (2016) The Righteous and the Rightful: The technomoral politics of the NGOs, social movements and the state in India. *American Ethnologist*, 3(1): 76-90.
- Buyse, A. (2018) Squeezing Civic Space: Restrictions on civil society organisations and the linkages with human rights. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 22(8): 966-88.
- Chandhoke, N. (2003) The Conceits of Civil Society. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Comaroff, J. L. & Comaroff, J. 2006 Law and Disorder in the Postcolony: An introduction. In Jean Comaroff and John L. Comaroff (eds.), *Law and Disorder in the Postcolony*, 1-56. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Cornwall, A. (2002) Making Spaces, Changing Places: Situating participation in development, IDS Working Paper 170. Brighton, UK: IDS.
- De, Rohit. (2014) Rebellion, Dacoity, and Equality: The emergence of the constitutional field in postcolonial India. *Comparative Studies of South Asia, Africa and the Middle East*,

- 34(2): 260–78.
- DNA India (2016) FCRA Cancellation Forces NGO Navsarjan to Lay off its 80-odd Staff. *DNA*, 24 December. Available at: https://www.dnaindia.com/india/report-fcra-cancellation-forces-ngo-to-lay-off-its-80-odd-staff-2285971.
- Dupuy, K. E. & Prakash, A.(2014) Who Survived? Ethiopia's regulatory crackdown on foreign-funded NGOs. *Review of International Political Economy*, 22(2): 419-56.
- Edwards, M. & Hulme, D. (1996) Too Close For Comfort? The impact of official aid on nongovernmental organizations. *World Development*, 24(6): 961–73.
- Ferguson, J. (1994) *The Anti-politics Machine: Development, depoliticization, and bureaucratic power in Lesotho*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Ferguson, J. & Akhil, G. (2002). Spatializing States: Toward an ethnography of neoliberal governmentality. *American Ethnologist*, 29(4): 981-1002.
- Former UN Special Rapporteur (2016). India: Special Rapporteur's legal analysis argues restrictions on foreign funding contrary to international law. Former UN Special Rapporteur, 22 April 2016. Available at: http://freeassembly.net/news/india-fcra-infonote/see (Accessed 26 September 2016).
- Ganguly, M. (2016) Targeting NGOs Hurt Those Most in Need. *Asian Age*, 22 December. Available at: http://www.asianage.com/india/all-india/221216/targeting-ngos-hurt-those-most-in-need.html.
- Gul, R. (2020) Supreme Court Has More Important Concerns than Ensuring Smooth Traffic.

 National Herald, 28 Feb. Available at:

 https://www.nationalheraldindia.com/interview/supreme-court-has-more-important-concerns-than-ensuring-smooth-traffic
- ICNL (International Center for Not-for-Profit Law) (2006) Recent Laws and Legislative Proposals to Restrict Civil Society and Civil Society Organizations. *The International Journal for Not-for-Profit Law*, 8(4). Available at: http://www.icnl.org/research/journal/vol8iss4/art_1.htm
- Jenkins, R. (2010) NGOs and Indian Politics. In Niraja Gopal Jayal and Pratap Bhanu Mehta (eds.), *The Oxford Companion to Politics in India*: 409-426. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.
- Jenkins, R. (2019) India 2019: A transformative election. *Pacific Affairs*, 92(3): 475-497.
- Jalali, R. (2008) International Funding of NGOs in India: Bringing the state back. *Voluntas*, 19: 161-188.
- Jayasuriya, K & Rodan, G. (2007) Beyond Hybrid Regimes: More participation, less contestation in Southeast Asia. *Democratization*, 14(5): 773-794. Available at: https://doi.org/10.1080/13510340701635647
- Johari, A. (2016) Gujarat's Oldest Dalit Rights Group Loses Foreign Funds License: Reviving charges of victimization. *Scroll*, 18 December. Available at: https://scroll.in/article/824441/gujarats-oldest-dalit-rights-group-loses-foreign-funds-licence-reviving-charges-of-victimisation.
- Johari, A. (2017) Aadhaar For NGOs: Why nonprofits are uneasy about new order to obtain unique ID from NitiAyog. *Scroll*, 22 October. Available at:

- https://scroll.in/article/854007/aadhaar-for-ngos-why-nonprofits-are-uneasy-about-new-order-to-obtain-unique-id-from-niti-aayog.
- Kamat, S. (2002) *Development Hegemony: NGOs and the state in India*. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.
- Kamat, S. (2004) The Privatization of Public Interest: Theorizing NGO discourse in a neoliberal era. *Review of International Political Economy*, 11(1): 155-176
- Kamble, S. (2019) Despite Political Setbacks in India, Dalit Voices Grow Stronger. *The Conversation*, 21 May. Available at: https://theconversation.com/despite-political-setbacks-in-india-dalit-voices-grow-stronger-117055.
- Khagram, S., Riker, J. V. & Sikkink, K. (2002) *Restructuring World Politics: Transnational social movements, networks, and norms*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Keck, M. & Sikkink, K. (1998) *Activists Beyond Borders: Advocacy networks in international politics*. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Kothari, Rajni. (1984) The Non-party Political Process. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 19(5): 216–224.
- Kudva, N. (2005) Strong States, Strong NGOs. In R. Ray and M. F. Katzenstein (eds.), *Social Movements in India: Poverty, power, and politics*. 233–266. New Delhi: Oxford University Press.
- Lewis, David. 2010. Disciplined Activists, Unruly Brokers? Exploring the boundaries between non-governmental organizations, donors, and the state in Bangladesh. In David Gellner (ed.), *Varieties of Activist Experience: Civil society in South Asia*, 159-180. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- McMahon, J. (2007) Developments in the Regulations of NGOs via Government Counter-Terrorism Measures and Policies. Policy Briefing Paper 11, Oxford: INTRAC.
- Ministry of Home Affairs. (n.d.) https://fcraonline.nic.in/home/index.aspx.
- Ministry of Home Affairs (n.d.) Receipt of Foreign Contributions by Voluntary Associations, Annual Report (2001)-02; Annual Report (2003)-04; India. (2004)-05 Annual Report Available at: www.mha.nic.in.
- Moustafa, T. (2014) Law and Courts in Authoritarian Regimes. *Annual Review of Law and Social Science*, 10(1): 281-299.
- Moyn, S. (2010) *The Last Utopia: Human rights in history*. Massachusetts: Harvard University Press.
- Nair, Padmaja. (2007) Whose Public Action? Analysing inter-sectoral collaboration for service delivery: Historical analysis of relationships between the state and the non-governmental sector in India. IDD: University of Birmingham.
- Nayak,V. (2015) Highest Authorities Want Foreign Funded NGOs To Be Transparent Within 48 Hours, But Deny Mundane Information Under RTI. *The Counterview*, 18th June. Available at: https://counterview.org/2015/06/18/highest-authorities-want-foreign-funded-ngos-to-be-transparent-within-48-hours-but-deny-mundane-information-under-rti/ .(Accessed 20th June 2020).
- Noorani, A, G. (2001) Stifling the NGOs. *Economic and Political Weekly*, 36(29): 2731-2732. Odysseos, L. (2010) Human Rights, Liberal Ontogenesis and Freedom Producing Subjects of

- Neoliberalism. Journal of International Studies, 38(3): 747-772.
- Pandey (2019) Targeted for Rights Work Says Lawyer Indira Jaisingh after CBI raids. *The Hindu*, 18th June Available at: https://www.ndtv.com/india-news/senior-lawyers-indira-jaising-and-anand-grovers-home-office-raided-by-cbi-over-alleged-violation-in-2067649.
- Popplewell, R. (2018) Civil Society, Legitimacy and Political Space: Why some organisations are more vulnerable to restrictions than others in violent and divided contexts. *Voluntas*, 29: 388-403.
- Rajagopal, K. (2020) Centre Can't Brand An Organisation As Political For Aiding A Public Cause: Supreme Court. *The Hindu*, 6th March. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/news/national/centre-cant-brand-an-organisation-as-political-for-aiding-a-public-cause-supreme-court/article31003668.ece.
- Ranjan, A. (2014) 'Foreign-aided NGOs Are Actively Stalling Development: IB tells PMO in a report'. *Indian Express*, 7 June. Available at: https://indianexpress.com/article/india/india-others/foreign-aided-ngos-are-actively-stalling-development-ib-tells-pmo-in-a-report/.
- Rao, A. (2009) *The Caste Question: Dalits and modern India*. California: University of California Press.
- Risse-Kappen, T. (2005) Bringing Transnational Relations Back: Non-State actors, domestic structures, and international institutions. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Sampath, G. (2016) Time to Repeal the FCRA. *The Hindu*, 27 December. Available at: https://www.thehindu.com/opinion/lead/Time-to-repeal-the-FCRA/article16946222.ece.
- Scroll (2020). NGOs Supporting Public Causes Can't Be Blocked From Foreign Funding, Rules Supreme Court. *Scroll*, 18 December. Available at: https://scroll.in/latest/955406/ngos-supporting-public-causes-cant-be-blocked-from-foreign-funding-rules-supreme-court.
- Sharma, A. (2008) Logics of Empowerment: Development, gender, and governance in neoliberal India. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- Shekhar, R. (2019) Targeted For Human Rights Work: Indira Jaising. *The Times of India*, 12 July. Available at: https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/india/targeted-for-human-rights-work-indira-jaising/articleshow/70184428.cms.
- Sen, S. (1999) Some Aspects of State- NGO Relationships in India: In the post- independence era. *Development and Change*, 30: 327-355.
- Sidel, Mark. (2010) Regulation of the Voluntary Sector: Freedom and security in an era of uncertainty. London: Routledge.
- Singh, R. & Behar, A. (2018) Indian Civil Society. In R. Marchetti (ed.), *Government-NGO Relationships in Africa, Asia, Europe*, 114-138. MENA: Taylor & Francis Group.
- Tandon, R. (2002) Voluntary Action, Civil Society and the State. New Delhi: Mosaic Books.
- The Counterview (2017). Govt of India Bullying Gujarat Dalit NGO Navsarjan into Silence, Return FCRA License: Panchmahal rights group. *The Counterview*, 15 January. https://www.counterview.net/2017/01/govt-of-india-bullying-gujarat-dalit.html.

- The Counterview (2017) Selective Targeting of Navsarjan for its Advocacy of Dalit People is Abhorrent and Antidemocratic. *The Counterview*, 20 January. Available at: https://counterview.org/2017/01/20/selective-targeting-of-navsarjan-for-its-advocacy-for-dalit-people-is-abhorrent-and-anti-democratic/.
- The Counterview (2017). To Fight FCRA Clampdown, One Should to go Beyond Legal Framework, Project Strong Collective Voice. *The Counterview*, 17 April. Available at: https://counterview.org/2017/04/17/to-fight-fcra-clampdown-one-should-to-go-beyond-legal-framework-project-strong-collective-voice/_
- The Economic Times. (2016) Banks Have to Report Foreign Contributions to NGOs Within 48 Hours. *The Economic Times*, 27 April. Available at: https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/banking/finance/banking/banks-have-to-report-foreign-contribution-to-ngos-within-48-hours/articleshow/52009963.cms?from=mdr.
- The New Indian Express. (2017) Bombay High Court Orders to Defreeze Accounts of Indira Jaisingh's NGO. *The New Indian Express*, 31 January. Available at: https://www.newindianexpress.com/nation/2017/jan/31/bombay-high-court-orders-to-defreeze-accounts-of-indira-jaisinghs-ngo.
- The Statesman. (2020) Former Amnesty International Official Aakar Patel Booked for 'Offensive' Tweet. *The Statesman*, 5 June. Available at : https://www.thestatesman.com/india/former-amnesty-international-official-aakar-patel-booked-for-offensive-tweet-1502896526.html.
- The Wire. (2020) Explainer: Has SC limited centre's misuse of FCRA by reading down rules? *The Wire*, 9 March. Available at: https://thewire.in/law/explainer-supreme-court-fcrarules.
- Vakil, A. C. (1997) Confronting the Classification Problem: Toward a taxonomy of NGOs. *World Development*, 25(12): 2057-2070.
- Voluntary Action Network of India (2014). *Policy Note on Reforms in the Voluntary Sector*. VANI: New Delhi.
- Varshney, A. (2001) Ethnic Conflict and Civil Society: India and beyond. *World Politics*, 53(3): 362-398.
- Wapner, P. (1995) Politics Beyond the State: Environmental activism and world civic politics. *World Politics*, 47: 311-340.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

ALKA SABHARWAL is an anthropologist with focused research and teaching interests in anthropology of development, environment and research methods. Her PhD research was on cultural politics of environment and development examined anthropological theory from the margins of the Himalayan borderlands in India. Email alka.sabharwal@uwa.edu.au

FROM THE FIELD

China and its Regulation of Overseas NGOs, Foundations, and Think Tanks: Four Years of Implementation of a New Securitised Policy and Legal Framework

Mark Sidelⁱ, Doyle-Bascom Professor, University of Wisconsin-Madison

Abstract

Four years ago, China adopted a sharply focused, comprehensive and restrictive regulatory framework for the control and monitoring of overseas nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), foundations, think tanks, trade associations and other nonprofits working in China, including those from Hong Kong and Taiwan. This report from the field discusses the origins and development of this new framework, which is centered in the Overseas NGO Law (2016, eff. 2017); analyses China's goals for this framework and methods of achieving the control it seeks; reviews the first four years of implementation of these new restrictions on overseas NGOs, foundations and other entities; and discusses some of the few formal enforcement actions taken by Chinese security forces to implement the Overseas NGO Law framework — and how much enforcement falls outside of formal sanctions.

The result of this multi-year process is comprehensive control and monitoring of the activities and grant-making by overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits in China, including now increasingly in Hong Kong as well. Despite earlier hopes in China and beyond that the constraints of this new framework might be slightly loosened once China's political and security apparatus perceived full control over the overseas nonprofit sector working in China

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

(and now Hong Kong), there is no current sign of any relaxation in these measures, even in

minor forms.

Keywords

Foreign funding; foundations; nongovernmental organizations; China; enabling environment;

funding barriers; securitisation

Securitising overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofit organisations in China in the Xi Jinping era

We are now four years into the implementation of a sharply focused and restrictive Chinese regulatory framework for the control and monitoring of overseas nongovernmental organisations (NGOs), foundations, think tanks, trade associations and other nonprofits working in China. China has long monitored and restricted the work of overseas nonprofits in China, but these controls have taken new steps forward since the Xi Jinping administration came to power in 2012.ⁱⁱ

Prior to that, while China actively watched and at times restricted what nonprofit organisations could do in the country, that control and surveillance was uneven, dotted with silos of regulatory activity in which nonprofits could seek a place in which to operate that was

somewhat askew from the Chinese state, and with episodic or even haphazard enforcement.

Different Chinese regulators regulated different silos – corporates and consulting firms working in the nonprofit space; foundations; community development organisations; more recently social enterprises, to name a few – and there was no one central regulator that understood and controlled the full range of what overseas nonprofits were doing in China and reported to Chinese political authorities on the activities of the sector.

The Restrictive Framework of the overseas NGO law (enacted 2016, effective January 1, 2017)

That siloised, fragmented framework of control largely ended with the enactment of the Law on the Management of the Domestic Activities of Overseas Nongovernmental Organisations of the People's Republic of China in April 2016 (Overseas NGO Law). The Law, effective

January 1, 2017, applied one political and legal framework to virtually all overseas nonprofit organisations in China, including those based in Hong Kong and Taiwan.ⁱⁱⁱ

Under the Overseas NGO Law, there are two channels for overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits to work in China – through the registration of an office in China (登记设立代表机构) with the agreement of a professional supervisory unit/partner institution (业务主管单位); or through filing of 'temporary activities' (备案临时活动) with Chinese regulatory authorities. In both cases the overseas organisation must have a Chinese partner that vets, follows and collaborates in its activities.

The regulatory authority for both channels of activity, and for the work of all overseas nonprofit organisations in China since 2017, is the Ministry of Public Security in Beijing, one of China's major domestic security agencies. ^{iv} By June 2020, when this is written, the Ministry of Public Security has approved 550 office registrations by overseas (including Hong Kong and Taiwan) nonprofits in China, and 3,017 temporary filings of one year project activities by overseas nonprofits, in each case working with Chinese partners. ^v

Why is China doing this? At its root, China is securitising and closing civic space for overseas nonprofits, and a similar process is underway for domestic Chinese nonprofit organisations as well. China wants nonprofit organisations to be focused on service delivery and on cooperation with the state in managing society, and restrictions on both overseas and domestic groups are intended to pursue that policy framework and discourage advocacy except with permissible bounds.

As I and others have discussed in other work (Feng 2017; Jia 2017; Shieh 2018; Sidel 2018, 2020; Batke 2020), China's recent moves in these area are in part related to Chinese concerns about 'color revolutions' – the civil society-led popular movements which have swept Eastern and Central Europe, the Middle East, and Hong Kong in recent decades. In particular, the 'umbrella movement' in Hong Kong deeply worried the PRC authorities and helped lead directly to the passage of the Overseas NGO Law in 2016.

These restrictions have proceeded in two general phases. For overseas nonprofit organisations, in the first phase, the Ministry of Public Security was charged by Chinese political authorities (and in particular the new National Security Commission set up as Xi Jinping came to power in 2012) with developing centralised control and knowledge over the activities of overseas

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

nonprofit organisations in China. The Overseas NGO Law was the primary method of reaching that centralised control and knowledge. In a short span of four years, the Ministry has become the primary repository of knowledge and control of the activities of overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits in China, from a weak base of knowledge and an uncertain control framework as recently as 2015 (Feng 2017; Jia 2017; Shieh 2018; Sidel 2018, 2020; Batke 2020).

In a second phase, which arguably began 2019 after widespread control and knowledge of the activities of overseas nonprofits in China was attained in phase one, the Chinese authorities have begun re-molding the role of foreign NGOs and foundations in China – by seeking to manage more intrusively, in some cases, the activities that those groups can undertake; by suggesting or mandating leadership of offices and projects in China, and in other ways.

Throughout all of this, the authorities have sought to gain full knowledge and control of the activities of overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits in China; eliminate advocacy by overseas NGOs and foundations; to eliminate overseas funding of domestic advocacy organisations; to remove overseas nonprofits as interest groups in Chinese policy processes (Sidel 2020; Batke 2020).

In all of these goals the Ministry of Public Security has been highly successful in the tasks set for it by the National Security Commission and in the Overseas NGO Law. And it is important to note that this effective extension of control over overseas NGOs, foundations, trade associations and other nonprofits includes nonprofit organisations based in Hong Kong, Taiwan and Macao – the Chinese legislation specifies 'overseas' (*jingwai*) and that includes those areas, not just 'foreign.'

The overseas nonprofit organisations that remain in China, either with offices or with projects, have learned over the past several years that their activities and operations will be at least somewhat more constrained than in the past. This is, in effect, the bargain they must make for remaining in China in a legalised fashion.

Program planning must now be done well in advance, since a plan needs to be submitted for the following year and then reported on at the end of the year, reducing the flexibility in response that many NGOs and foundations treasure. Advocacy and policy activities are now rarely possible. Funding and support for domestic rights organisations and groups is virtually

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

impossible. Most program and other activities require the agreement and approval of the Chinese substantive partner and, in most cases, a local public security authority (Feng 2017; Jia 2017; Shieh 2018; Sidel 2018, 2020; Batke 2020).

This framework is comprehensive, and that has important implications for its enforcement. With the use of Chinese partner agencies and organisations to serve as partners for overseas NGOs, foundations and other groups, the Ministry of Public Security manages and operates this system in a vertically integrated fashion from Beijing down to the county level (where there are overseas NGOs or other groups operating) throughout the country.

Public Security's work on monitoring and controlling the work of overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofit groups in China has proceeded in two general stages. In the first stage, and at the overall political direction of the National Security Commission and the Communist Party, Public Security has gained comprehensive control of the overseas nonprofit sector in China and built the infrastructure for continuing knowledge, information, control and enforcement.

Since roughly the beginning of 2019, having gained that comprehensive control in the first two years of implementation of the Overseas NGO Law, the Ministry has begun the process of molding the work of foreign groups in China. This goes beyond the initial permission and control processes, seeking to influence programmatic activity by urging NGOs to support political priorities such as China's Belt and Road Initiative abroad. In some cases, the Ministry has sought to encourage overseas nonprofit organisations to nationalise the leadership of their operations in China, particularly as current directors and representatives finish their terms.

This hardened, securitised situation has left overseas nonprofit organisations with few choices. If they wish to remain working in China, they must adapt to the new strictures imposed by Chinese policy and the Overseas NGO Law; survivors with less flexibility. This has included, in some cases, ending work in disfavored areas such as governance, legal rights, and domestic violence. A few have moved their China operations out of the PRC to Hong Kong or even Taiwan, but in Chinese eyes this does not exempt them from having to follow the Overseas NGO Law and its requirements of either permission to operate projects (temporary activities) or an office registration in China.

Some organisations, faced with lessening flexibility, have sharply curtailed or ended their involvement in Chinese programs. Some organisations abroad, both funders and those

operating programs, have sought to work in China in the shadows, sending funds in quietly from abroad, working quietly through Chinese partners, and in other ways. Some organisations that arguably operate as social enterprises or even as businesses have sought to obtain exceptional status, with only modest success.^{vi}

Perhaps the key way for overseas nonprofits and foundations to continue working on policy and advocacy issues in China has been through Chinese universities. The Overseas NGO Law exempts overseas universities and scientific and technological institutions and their Chinese counterparts from the Overseas NGO Law when they engage in 'academic exchange and cooperation' under Article 53 of the Law, an important term that is undefined in the Law or in any subsequent regulatory document^{vii}. Under this 'carve out', some overseas groups have been able to work through foreign academic institutions, and in a very small number of cases directly through Chinese academic institutions, to carry out some work without registering under the Overseas NGO Law.

There remain a number of issues for the Ministry of Public Security and other Chinese policymakers to work out in the implementation of this new system for governing the work of overseas nonprofits in China. The scope of 'temporary (project) activities' remains somewhat unclear, even four years after the enactment of the Overseas NGO Law. How long and how widely the university and academic 'carve out' from the prohibitions of the Law will remain available remains unclear, as Chinese universities begin the process of enacting their own regulations governing work with overseas NGOs and foundations, with national encouragement. The scope of acceptable overseas corporate philanthropy remains somewhat unclear, as does the definitions and entitlements to overseas social enterprises. Policy toward the few foreign think tanks operating in China remains murky.

In the next several years, a number of important issues confront overseas nonprofits working in China. Perhaps the most important is whether some overseas groups and foundations will continue operating in China as their programming options their narrow – even as they have become more legalised in China than they may have been before. For now, the major foundations and most of the major international nonprofit organisations remain in China, but they will need to think about their longer term prospects, particularly if they want to work on advocacy or even capacity building activities.

Enforcement of the new Chinese framework of overseas nonprofit organisations

The key elements of the new Chinese securitised and centralised system for controlling and monitoring the work of overseas nonprofit organisations is generally outlined above. In the remainder of this short article, I focus on how this new framework is being enforced by the Chinese authorities.

I focus on this because of a few well-known cases of enforcement and punishment, but also for a perhaps more paradoxical reason – that there have actually been relatively few cases of actual, formal enforcement of the securitised and more restrictive provisions of the new Law on the work of overseas nonprofits in China.

In a system that very clear securitises and restricts the work of overseas NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits in China, why has there been so relatively little formal, actual enforcement of the Law?

It is not because the Law does not contain available sanctions. The Overseas NGO Law permits the government to issue administrative and criminal punishments against offending overseas nonprofit organisations and their Chinese counterparts, and, as indicated above, vests all power and responsibility under the Law in the Chinese Ministry of Public Security, which uses its enforcement powers in other contexts without much hindrance.

It is the structure of the Law and the framework that the Ministry of Public Security and others in the Chinese polity set up to manage overseas nonprofits that results in relatively little actual, formal administrative or criminal enforcement under the Law.

In a permission- and partner-based regulatory structure, where each overseas nonprofit must find and sign an agreement with a Chinese partner that is responsible for its activities, and obtain permission from the Ministry of Public Security to carry out its activities in China, most non-obedient nonprofits are weeded out in the careful and multi-step administrative process that is required to obtain permission either to set up an office in China or to carry out project activities. And the required Chinese partner for each overseas organisation and each activity have primary responsibility for vetting those activities and for making sure that the overseas organisation does not overstep its bounds.

So, in most cases, 'enforcement' is an *a priori* matter of vetting and permission. Only those activities which are vetted and permitted are allowed, and most nonprofit organisations do not go beyond those. Where NGOs or foundations seek to carry out activities beyond those approved in advance through formally filed annual plans, the Chinese organisational partners and sometimes the public security authorities must approve those new activities as well. Most enforcement activities are not needed because the licensing and permission process weeds out virtually all activities that that Chinese state would prefer not to occur.

That accounts for most 'enforcement' of the strictures on overseas nonprofits in China. Yet over almost four years since the Overseas NGO Law came into effect in January 2017, there have been a handful of formal enforcement actions against overseas nonprofit organisations and their Chinese counterparts. Here I briefly review several of these enforcement actions and try to discuss how they 'slipped through the cracks' and why the Chinese authorities may have taken enforcement action against them.

Detention of Taiwanese NGO activist and labor activists from China Labor Watch (May/June 2017)

In May and June 2017, a Taiwanese NGO activist named Lee Ming-che was detained in China, supposedly in connection with his ties to Chinese NGOs. Official Chinese news services said that Lee had 'colluded with mainlanders ... established illegal organisations, and plotted and carried out activities to subvert state power' (AFP 2017; Wong 2017).

In November 2017, Lee was sentenced to five years in prison in China for political activities on the mainland and assisting families of Chinese dissidents (Human Rights Watch 2019; Batke 2019). In May and June 2017, several activists who worked with China Labor Watch, which is based in Hong Kong and New York, were detained in China in connection with their investigations into labor violations at Chinese factories (Batke 2017a, 2017b).

These may have been the first detentions of persons associated with overseas NGOs and NGO activity since the Overseas NGO Law came into effect in January 2017. But the Overseas NGO Law was not directly invoked when the detentions of these personnel were announced, and the criminal action taken against the Taiwanese activist Lee Ming-che proceeded under Chinese criminal law, not under the Overseas NGO Law.

At various points analysts have asked whether the Overseas NGO Law may be formally cited in charges against Hong Kong or other labor activists detained in China (ChinaFile 2018a), but at the time of this writing this does not appear to have taken place. Labor activists detained in China appear to be being charged under Chinese criminal and labor law.

Detention of Canadian Michael Kovrig from the NGO International Crisis Group (December 2018)

In December 2018, China detained a senior staff member in the international NGO the International Crisis Group (ICG) in Beijing, and initially seemed to indicate in an announcement by the Chinese Foreign Ministry in Beijing that he had been detained under the Overseas NGO Law for unlawful activity by an overseas nongovernmental organisation (Batke 2018).

But the mention of the Overseas NGO Law was quickly dropped. Kovrig remains in harsh detention in Beijing as of the time of this writing (December 2020), and it quickly became clear why he had been detained – as retaliation, and hostage taking for the detention in Vancouver of a senior official of the Chinese information technology firm Huawei on charges pending and an extradition request from the United States.

The International Crisis Group had operated openly in China and with Chinese institutions for a number of years, and had been engaged in trying to become legalised in China through an office registration or filing of temporary activities under the Overseas NGO Law. Those attempts had not been completed when Kovrig was taken. Other than the initial mention by the Chinese Foreign Ministry shortly after Kovrig was taken, the Chinese authorities seem not to have (or not at all frequently) raised the Overseas NGO Law in connection with Kovrig's detention.

Administrative detention under the Overseas NGO Law: Rainbow China (Hong Kong) (January 2019)

In January 2019, one of the leaders of a Hong Kong LGBT advocacy and HIV/AIDS activist organisation named Rainbow China was detained in Shenzhen, just over the border from Hong

Kong in Guangdong Province, subjected to administrative detention under the provisions of the Overseas NGO Law, and then deported from China back to Hong Kong.

The exact circumstances and reasons for Mr. Cheung Kam Hung's administrative detention and deportation under the Overseas NGO Law are not clear, though Rainbow China was reportedly involved in advocacy work on LGBT and HIV/AIDs issues in China. One of the curious elements of this case was that the deportation order issued against Mr. Cheung was issued from the public security authorities in Wuhan, a major city far from Shenzhen, and a metropolis not known as a hub of activity for Rainbow China (ChinaFile 2019; HK01.com 2019).

Penalties to the US NGO Asia Catalyst for Violations of the Overseas NGO Law (November 2019)

In November 2019, in a surprising move, the Chinese Foreign Ministry announced administrative sanctions against the American NGO Asia Catalyst for unlawful activities in China (Parkin 2019)^{ix}.

This is another curious case. Asia Catalyst had filed to undertake 'temporary activities' in China 'to provide support to Guangzhou community organisations that work with people living with HIV/AIDs' and had been listed on the 'temporary activities' (project activities) official database compiled and issued by the Chinese Ministry of Public Security. That project, 'Capacity-Building Training for Guangzhou-Area AIDs Organisations,' had been organised with the Yuexiu District Zhitong Public Welfare Service Center in Guangzhou.

But this approved project activity was removed from the Ministry of Public Security official database in June 2018, without explanation. Asia Catalyst reported that 'the activity in question did not take place, or that if the [Service Center in Guangzhou] did carry out the activity, it did so with another partner and Asia Catalyst was not involved' (ChinaFile 2018b).

Then, in November 2019, two Asia Catalyst consultants in Beijing were brought in for questioning in connection with these activities, and Asia Catalyst was issued with a violation letter. After Asia Catalyst indicated that these activities had not taken place and the consultants agreed not to carry out unapproved activities, the matter appears to have ended – though the violation letter appears to be still in place.

The other 'temporary activity' (project activity) that appears to have been approved by public security authorities and then dropped from the temporary activities database was an 'anti-domestic violence law conference' co-convened by the American Bar Association and the China Legal Exchange Center in Beijing. By 2018 the ABA had moved their previous Beijing office to Hong Kong. The conference was indeed held in Beijing in April 2018, but the temporary (project) activity listing disappeared from the official Ministry of Public Security website in July of that year. No explanation was given (ChinaFile 2018b).

Enforcement Through Regulatory Means and Very Episodic Coercive Enforcement

Among the more than 500 overseas nonprofit offices registered in China and the more than 3,000 project activities registered with an approved partner by Chinese authorities since the Overseas NGO Law came into effect in January 2017, there have been relatively few cases of coercive enforcement under the Law, and several of those enforcement cases are murky.

In that sense, from the perspective of the Chinese authorities, the regulatory framework established under the Overseas NGO Law has been a success; the overseas groups that China most wants not to be active in the country are, unless they go underground, largely weeded out in the application and approval process (Sidel 2020).

What remains are a few cases of post-regulatory coercive enforcement, largely based on individual facts, and intended to send a message to specific organisations and a broader array of advocacy groups in China and abroad. When the application and approval process is so highly controlled and extensively vetted, most advocacy and other 'troublemaking' NGOs are weeded out in the process, and little coercive enforcement is needed. That appears to be the key lesson from enforcement of the China Overseas NGO Law in its first years.

NOTES

Doyle-Bascom Professor of Law and Public Affairs, University of Wisconsin-Madison; Consultant (Asia), International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (ICNL) (sidel@wisc.edu). Originally presented at the University of Western Australia, Institute of Advanced Studies Workshop on Philanthropy and Charity Regulation, March 2020. I am grateful to Professor Ian Murray of the UWA Faculty of Law for the invitation to speak at the workshop and to the participants in that workshop and other readers for very helpful comments. Funding for this work has been provided by the University of Wisconsin Law School and other support has been provided by the University of Western Australia Faculty of Law, International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (ICNL), and others.

PJCHR Religious Discrimination Bill 2021 and related bills Submission 20 - Additional Information

- Significant restrictions on foreign NGOs and foundations are not only the product of Chinese political authorities and regulators. Around Asia and far beyond states and regulators have long restricted the activities of foreign NGOs, foundations and other nonprofits in various ways from restrictions on establishment to limitations on activities, financing controls, and a myriad of other controls. For further discussion of these and other limitations on civil society organisations in Asia, see Sidel and Moore, *The Law Affecting Civil Society in Asia: Developments and Challenges for Nonprofit and Civil Society Organisations* (ICNL, 2020), at https://www.icnl.org/post/report/the-law-affecting-civil-society-in-asia.
- iii For the text of the Overseas NGO Law, see https://www.chinafile.com/ngo/laws-regulations/law-of-peoples-republic-of-china-administration-of-activities-of-overseas.
- In thinking about these issues over a number of years, I am grateful for the friendship and fine work of Jessica Batke, Jia Xijin, Shawn Shieh, Katherine Wilhelm, and others. Their and others work are cited below and in my other writing on this theme.
- For this and much more data on the Overseas NGO Law, see the ChinaFile NGO Project, www.chinafile.com/ngo. The data here is from https://www.chinafile.com/ngo/analysis/visually-understanding-data-foreign-ngo-representative-offices-and-temporary-activities.
- This information about overseas NGO responses to hardened Chinese policy comes from extensive discussions with overseas NGOs working in China since 2017.
- Article 53 of the Overseas NGO Law is at https://www.chinafile.com/ngo/laws-regulations/law-of-peoples-republic-of-china-administration-of-activities-of-overseas.
- This information comes from news articles and author interviews.
- Mark Sidel is currently a member of the board of directors of Asia Catalyst in the United States but has used only public information in this discussion

REFERENCES

- AFP (Agence France Presse) (2017). China arrests visiting Taiwan activist for 'subversion' following confession. *Hong Kong Free Press*, May 27, 2017. Available at: www.hongkongfp.com.
- Batke, J. (2017a) Possible Foreign NGO Law-Related Detentions: What we know, and what we don't. *ChinaFile*, June 6, 2017. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Batke, J. (2017b) Lee Ming-che May Not Have Been Charged under Foreign NGO Law: But his case could still have a chilling effect. *ChinaFile*, November 29, 2017. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Batke, J. (2018) Foreign NGO Employee Detained in Beijing. *ChinaFile*, December 12, 2018. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Batke, J. (2020) 'The New Normal' for Foreign NGOs in 2020. *ChinaFile*, January 3, 2020. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- ChinaFile (2018a) Will Foreign NGO Law Be Invoked in Ongoing Labor Case? *ChinaFile*, August 30, 2018. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- ChinaFile (2018b) Two Temporary Activities Removed from Ministry of Public Security Database. *ChinaFile*, December 28, 2018. Available at: www.chinafile.com.

- ChinaFile (2019) First Case of an Administrative Detention Linked to the Foreign NGO Law? *ChinaFile*, January 22, 2019. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Feng Chongyi (2017) The NGO law in China and its Impact on Overseas Funded NGOs. *Cosmopolitan Civil Societies: An Interdisciplinary Journal*, 9(3): 95.
- HK01.com (2019) Report on the Rainbow China case. *HK01.com*, January 19, 2019. Available at: www.hk01.com.
- Human Rights Watch (2019) After Two Years in Detention, Taiwan Activist Lee Ming-Che Faces Ill-treatment and Declining Health in China. *Hong Kong Free Press*, March 19, 2019. Available at: www.hongkongfp.com.
- Jia, X. (2017) China's Implementation of the Overseas NGO Management Law. *China Development Brief*, March 6, 2017. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Parkin, S. (2019) First U.S. NGO accused of breaking the Overseas NGO Law. *SupChina*, November 2019. Available at: www.supchina.com.
- Shieh, S. (2018) Remaking China's Civil Society in the Xi Jinping Era. *ChinaFile*, August 2, 2018. Available at: www.chinafile.com.
- Sidel, M. (2018) Managing the Foreign: Regulating foreign nonprofit organizations in China in the Xi Jinping era. *Voluntas: International Journal of Voluntary and Nonprofit Organizations*, 30(1). https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s11266-018-9988-8.
- Sidel, M.& Moore, D. (2020) The Law Affecting Civil Society in Asia: Developments and challenges for nonprofit and civil society organizations. *International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (ICNL)*.
- Sidel, M. (2020) Debating the Extent of Party/State Control over Overseas Nonprofit Organizations: Charity law debates in China. In J. Picton and J. Sigafoos (eds.), *Debates in Charity Law*. Oxford: Hart (Bloomsbury).
- Wong, G. (2017) China Sentences Taiwan Activist to 5 years for Subversion. *Associated Press*, November 28, 2017. Available at: www.apnews.com.

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

MARK SIDEL is the Doyle-Bascom Professor of Law and Public Affairs at the University of Wisconsin-Madison; Consultant (Asia), International Center for Not-for-Profit Law (ICNL). Also, he is currently a member of the board of directors of Asia Catalyst in the United States but has used only public information in this discussion. Email: sidel@wisc.edu